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With continuous economic growth, China is set to be the
first investment choice of foreign capitals. After years
of accumulation, the wealth of companies and indiv iduals
in the Mainland hd\(‘ increased Slglllfl( antly and kept
pushing up their demands for foreign investment products
and financial services. This has brought about mainy
oppor tunities for Hong Kong which connects Laplt‘ﬂs al
home and abroad, and for those asset managers who have
international management platforms and can accurately
capture the market opportunities in the Mainland.
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How Solid We are

Being a listed financial group with many
years of operations in Hong Kong, China
Everbright Limited has laid a solid
foundation for the expansion of its macro
Asset Management Business.
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% The quantity and types of the investment funds under our management has
grown significantly, which would provide more diversified products for overseas
customers to seek investment in China.

BEEREESHERBEREEMN AN EPRETRRERELZ TIEMERM

—> Our cooperation with Everbright Securities to establish an even larger scale
cross-border fee-based business is progressing smoothly, which would provide
better conditions for Mainland customers to seek investment overseas.
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—> The successful listing of Everbright Bank in the Mainland has further enhanced
our corporale value.

RRBITIEMEAM LT - E— PRI EEE

— We successfully captured market opportunities for placement, which has
generated positive condition for our assets and laid a solid foundation for our
business ¢ \|)(msi()n
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/F 22% (,]r(,)\"wh 4\ 3 4% Shzujeh()lder’s /F 860 AUM by

Profit Equity c (,)mnutted Capital
attributable to X ETESRES
shareholders™ IR
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/‘\90% r.\.U,\I by 1 1 Investment 23 Inve;stment

fair value Funds Projects on hand
ETEEER HEES® ETEEREIEE
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*

excluded the one-off profit brought by the listing of Everbright Securities in 2009.
* HIBR2009F Y KA E MR 2RE) — R &R o
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Making Wealth Simple
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We realize our service philosophy
of Making Wealth Simple with
sound corporate governance and
professionalism, tailored financial
solutions, helping our clients create

wealth and value with ease.
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China Everbright Group Bl ¥ K £ E
® China’s first licensed financial holding group
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Total assets of more than RMB 1.6 trillion as of the end of 2010
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China Everbright Bank
R B RERTT

Everbright Securities
SR A2
Associated Venture B & A 7] 2E/ERFRA] (BERAM)

China Everbright Limited (“Everbright”, stock code: 165), with
China Everbright Group as its parent company, is a diversified
financial conglomerate operating in both Hong Kong and
Mainland China.

Established in 1997, Everbright pursues a “3+2 Macro
Asset Management” strategy with dedication, focusing on
direct investment, asset management and asset investment,
whilst developing fee-based business, including investment
banking (corporate financing) and brokerage services (wealth
management). Over the years Everbright has developed solid
market bases in various sectors and provided diversified
services to its clients. The company has set up securities
brokerage and wealth management branches in North Point,
Mongkok and Hung Hom in Hong Kong, and subsidiaries
in many provinces and cities of China. Everbright is the
second largest shareholder of the Mainland-based Everbright
Securities Co., Ltd. and the third largest shareholder of
Everbright Bank.

By leveraging the substantial financial strength of the company
itself, and the position and influence of its parent company
and affiliated companies in the financial industry in China,
Everbright has weaved huge social and business networks
in Hong Kong and the Mainland. Following the company's
service philosophy, Everbright endeavours to provide
convenient, professional and practical solutions in the spirit
of being “customer-friendly”, “agile” and “pragmatic”, to help
clients create wealth and value with ease.

& Wealth Management
=18

Wholly/majority owned Hong Kong/PRC operations

B AR R IR 2 A ([ AR
B RIBHREE : 165) B—RES
AR E RS TS B
% GARATENAEE

FRIER 1997 FEX L - RAER
B[3+2KBEEIE |BRS - 515
BREEKRE BEEBEBNEXERE
25 WK REERT(DER
BVNEREBHEER)EWEN
¥BERBROERE - KBZFH
BRE O RAERESERDELT
BENMSEER  AEFREZT
LR » R ERBILA  HA
MAWREESFCLNTEEED
T WEABZEETRL T FA
A] o JRIERR R A KA I (D
BIRAFE ZRBRMAKRITH
FEZRBRE °

BRARNEEES  ARERAFE
FOHE 8 X B7E B 5 b 3 2 3 (2 70
TR RAREREKINEREM
DECHA WS- PNPNCRIE S T
B& o RBEGAZIKEE] - TRIFT I
[BEINBEE  BHRHEE &
¥ BRANBRNE  HHYHEPK
REEMEREE -



004 @ China Everbright Limited Btk B A BRA 7

I') I -f)l
x)-I ...._.J Vacro Assel
Management Strategy

i

W=
A — 0 o -

Everbright persistently pursues the
C «

focusing on Direct Investment, Asset Management and Asset Investment, whilst developing fee-
based business, including Investment Banking (Corporate Financing) and Brokerage Services
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(Wealth Management).
\ C
A

i "
il

TR PEBSE

ST BT VA AN S Y
RS 00T A R85 3 (o
RS LSS R SR A ) -

=)



ASSET MANAGEMENT

PY B -
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We provide portfolio management
services on the secondary market for
institutional and individual clients, such as

the “China Everbright Dragon Fund” and
the “Everbright Equity Advantage Fund”.

A B AERES | R P/ EEE
T | EARBEEREAATFPEE _AME
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DIRECT INVESTMENT
Sz

BEERE

Through the private equity funds and
venture capital funds we managed,

we provide investors with opportunities
to benefit from the fast growing
economy of China by investing directly
in unlisted companies which have their

principal businesses and/or operations in
Mainland China.
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ASSET INVESTMENT
EERE

We explore mid-to long-term asset
investment opportunities in the Mainland,
develop asset investment funds in the
Mainland targeting real estate, infrastructure,
new energy and resources businesses.

B PRPNEXRERS  BRAM
EXREES  RENFHE - EREER
EHRFTREIRT TSR

INVESTMENT BANKING

AP /=

RERIT

We act as sponsors, lead managers or

co-lead managers for IPOs, and provide financial
advisory services such as share placements, M&A,
privatization and project financing.

EELTREBA - TAEREEITAHERE
MAE - SIMNMEHEMITERITRS -
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B B E S RAM TAE -

BROKERAGE &
WEALTH MANAGEMENT

RE R EEERER

Provides securities, forex, futures and bullion trading
services, as well as share financing, IPO subscriptions
and placements services. Wealth Management
provides a one-stop financial service platform.

REHES  INE - HERES R ZRE - LHIE
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Jan-Mar 18 —-38

0 Further extended strategic partnership with
Jiangyin city through a new energy fund at RMB
3 billion
ELTRR T — SIS M E1E - RUVEBTAR
e REREES

@ Added as the constituent of the Hang Seng Hong
Kong 35 Index
WA AR IB A T353R (D

@ The CSR Program, ‘Everbright Project’,
commenced with the full support of Everbright
Charitable Fund
RAREREEES 2 NXFNEELSRERAIS
BaTElJIERRED

0 Sponsored the Hong Kong Main Board Listing of

Flyke International Holdings Limited
FRERRBEEERBRAREEEER LD

Apr-Jun 48 -6HA

Q Opened the Mongkok Branch to provide one-
stop “Brokerage and Wealth Management”
services
H AN TRERE P RE—
BRI RV EERE R

Everbright China Real Estate Fund introduced
Ashmore Investment (UK) as new strategic
partner

B E B & 5| AR E R E E Ashmore 725
IREE

0 Named “Outstanding Investment Corporation” in
the 5th “CAPITAL China Outstanding Enterprise

Awards”
LE[FERAEEARPHALERTE 2
IR E R

Jul-Sept 78 -9A8
0 Sponsored the Hong Kong Main Board Listing of
Tian Shan Development (Holding) Limited

RERUER(ZR)ERABDETEIR LT



Oct-Dec 108 -12A1

Placed new shares which generated proceeds of
approximately HK$2.28 billion
BBELEMR - KINEEX22.8(8/87T

In negotiation with Everbright Securities on
the sale and purchase of 51% share capital of
Everbright Securities (International) Limited

B KREA LB B RAES (BB ) B RR A R]51% 8%
DEEETER

@ Sponsored the GEM listing of Credit China
Holdings Limited in Hong Kong
REPEEEERBRARESBEIZER T

@ iSoftStone, an Everbright-invested Company,
listed on NYSE
FE NS EIE B $eBE) R L

. 1t
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Appointed joint sponsor for the Hong Kong
Main Board Listing of China Datang Corporation
Renewable Power
BERERRNEREIFRRG R AREEEER
i EEREA

Latest private equity fund CSOF Ill completed
fund raising at US$400 million
ETEESIFESRIEEESIIKINEE
MBET

@ china Everbright Securities (HK) Limited, a

subsidiary of Everbright, named “Brokerage Firm
with the Best Potential in 2010”

BT HRES(BB)ERATIHEE 220105 &E
BRBEESD
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2010 2009 Changes
—E-%F = 28
(HKS$ million) (BBEEL)
Operating income A 732 585 25%
Profit from operations (HK business) RELLTE(BFBER)
hagll 1,469 319 361%
Share of profits less losses of associates — FE{HEE =1\ &) AR E 12 833 1,349 (38%)
Deemed disposal of interest in associate  JEEE HERKE A 7]
P i - 3,176 (100%)
Profit attributable to shareholders R AT 1,927 4,758 (59%)
Profit attributable to shareholders R R (B
(excluded deemed disposal of interest) FEEHEER) 1,927 1,582 22%
(HK$) (&)
Earnings per share FREF HK$1.189 HK$2.989 (60%)
Earnings per share (excluded deemed BRERM (8
disposal of interest) FEE L ERER) HK$1.189 HK$0.994 20%
Dividend per share =) HK$0.43 HK$0.375 15%
Key financial ratios TEHKLLE 2010 2009 Changes
—2-BF ZBRNE %5
Debt/equity afE/HER% 12.5% 11.2% 1.3%
Return on equity B ERE 8.3% 27.8% (19.5%)
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Total Equity Attributable To Sharcholders
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(FEER) (EEBT)
30,000 28,140 6,000
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0 0
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BEE FRREARERN]
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15,000 15
10,000 1.0
5,000 05
0 0

06

07

08

09

2010

06 07 08 09

2010




010 @ China Everbright Limited ke 4 2

Accelerate the construction of a large-scale
cross-border Asset Management platform;
mvest with our customers in

a Variety.of. high growth enterprises

in China, g1VINg them access to
China’s economic growth

Access
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Chairman’s Statement
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With the growing momentum
of'its parent company, China

Everbright Group in recent

years, and by makmg full use

of Hong Kong’s position as an
iternational centre with easy
connection to capital markets

at home and abroad,

Annual Report 2010

S

the Group is able to accelerate

the construction of a large-
scale, cross-border Asset
Management Platform.

fE BB Rl B R B BT AR AR Y R SR RE S
FE A3 0] P s <l o 19 LS A

TN NN EATIT
RGP - IR B B AT

The global economic and financial environment was
exceptionally complex in 2010. European countries suffered
one sovereign debt crisis after another, creating turmoil in the
international financial market. The QE2 policy of the United
States did not revitalise the American but worsened the excess
liquidity environment globally and inflation in such economies
as Hong Kong and the Mainland. Generally, under contrasting
heating up and cooling economies in Eastern and Western
worlds, the W-shaped states will linger on for a relatively long
period.

ZE-TF  EREBESRRETOEM
BN 2 BIFE A E 3R R ETS e - dEA B
TRMSEE  EBEEL D RE(LERBER
(QE2) » ERERRLEE - BB T 23K
MENMEBFIAAE - P A AL SRR
IR o BEERE - HRAFLELBTHNE
T - BERESBEEEIW IR B AR A&
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Chairman’s Statemenl = /FRE

The Group has

enhanced 1ts advantages

and strengths m the
expansion of its
private equity funds

and other areas. A EAzE
Y NG R e USRI
08 B

China’s economy maintained rapid growth during the year.
However, China faced high pressure from potential inflation
due to the excess liquidity environment globally and the impact
of the RMB18 trillion in loans offered for economic growth in
the previous two years. As a result, China’s monetary stance
shifted from “moderately loose” to “prudent”, slowing the
growth rate in loans. Tightened regulations on the financial
industry globally and the incoming Basel Ill new regulations will
expose China’s banking sector to more stringent requirements
in terms of its capital, adding to its pressure in raising funds.
In addition, as China deepens its industrial restructuring and
eliminates industries with “high consumption of energy, high
pollution and resources-related” features, financial institutions
will suffer from increasing credit risks. All these impacted Hong
Kong’s capital market last year.

FR - PRKEEERSRBERODLE
BX2HRBIEBTF - BEMFRITELE
BEEBIBEETARKEENTE
bRE BAREMRTARE ) - ERBERA[E
ERRIZFERTIRRZ] - EERIuLR
W& - Bt Y mEEENMEaU RE
ZEMIFRENRNFHL - EHBERTER
mERMNEEEARER - HITEARNEIE
e mEsE+BEXGERELNESRE -
(ME— & ITENEEN  SRRBEE
MERER O TN - DS BRRYE
FRBERTIGHELT —ENTE -
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As such, the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set their foothold in Hong Kong. Under the sound growth
momentum of its parent company, China Everbright Group, the
Group continued to push forward its strategic transformation,
accelerate the construction of a large-scale, cross-border
asset management platform and keep enhancing its strengths
and brand advantages in its private equity by making full use
of Hong Kong'’s position as an international financial centre
and its easy access to connect the capital markets at home
and abroad. Under the “3+2 Macro Asset Management”
strategy, our efforts throughout the year have rewarded us
with sound progress in all business operations. The investment
funds under the Group and their investments maintained
good momentum. The number of private funds, venture
funds, sector funds and hedge funds under management
increased to 11, with their total fair value exceeding HK$13.0
billion. The investment projects reported significant increases
in value while the shareholders’ equity increased sharply for
three consecutive years, reaching a historical high of HK$28.1
billion. The maturing fund investment team and the sufficient
investment reserves have made the way for the Group’s
stable growth in future. The Group and Everbright Securities
Co., Ltd. (“Everbright Securities”) have officially launched their
work on integrating fee-based businesses in Hong Kong,
comprising Hong Kong investment banking, brokerage and
wealth management. With the Group’s years of operation in
Hong Kong and good risk control and business integration
capabilities, combined with Everbright Securities’ customer
and network resources in the Mainland, the Group expects
to gradually build a large-scale, cross-border, fee-based
platform with sharper market competitiveness. In addition,
the Group grasped the market opportunities during the year
for a placement and raised approximately HK$2.28 billion.
The sound financial conditions have greatly enhanced the
Group’s protection against risks and laid a solid foundation for
sustained rapid expansion in the future.

Annual Report 2010 —%—%44 3 013
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Chairman’s Statement /@

During the year, the business of Everbright Securities, in
which the Group holds a 33.33% stake, maintained stable
growth. Despite the increasingly fierce market competition,
the market share of traditional businesses such as brokerage
and investment banking steadily grew and secured its leading
position among innovative financial businesses. Everbright
Securities became the first batch of securities traders allowed
to participate in margin financing, stock borrowing and index-
based financial futures businesses in the Mainland. Its major
business performance indicators stayed in the top 10 within
the industry. China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd. (“Everbright
Bank?”), in which the Group holds a 4.51% stake, reported an
asset size in excess of RMB1,500 billion at the end of 2010,
with growing profitability and ever-improving asset quality.
Everbright Bank successfully listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange on 18 August 2010, which has greatly enhanced its
capital strength and brand influence.

FEPy o NEBEHRE3.33%H) A GEHE
REBREE  AMERF BN E
T #5840 - BITEBRERTISHEEYE
FH o WA B EH 5 EIRIT IS A e by
XA S —Ht 2 A BV E Bl A I & Rh e B
BEEBNSE  FELEIEIZEENT R
A% o REEIFREA.51 %85 Bl KERTT
BHBRAB(HAEITNI T —TFRK
BERIERB15,000BTARE - BF4E
N  BEGERHENRS YR T
—ZFENAT+NBEWE LEEFZSHTE
fe b BAENBEIGS  RETENE
ERF o

the overall positive trend

of China’s economy

remains unchanged in the

long run
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In 2010, the Group achieved a profit attributable to
shareholders of HK$1.93 billion, an increase of 22% over the
same period last year after deducting the one-off book profit of
HK$3.18 billion brought by the listing of Everbright Securities in
2009. The shareholders’ equity amounted to HK$28.1 billion,
a significant increase of HK$7.2 billion compared to the end of
2009. The Board of Directors recommended the payment of a
final dividend of HK$0.30 per share (2009: HK$0.20). Together
with the interim dividend of HK$0.13 per share, the annual
dividend in 2010 was HK$0.43 per share (2009: HK$0.375).

e P RIEES  AEE-_T—ZFEE
B R ELAFEE19.318 T » B —ZTF
NEFERK KIS EHAERN— R MEREE A
FE#E31.88 L% b EFRHE EF22%
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EEREE0.30T(Z 2T NE © 51020
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We are convinced that in 2011, despite considerable
uncertainties of international economic and financial situations
and such challenge as economic restructuring in China, the
Chinese economy will continue to grow rapidly. In particular,
after more than two decades of rapid economic growth,
the wealth accumulated in China will be seeking more
investment channels to achieve reasonable returns. The rise
and development of some emerging strategic industries also
creates opportunities for foreign capital to share the benefits of
China’s economic growth by investing in Mainland enterprises.
The rapidly growing “3+2 Macro Asset Management” platform
established by us will directly benefit. China remains one of
the fastest-growing capital markets in the world. Despite its
volatility and immaturity as an emerging market, the overall
trend of the economy is favourable. As the proportion of direct
financing gradually increases, the Chinese capital market has
extremely great potential for development, creating more
opportunities for accelerating the development of the Group’s
fee-based businesses and asset management business.

The Group grew steadily and attained good results in 2010. |
would like to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders,
clients, the general public, members of the Board, the
management and employees for their support and dedication.
| believe that with your consistent support, the Group will be
able to further reinforce and demonstrate its advantages,
creating more wealth and value for its shareholders and clients.

Tang Shuangning
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2011
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Adhere to the “ ‘%—|—2 Macro Asset
Management” strategy to create

n International asset
managemendt platform that
connects the demands of domestic

and overseas clients
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Chietl Executive Oflicer’s H“I Ort
(TR

In 2010, the “3+2 Macro Asset Management”
platform significantly increased our investment
returns and stabilised our profits.

20104 [ 3+ R EEEM PEa
(5 [ i e 2 R e A B B R T

Following the economic development of the previous years,
demands on diversified investment products saw a significant
increase as a result of continual wealth accumulation by
Chinese companies and individuals. With the gradual opening
up of the national financial policy and the steady progress
of the internationalization of the Renminbi, China’s domestic
capital will enter the international market at an accelerated
pace. In addition, the expansion of the capital markets in China
and Hong Kong created favourable conditions for numerous
small to medium-sized companies to realize business
development breakthroughs and enhance their corporate value
through public listings. This also generated vast investment
opportunities for overseas investors.

Facing this opportunity, the Group under the Board’s
leadership, and in adherence to our “3+2 Macro Asset
Management” strategy, are striving to transform our business
SO as to create an international asset management platform
that connects the demand of domestic and overseas clients,
assists overseas clients in identifying and participating in
China’s high potential of growth and provides services to
domestic clients who invest overseas. Our range of fund
products, funds under management and investment projects
have developed substantially compared to the prior year.

In 2010, we established various funds and investments
under the Group’s “3+2 Macro Asset Management”
platform, increasing the size of our funds and the value of
our investment projects. Despite the poor performance of
China’s securities market, our associated company Everbright
Securities managed to maintain encouraging results. An
official schedule has been proposed in regard to Everbright
Securities’ integration with the Group’s fee-based businesses
in Hong Kong. The successful listing of Everbright Bank not
only enhanced the Group’s value, but also created favourable
conditions for providing the Group with stable cash revenue.
Additionally, during the year the Group raised its capital
successfully through the timely issuance of new shares. Our
sound financial position further increased the Group’s capability
to guard against risks, laying the foundation for the Group’s
rapid expansion.
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RERERDHEE
Shareholders Equity Portfolio

32% Everbright

BFERD
Profit Contribution Portfolio

RS

Securities 37% Everbright
K KA Securities
KR
40% Hong Kong
Operations
St
EERG 3% Everbright 60% Hong Kong
Bank Operations
28% Everbright KRBT
Bank
SERERAT
Shareholders’ O Extremely low gearing
Equity of ratio of 3.9%
HK$28.1 billion () BEsaELECTER
BB TR ER BT RS )

Operating Results

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group’s profit
attributable to shareholders amounted to HK$1.93 billion, a
59% decrease compared to the same period last year, while
earnings per share recorded HK$1.19, a 60% decrease
compared to the same period last year. Excluding the one-off
gain of HK$3.18 billion due to the listing of Everbright Securities
in 2009, net profit grew by 22% over the same period last year
while earnings per share increased by 20% compared to the
same period last year.

During the period, profit of Everbright Securities attributable to
the Group was HK$833 million, a 38% decrease compared to
the same period last year, while dividend income contributed
by Everbright Bank was HK$84 million, a 44% decrease
compared to the same period last year. During the period,
benefiting from the significant appreciation of the positions held
by various investment funds under management, the listing
of Everbright Bank and the placing and fund-raising activities,
shareholders’ equity of the Group increased to HK$28.1 billion,
a leap of 34% compared to the same period last year, and
net assets per share also improved significantly to HK$16.3, a
24% growth compared to the same period last year. During the
period, the Group placed new shares at HK$18 per share on
5 October 2010, which generated proceeds of approximately
HK$2.28 billion. As of 31 December 2010, the Group’s
interest-bearing liabilities were only HK$1.1 billion, with the
gearing ratio maintaining at a substantially low level of 3.9%.
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BREREK

2010 was a fruitful year for Everbright, with the range of fund
products and mv estment pmlecls under the “3+2 Macro Asset
Management” strategy improving substantially compared to

the pr'ior year.

2010472 FRAM (1) 2 AL AT

[ 3+ K A A L ISR R R B AR - $ETH

IR L LA R AL SR

The market was highly volatile in 2010. Some European
countries experienced debt crises while Mainland China
started to tighten its monetary policy and further strengthened
regulations towards some sectors such as real estate.
However, due to the US Federal Reserve’s quantitative easing
policy and the continual growth of the Chinese economy,
Hong Kong’s economy started to recover with a vast inflow of
capital in the territory’s capital market. As the Group engages
in cross-border financial activities, an abundance of market
liquidity will create more business opportunities for us.

Against this backdrop, the Group’s “3+2 Macro Asset
Management” businesses developed rapidly. In terms of “3”,
by leveraging the Group’s extensive network in the Mainland
and the expertise of the professional management team,
our fund investment and management businesses such as
direct investment, asset investment and asset management
fostered various investment funds to invest in a number of
unlisted investments at reasonable costs, while the initiation
and financing of new investment funds also achieved great
progress. During 2010, the number of investment funds under
the Group’s management increased to 11. The total amount
financed by the funds was approximately HK$10.5 billion,
with a fair value of approximately HK$13.0 billion. The types
of funds included overseas private equity funds, domestic
venture capital funds, real estate and new energy industry
funds, hedge funds, and secondary market funds for small to
medium-sized businesses. The number of projects invested by
the funds increased to 23. The increase in fund products not
only offered clients more options to flexibly allocate their assets,
but also stabilized our profits effectively as this allowed the
Group to form a constructive cycle between investing in and
exiting the projects. In terms of “2”, fee-based operations such
as investment banking, brokerage and wealth management
grew steadily. Particularly, investment banking started to enter
the harvest stage following cultivation over the past few years.
The number of projects regarding initial listing sponsorship and
underwriting recorded a new high. Leveraging the Group’s
robust capital strength, brokerage and wealth management’s
commissions and revenue from client loans and financing
continued their steady growth.
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Profit before Tax Attributable to the _
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Hong Kong Operations (continued)

For 2010, the operating income of the Group’s operations
amounted to HK$732 million, representing an increase of 25%
compared with the same period last year. The profit before tax
of our Hong Kong operations was HK$1.47 billion, a significant
increase of 361%. Total outgoings increased by 85% to
HK$612 million, with staff costs increasing by HK$186 million
to HK$334 million over the same period last year, attributable
mainly to the increase in performance-based incentive bonuses
for the management and the staff as well as additional recruits.
Total cost-to-income ratio was 29%, which was 20% lower
compared with 49% for the same period last year.
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11 investment funds have been launched, raising more than HK$10.5 billion.

BEMIERERES  HESESHIEBBI105EET -
Year of Size of
Business Unit Funds launch Investment focus committed capital
EHEM B 2R BYFH  REEH BERE
Direct Investment SOF | 2004 industry and services industry ~ USD 50 million
ERRE FERR#EES TERRHE* 50008% T
GCSOF 2007 telecom, media, hi-tech and USD 100 million
RESRIEE E I consumer industry 1BET
B B SHBREEE
Parallel Investment Fund 2007 telecom, media, hi-tech and USD 100 million
HIREES consumer industry 1BET
BB SRARERE
CSOF il 2010 agriculture, consumer goods USD 400 million
REERIEe RS senvices, financial auxiliary MEET
industry
BE HBE  BREER
SREBTE
Beijing Zhongguncun Investment 2007 high-growth manufacturing, RMB 200 million
Fund hi-tech and sewvicing industry 2B AR
TRPENEEREES RIEREE BRI REITE
Everbright Guolian Fund 2009 high-growth industries, RMB 500 million
KAEHEGES e.g. hi-tech 5EAR
BRRES: SR
Jiangyin Asset Investment Fund 2009 hi-tech industry RMB 500 million
KAIREIZES BRHRER SEARE
Asset Investment Everbright Ashmore Real Estate 2009 China real estate USD 300 million
EXERA Fund HEEE LIRIEE
KARZAHEENERS
Macquarie Everbright Infrastructure ~ 1H2011 China infrastructure, (Target: USD 1.5 billion)
Fund e.g. toll roads, airports (BE15EET)
HARBREARSEES B R - WEDHK
W5%
Everbright Jiangyin New Energy 2010 new energy RMB 1 billion
(low carbon) Asset Investment Fund MR 10EARE
KRR ER(RIR)ELRERES
Asset Management Dragon Fund 2005 secondary market in USD 55 million
BEEE EEES Greater China 5,5008%7T
NG EE e
Equity Advantage Fund 2010 HK-listed SMEs HK$ 350 million
HOEES B EmA/ 3 5B
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“ ;” Fund Investment and Management Operations I" ;JE%&E&%@%@’%(%)
(continued)

The Direct Investment Division has set up a
mature operation model, which keeps providing

rich investment returns.

S B R R,

Feagp it

7N K4

Direct Investment

The Direct Investment Division reported HK$1.33 billion
in pre-tax profit for the year, a significant increase of
120 fold compared with the same period last year. The
number of direct investment projects increased by 10
with the total number of projects in investment stage
increasing to 22 during the year. As a pioneer of direct
investment in the Mainland among domestically funded
enterprises, the Group has set up four overseas private
equity funds and three Mainland venture capital funds
since the establishment of the first overseas private
equity fund, SeaBright China Special Opportunities (I)
Limited (“SOF 1”) in 2004. The Direct Investment Division
has established a sound mechanism for its team building,
task assignment, project research, risk control, etc.
over the years and become an important contributor to
the Group’s profits with ever-expanding fund size and
increasing number of projects in divestment stage.

For overseas private equity funds, SOF | and “China
Special Opportunities Fund, L.P. (‘CSOF”) and its “parallel
investment fund” set up earlier have raised US$250
million. The funds primarily targeted unlisted enterprises
with sound operating models and high growth potential.
Over the past few years, by identifying the opportunities
arising in the cycle of Chinese economy and capital
market, the investment team has successfully invested
in such high growth areas as industrial, service and high-
tech industries, and capitalized on the enterprises with
support of government policies and great development
potentials. Following the listing of Techfaith Wireless
Technology Ltd., China High Speed Transmission
Equipment Group Co., Ltd., Goldwind Science &
Technology Co., Ltd. and China Sunshine Paper
Holdings Company Limited, our investment project
iSoftStone Holdings Limited was also successfully listed
on the New York Stock Exchange during the year,
bringing rich returns to the Group and the fund investors.

Pre-tax Profit of the

I 12,265%pine mesmen

Division

EEREXRGHAIER

JEBLE [l o
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“ ;” Fund Investment and Management Operations I" ;JE%?&E&%E%ﬁ( )

(continued)
° Direct Investment (continued)

As SOF | has entered the divestment stage, the
management team has divested some projects at
opportune moments during the year and accelerated
IPO preparations for some of the remaining projects.
During 2010, 3 projects have been added to the
portfolio of CSOF and its parallel investment fund. The
fund has completed its investment stage, in which
its investment targets were a number of high-quality
enterprises including Wufeng Rice, Yuancheng Logistics,
UnionPay Commercial, and Beingmate. On the base
of the aforesaid funds, the Group established China
Special Opportunities Fund Il (“‘CSOF II”) at the end of
2010. The fund aims at such high growth industries in
the Mainland as agriculture, consumer, services and
financial services. The fund has successfully raised
US$400 million. In telling testimony to overseas investors'’
confidence in China’s economic development and our
fund management team, two-third of which were from
overseas retirement funds, university endowment and
high-end individual investors. Domestic venture capital
funds mainly targeted emerging small and medium
unlisted enterprises. Three new projects were added to
the portfolio of the Renminbi venture capital fund formed
between the Group and Beijing Zhongguancun. Most
project investments for the fund were completed. At
present, active assistance is being provided to the pre-
IPO preparations of the relevant projects. Meanwhile, the
two venture capital funds formed with local enterprises of
Wuxi city and Jiangyin city of Jiangsu province, each with
capital of RMB500 million, started to make investments
in projects after completing corporate registration and
fund management team recruitment. As of 31 December
2010, the total number of investment projects at investing
stage of domestic venture capital funds had increased to
10.
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Portfolio Unrealized Gain at Fair Value

Unrealized profit of the direct investment portfolio carried at fair
value over the last five years
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(continued)

The Asset Investment Division
and our strategic partners form a
strong investment portfolio.

JE SEP T B A PR AR,

The total value of

the funds under
management amountls
to HK$3.8 billion.
BATEEEIBER

SRIMA IHBCEHE -

° Asset Investment °

The Asset Investment Division reported HK$3.8 million
of pre-tax profit for the year, a 304% increase compared
with the same period of last year. Based on cross-
sector investments of direct investment operations, the
Group intends to establish profession teams to explore
opportunities in industries with mid-to long-term growth
potential to maximize the benefit from their long-term
growth. As of the end of 2010, the Asset Investment
Division had developed two investment funds focusing on
real estate and new energy. The first tranche subscription
for Infrastructure Fund, a joint venture entered into with
Macquarie, is in the final stage.

Everbright Ashmore China Real Estate Fund (formerly
named Everbright ALAM China Real Estate Fund)
continued to expand commercial retail property projects
in second and third tier cities in the Mainland. The
preparations for Chongging Da Rong City Project have
been completed with active rental activities and significant
growth in the project value. During the year, the Group
acquired a 51% stake in T&C Asset Management
Consulting Ltd. after in-depth research into several
projects. The acquisition will greatly enhance the fund’s
managing capabilities in commercial property. During the
year, the Division’s real estate fund signed a U.K. asset
management company, Ashmore, as a strategic investor.
Ashmore holds no more than 39% of equity in the real
estate fund management company. The introduction
of this strategic investor underlines overseas investors’
recognition of the Group’s management expertise and
operating platform, as well as their confidence in the
long-term development of China’s real estate market.
The strategic partnership will also open the Group to new
opportunities for future fundraising and development in
Europe and other overseas markets. With the support
of institutional investors including Ashmore, the fund has
completed the second-tranche overseas fund-raising
and actively explored capital sources in the Mainland,
receiving a trust fund of RMB500 million. As of the end
of 2010, the Everbright Ashmore China Real Estate Fund
team managed a size of the AUM in excess of US$300
million. During 2010, the Chinese government intensified
its control on the property market in the Mainland by
regulating bank credit and raising loan interest rate.
The relatively tight policies have facilitated the Group in
achieving better investment conditions.
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(continued)

Asset Investment (continued)

The Group also succeeded in diversifying into the new
energy sector in its fund management business. During
the period, an agreement was reached with a few local
enterprises in Jiangyin city of Jiangsu province to establish
a RMB3 billion new energy fund through a joint venture,
with a special focus on low-carbon projects. The first
tranche, of RMB1 billion was fully subscribed during the
period. The fund management team, the recruitment
of which has been completed, is currently identifying
suitable investment opportunities through the Group’s
network.

We have completed several roadshows of the China
Infrastructure Fund, a joint venture entered into with
Macquarie through the global network of Macquarie.
A number of major foreign institutional investors have
confirmed their investment commitments. We are highly
optimistic about the first round fund-raising and have
made ready a number of feasible investment projects.

The Assel Management Division has
further enhanced its hedge fund and
mutual fund platform.

Asset Management

The Asset Management Division reported pre-tax profit
of HK$81.8 million for the year, representing a significant
increase of 58% over the same period last year. The
Division focuses on the investment opportunities in the
secondary market with a view to offering clients more
choices for flexible portfolio funds apart from direct
investments and asset investments in the primary
market. One hedge fund and one SME fund are currently
managed by the Division.

The Greater-China hedging fund (“Dragon Fund”) is
mainly targeted towards Asia (except Japan), investing
in stocks, bonds and currencies, etc. and resorting to
a variety of hedging operations for maximum returns.
It slightly underperformed against the 5.3% gain of the
Hang Seng Index over the same period with a return
of 0.9% for the period. In order to boost the Group’s
profitability from secondary-market funds, an “Equity
Advantage Fund” was established with the primary aim
of identifying, through meticulous research, small and
medium-sized enterprises which are listed overseas and
with good potential. The fund has generated a return
of 7.6% after building the investment portfolios in the
second half of the year.

In addition, the Group was also actively considering
the possibility of introducing or acquiring other asset
management teams as an option for faster expansion
of the platform for secondary market funds, so as to
increase its market share in the secondary market
through lower entry cost and while maintaining stability of
the current investment teams and AUM.

Annual Report 2010
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The Brokerage and
Wealth Management
Division generated

stable income and its
business integration with
Everbright Securities has
brought about

more opportunities.

Brokerage and Wealth Management

Brokerage and Wealth Management Division which
focuses on retail clients as its major source of business,
reported HK$104 million of pre-tax profit for the year,
representing a 28% growth compared with the same
period last year. The performance of the Division is
closely related to the trading volume in the Hong Kong
stock market. On the back of low interest rates and
continuous capital inflows, trading activities in the Hong
Kong stock market has been increasingly active since
the second half of 2010. Against this backdrop, the
Group intensified its marketing efforts and expanded
diversified business in securities, gold, futures and foreign
exchange, etc., achieving a steady growth in commission
income. In addition, the Division saw an increase in
market demand and a recovery of interest income
generated from IPO activities from clients compared
with the same period of last year and the rate of bad
debt remained extremely low on the back of continuous
recovery of the overall economy and improving market
sentiment. During the period, the Group set up a third
branch at Mong Kok for securities agency and wealth
management, further strengthening its relations with local
clients in Hong Kong.
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The Investment Banking Division took

aleap in profit and its business integration with

Everbright Securities has brought about

more opportunities. WEBETHA P E

B HE S5 1 255 il A e A B 22 P G
o Investment Bank e  RERIT

The Investment Banking Division reported a 126% &éfﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁﬂmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ%
growth of pre-tax profit to HK$56 million, compared with ¥56078 T 0 b EFREIAE EF
the same period of last year. The overall business profile 126% © REERE RITEB AR /N
of the Investment Banking Division, primarily focused AR PEASTBERFEIZ KBk
on SMEs in the Mainland, grew rapidly over the years. EB’]%#%E R EBDEAREE R
During 2010, the Division boosted its profitability by T -EERRERTE
successfully sponsoring the main-board listings of Flyke IK%S RILER - KEFREREE B
International Holdings Limited, Tian Shan Development LEATR ET  RETHEEEES
(Holding) Limited, and China Datang Corporation BRIER T ERNARNENE
Renewable Power Co., Limited and the GEM listing —HEM o Hh - XEIFERER 2
of Credit China Holdings Limited in Hong Kong. The BROBER > NEBEY KIHE
listing of China Datang Corporation Renewable Power RERTEBFANX —KINEER
Co., Limited marked the second successful investment B BEFERNE—SEERRT
banking cooperation between the Group and Everbright FERMZER o AN 0 KEBEAREBER
Securities following the IPO of Zijin Mining Group Co., EPI%EZ« E%FHH?%E’\J T**i

Ltd., showing great room for future cooperation. In
addition, China New Economy Fund Limited, sponsored
by the Group, was listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange on 6 January 2011. It was the first IPO in 2011
as well as the first investment company to list on the
Stock Exchange in compliance with Chapter 21 of the
Listing Rules in the past 6 years. The successful listing
has been another demonstration of the capabilities of the
Group’s investment bank team. During the period, the
team expanded its income sources by providing financial
consulting services for 14 projects.

The Group announced the entry into the negotiation on the
sale and purchase of a 51% stake in fee-based operations with
Everbright Securities on 19 November 2010, so as to set up
a larger platform for the cross-border fee-based operations in
cooperation with Everbright Securities. The deal will provide an
opportunity for the Group to make use of the extensive client
resources and sales network of Everbright Securities in the
Mainland and will lay a solid foundation for facilitating clients
to participate in stock trading in Hong Kong and overseas
investments.
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Operating income of the Investment Bank Division over the last
five years
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[overbright Securities managed to
maintain encouraging results, and
its integration with Everbright’s
fee-based business in Hong Kong
has been put in place.

YR %E#%%@ﬁacm%%ﬁ , Bl
EI14E

ARSI P AT
iR EHAE -

Everbright Securities

In 2010, the tightening of the money supply caused repeated
fall in the Mainland stock markets in the first half of the year.
Market environment improved in the second half year and
the trading volume was slightly higher than that recorded for
the same period last year, the commission rate of brokerage
business in the Mainland was substantially reduced by intense
competition. Impacting our revenue, Everbright Securities, in
which the Group holds a 33.33% stake, proactively allocated
resources and developed new businesses during the
period while keeping its existing market shares in traditional
businesses such as security brokerage and investment
banking. During the year, Everbright Securities reported total
revenue of RMB5.78 billion. After-tax profits under Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards decreased by 33%, year-on-
year, to RMB2.22 billion, of which brokerage commissions,
proprietary trading, equity issue and underwriting, asset
management, interest and other revenue accounted for 63%,
2%, 8%, 11%, 15% and 1% respectively. During the period, its
brokerage business continues to rank amongst the top 10 in
the industry consistent with prior years. Additionally, its asset
management business also achieved sound development,
as the performances of its “Sunshine” collective asset
management plans came out on top of their peers, of which
the asset management scale and investment results ranked
3rd in the market. Everbright Securities was also one of the
domestic securities firms approved by the China Securities
Regulatory Commission (“CSRC”) during the period to pioneer
the operation of margin financing, stock borrowing and stock
index futures. Everbright Securities once again received the
highest ranking in the classification of Mainland securities
firms conducted by the CSRC as a Category A — AA securities
house.

As at 31 December 2010, Everbright Securities had 107 sales
offices nationwide.
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The successful listing of

Everbright Bank

has significantly enhanced

our corporate value.

JER AR T L -
BAETRTT s wlE(H -

Everbright Bank

Everbright Bank, in which the Group held a 5.26% stake,
successful listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange on 18
August 2010 with the issue size of approximately RMB21.3
billion. The Group’s shareholding in Everbright Bank was
therefore diluted to approximately 4.51%.

Everbright Bank reported positive development in its
businesses during the year with continuous improvements
in asset quality. Based on the unaudited accounts prepared
under PRC accounting standards, Everbright Bank’s deposits
and loan balance as of 31 December 2010 amounted to
RMB1,070.9 billion and RMB779.9 billion respectively,
representing respective growth of 32.59% and 20.18%
compared with the beginning of the year. Profits for the year
amounted to RMB12.67 billion, a growth of 65.88% compared
to the same period last year. The non-performing loan ratio
standing at 0.75%, which was 0.5% lower compared with the
beginning of the year. The non-performing loans provisioning
coverage ratio was 313.38%, representing an increase of
119.39% compared with the beginning of the year.

As at 31 December 2010, Everbright Bank had 605 branches
and sub-branches nationwide.
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Financial Position

As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s total assets amounted
to approximately HK$33.9 billion, with cash on hand of
approximately HK$4.9 billion. Apart from current liabilities in the
ordinary course of business and those related to investment
in derivative financial instruments, the Group’s major liability
was bank loans of approximately HK$1.1 billion. Those termed
bank loans are principally for the Group’s investment projects
in the Mainland.

The actual borrowing depends on the Group’s business and
investment needs. As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s
committed borrowing facilities amounted to approximately
HK$1.97 billion. The Group’s gearing ratio, calculated as
interest-bearing liabilities divided by shareholders’ equity was
3.9% as at 31 December 2010 (31 December 2009: 1.9%).

The Group had no material exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations other than assets and bank loans denominated in
Renminbi and United States dollars.

Except for those disclosed in the notes to financial statements,
the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as
at 31 December 2010. The Group had given guarantees
for banking facilities available to subsidiaries amounting to
approximately HK$1.20 billion. As at 31 December 2010, the
Company had also provided guarantees in favour of financial
institutions in respect of trading limits of subsidiaries engaged
in leverage forex trading and derivatives trading. The amount
of such guaranteed liabilities varied according to the value of
transactions.

Risk Management

Risk management is of fundamental importance to the business
operation of the Group. The major types of risk inherent in the
Group’s business are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk,
foreign currency risk and investment risk. The Group’s risk
management objective is to maximise shareholders’ value and
to reduce volatility in earnings while maintaining risk exposures
within acceptable limits.
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Risk Management (continued)

The Group’s work in the area of risk management is led
by the Chief Risk Officer and the Risk Management Group
and execution is carried out by the Risk Management and
Compliance Department. This functional structure can assess,
identify and document the Group’s risk profile and to ensure
that the business units focus, control and systematically avoid
risks in various areas of business. The Group set up a position
of Chief Risk Officer to oversee risk management and internal
controls of the Group. The following is a brief description of the
Group’s approach in managing these risks.

(a) Creditrisk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
advances to customers, trade and other receivables,
debt investments and unlisted derivative financial
instruments. In general, for advances to customers,
the Group requires collateral from customers before
advances are granted. The amount of an advance
permitted depends on the quality and value of collateral
provided by the customer. Any subsequent change in
value, as well as quality, of collateral is closely monitored
in order to determine whether any corrective action is
required.

Trade and other receivables mainly arise from the
Group’s brokerage business and investment activities.
Receivables from securities brokerage customers and
brokers are normally due two days after trade date while
deposits with brokers are repayable on demand.

The Group has established procedures in the selection
of brokers with sound credit ratings and/or reputation.
Investments in debt instruments and unlisted derivative
financial instruments are also governed by whether the
issuers and the trade counterparties respectively have
sound credit ratings.

The Group has well defined policies in place on the
setting and approval of trading, credit and investment
position limits in order to manage its credit risk exposure
and concentration. As at the balance sheet date, the
Group does not have a significant concentration of credit
risk other than the provision of advances of RMB600
million (2009: RMB600 million) to a customer which
are secured by residential use leasehold lands in the
Mainland.

RS EE(®)

AEEHERTETELHRARBERER
B /NEAE T B R B IR R B REHAT o
RBERRANEEEIREERRIREEE
BRI R A EEEE LEY 2 T ERAR
WBABRER ¢ AT - R KA
£ BRETE - SRR LRSI -
PRI R TS LA AR RS S E
B - AEERERBBE B HELE
B R E TR R A EREE TE o LA TR
W0 (AT IR R TR B SR VR A

(a) EERR
NEEBZ ZERBRETEREEFE
o U EAEER  ERIRETA
HIEFHTESRITA - BREFE
FoAEEEEREFIREHKER A
HEER - IR ERESHEIET

HMn s EREEE AFmARKZ
BXEBEEYNEXETEE 1

BREHREUEIETH ©

JEM R BB AR R E B2k B AN B 2 &
KEBRRERY EFELEBE
FREMFNZ Zi%mE XD -
i AR 4 7 2 FE Wk ) A BE B 2 K fE

AEBCDAERERFEBEBERER
ARREECEFBERRZEF -
BT AR ENITESRIRE TR
BERBTHERIHTFEERER
TR -

AEE BB AR 2 BERIAR] E R B
%~ EERRERERRAZES FrE
HrEERREERERE - RFH
B AEERR TRER SN - WEEH
BETWERERR  BPEFRARE
BIRIT(ZETNF : AR¥GET) -
W AR E % 2 MR E R IR o



032 & China Everbright Limited Bt A FE B AT 7

(Ihh4‘ﬁ\vruﬁ\v()fﬁcvfsIivpnrlfﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁifiﬁﬁﬁ

Risk Management (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Credit risk (continued)

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
into account any collateral held is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset, including
derivative financial instruments, on the balance sheet
date deducting any impairment allowance. Except for the
corporate guarantees mentioned earlier, the Group does
not provide any other guarantees which would expose
the Group to greater credit risk. The maximum exposure
to credit risk in respect of the corporate guarantee at
the balance sheet date amounted to HK$1.20 billion
(2009: HK$567 million). Further quantitative disclosures
in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising
from advances to customers are set out in note 22 of the
Notes to Financial Statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly assess current and
expected liquidity requirements and to ensure that it
maintains reserves of cash, readily realisable marketable
securities and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

Interest rate risk

The Group monitors its interest rate exposure regularly
to ensure that the underlying risk is monitored within an
acceptable range. Most of the Group’s interest bearing
assets and liabilities are on a floating rate basis with
maturity of one year to three years. The Group’s interest
rate risk arises from advances to customers, bank
balances and bank loans.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk
primarily stems from holdings of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, leveraged
foreign exchange trading and net investment in foreign
subsidiaries and associates. As most of the Group’s
monetary assets and liabilities and net investment in
foreign subsidiaries and associates are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars or Renminbi,
the management does not consider there to be any
significant currency risk. The Group has a policy not to
maintain a significant net position on leveraged foreign
exchange trading and the underlying exposure is
continually monitored.

Overall, the management monitors the Group’s foreign
currency exposure closely and would consider hedging
significant currency exposure should the need arise.
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Risk Management (continued)

(e) Investment risk
The Group’s investment mainly comprises two parts:
listed securities and unlisted securities. Substantial
investment requires approval by the Management
Committee or the Executive Committee. Each
investment department makes appropriate investments
in accordance with its investment philosophy and
established investment operation and risk management
guidelines. Risk Management and Compliance
Department carries out day-to-day monitoring on
listed securities. Even though asset prices experienced
significant volatility in 2010, the Group’s investments in
listed securities were not exposed to significant market
risk.

Employees
The Group places high value on human resources
management. We emphasize the exploration of employee
potential and employee training. We endeavor to build a
quality team to cope with the Group’s long-term business
development.

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had 252 employees in
Hong Kong and Mainland China. Total staff costs for the year
under review amounted to approximately HK$334 million as
noted in the consolidated income statement. Remuneration for
employees is based upon their qualifications, experience, job
natures, performance and market conditions.

The Group may also pay discretionary year end bonuses to
employees based on individual performance. Other benefits
to employees include medical insurance, retirement schemes
and training programs. Directors and qualified employees of
the Company may be granted share options to subscribe
for shares in the Company in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the share option scheme approved by the
Company at the extraordinary general meeting held on 24
May 2002. During the year under review, no share option was
granted to employees (include Directors).

Annual Report 2010
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We connect closely with our

“four major partners”,
building a long-term partnership based upon

mutual trust.
BRI e (e BT
Shap B 1 K PER R

Shareholde
& Investors
BRRKRIZEE

Community
HE

Collaborating, Employees
Partners A1
EFEREERE

Corporate Social Responsibility Report TEHSSTRE

As a company that shoulders responsibility for social RN&EEEA - FREHEREESTNDE
development, in addition to our focus on business EZHEREEBHRE - ISR AAES
development, the Group aims at utilising our expertise and HEEREFELSRIFMHEEER AT -
resources to create maximum benefits for stakeholders from HEEEHEMKLLEIE - AEBES RS
all sectors, as well as building a long-term partnership based ) &I& 5D A AN - TS EZLTE 5
on mutual trust. The Group categorised our stakeholders into EiGEIELE c —E——F = F  KEH
“four major partners”, and we do our best in different domains RN ARBREEESFTEFAH S REH S
to contribute to the society. In February 2011, the Group and 83 AR REBE I X RO ERE#EE - &
the China Everbright Charitable Foundation were granted the #HAREEEPEH ST I ENSE H LK
“Caring Company” and “Caring Organisation” awards by the A -

Hong Kong Council of Social Services, in recognition of the

Group’s commitment to corporate social responsibility.
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Corporate Social Responsibility Report (continued)
Clients and Collaborating Partners

The Group’s “3+2 Macro Asset Management” strategy is linked
to the vibrant markets in China and Hong Kong, which present
great potential. This business strategy is underpinned by the
belief of “growing and sharing with our clients and collaborating
partners”.

A number of investment funds have been set up under the
Group’s “3+2 Macro Asset Management” platform. During
the extended fund investment process, fund investors and
collaborating partners have to be confident in the ability of
the Group’s investment management team, as well as our
mechanisms to control risks, maintain the equality of both
parties’ capital and interest, and retain staff. As such, the
Group highly emphasised on establishing long-term “partner”
relationship between the clients and the fund teams. First of
all, to show our confidence and commitment in the prospect
of fund development, the Group invests seed capital in each
fund prior to external financing. Secondly, to align the interest
of the fund management team with that of fund investors
including the Group, we require the management team use
its own capital as risk capital to invest in the fund. During the
investment in and exit from a fund project, the fund equity
held by the management team acts in concert with those
held by the remaining investors, enabling the management
team to manage the fund business prudently and practically.
As a result, the management team not only fosters the value
and shares the result of the project, but is also highly aware
of risk management. Furthermore, to assure the quality of a
fund operation, each fund forms an independent investment
assessment committee (or similar organisation), where some
of them invite external investors to participate in the decision
process. This further assures that external investors’ interest in
the fund won’t be jeopardized.

Besides, our well established corporate governance structure
and risk management system (refer to Corporate Governance
Report for details) laid a solid foundation for the Group to
achieve the service commitment of “Making Wealth Simple”,
providing clients and collaborating partners with simple,
professional, practical and tailor-made solutions, allowing
business partners and clients to gain from market growth and
hence, create wealth and value with ease.
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Corporate Social Responsibility Report (continued) rEHEETIHREE)
Shareholders and Investors BRREESE

The Group places significant emphasis on establishing a
good communication mechanism with shareholders and
investors, as well as increasing the transparency of corporate
governance. At present, the Group regularly attends investor
conferences organized by various financial institutions. Each
year, the Group holds one-to-many and one-to-one meetings
with more than 400 institutional investors and analysts. Brief
meeting reports are available for the public under “Investor
Relations” at the Group’s website. Due to our rapid business
development and the depth of our investor relations, the Group
has been granted the “Excellent Investor Relations” award
by IR Magazine, recognising our outstanding work in investor
relations. Furthermore, the Group’s management maintains
direct communication with attending shareholders at the
annual general meeting. We also hold a press conference and
an analysts meeting twice a year after the announcement of
results. Podcasts of the press conferences are downloadable
at the company’s website. The improvement of investor
relations helps the Group to better understand the investment
sector’s views and suggestions regarding China Everbright’s
development strategy and business operation, providing
effective information on designing our corporate strategy. In
2010, 27 analyst reports about the Group were published by a
total of 10 well-known financial institutions.
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Corporate Social Responsibility Report (continued)
Employees

The Group considers our staff the most important asset of
the Company. The Group promotes an internal culture of
“partners” and “create value to share value”. For our staff, the
“partners” relationship implies the Group wishes to grow and
share with the staff the experience of corporate development
to enhance individual capability and social values through the
promotion of corporate development. “Create value to share
value” is to encourage our employees to act in the interest
of China Everbright as a whole, create economic value and
improve efficiency. In addition to a sound platform for career
advancement, the Group allocates resources to promote
staff’s well-being and work-life balance. These have been
highly successful in forming the Group’s own fund teams and
retaining talent in the previous years.

Currently, the Group strengthens our communication with staff
mainly through corporate cultural publications, communication
at major events, staff training for new starters and outdoor
activities, which all contribute to our Group culture.
Incorporating the Company’s major business information and
brand development with employees lives, the Group’s bi-
monthly e-publication “Huo Ban” ( [{kf#] ) utilises the web
to build a close connection between the employees in the
Mainland and Hong Kong. For major issues, circulars, CEO
letters and middle management meetings are the usual internal
communication tools, while briefs or press releases distributed
to institutional investors and the media being the external
communication channels. For new staff, a training session
on human resources, cultural brand and risk management
system is offered within the first month of appointment to
give the starters a clear overview of the Company. Quarterly
seminars between the senior management and new staff allow
the management to know about staff’s work and views on the
Company’s development through face to face discussions,
while also enhance the contact and interaction between
the senior management and employees. Besides, activities
are held regularly for staff and their families to build up the
relationship.
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Corporate Social Responsibility Report (continued)
Community

As a listed company based in Hong Kong, in addition to
making donations to the disaster affected regions in the
Mainland (for example, approximately HK$2.3 million was
donated by the Group and our staff for the earthquake victims
in Sichuan’s Wenchuan and Qinghai) and annual donations
for the poverty stricken areas in China, the Group is keen
to promote charitable projects through the establishment
of a charitable fund that benefits Hong Kong’s community
development.

“The Everbright Project”

The China Everbright Charitable Foundation was established
in 2008. Based on the Group’s business services philosophy
“Making Wealth Simple”, the Foundation formed a
community partnership with the Caritas Family Crisis Support
Centre in 2009 to jointly launch “The Everbright Project”, the
first ever community services program in Hong Kong targeting
the middle class. By providing psychological support and
life planning counselling services, the program promotes the
“Making Life Simple” lifestyle and advocates a simple attitude
of life conducive to stress relief for the middle class from
various communities.
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Corporate Social Responsibility Report (continued)
“The Everbright Project” (continued)

Being a major client group of the Company, the middle
class is also a core component of Hong Kong. Amid the
socioeconomic uncertainty and volatility in the past few years,
many middle-income persons and their families, are facing
ever-increasing competition and stress in life on the one hand,
finding it difficult to move up to the wealthy class; on the other
hand, they cannot access social resources and favourable
policies the government provides to the poor. Facing issues
such as financial, career and family pressures, many people
of the middle class experience physical and mental imbalance
while lacking resources for assistance. The Group is committed
to promote “The Everbright Project” as a sustainable social
services program. Since its launch, we have gained a direct
understanding of the needs of the middle class through
research, seminars, group activities, questionnaire survey and
counselling hotline. The services offered have been improved
constantly to better cater for the needs of the middle class.

From 2011 onward, “The Everbright Project” strengthens the
coverage of services by taking the initiative to enter the middle
class communities, offering de-stress workshops for corporate
employees and residents of middle class homes. Furthermore,
“The Everbright Project” members will be offered one-to-one
“Life Planner” counselling services, with customized services to
cater for individual circumstances and needs (such as middle
age crises, searching for lifelong partners and retirement).
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Corporate Social Responsibility Report (continued) rEMHEEEREH)

Other social activities Htit&Es

The Group frequently participates in promoting socioeconomic A= EFE iR 2R EAHEEN 1 & &S E) - D RIHE
activities. We are a founding member of the Chinese Securities {F&EBEH A FESHE LS « PSR
Association of Hong Kong, the Vice Chair of the China B4 gt erElE/FeEr &2 B Tl orE
Universities Alumni (HK) Association — Financial Association A& HFIEESA - IMEARBHBEE(L R
and a standing member of the China Mergers and Acquisitions — &i&4 BT #3R % H EA B S BT A
Association. We have also provided many practical SEREIFIIRME TRZ EEBAES
recommendations to the Hong Kong Government and relevant

departments of the Central Government in relation to the

internationalization of the Renminbi and the development of the

Hong Kong financial market.

-"'% Bch A EEE R
Chinese Securities Association of Ho
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The Group mainly aims to expand the

size of the AUM, diversify 1

its type of

funds, build and complete its cross-
border operating platform. We will
also enhance our capital management
so as to make 1t an important source of

reveunue.
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Outlook

Looking into 2011, driven by stimulus policies, developed
countries in Europe and the US will gradually coming out of the
shadow of the 2008 global financial tsunami and on the path
to economic recovery. Following the Chinese Government’s
adequate downward adjustment to the goal of economic
development rate, the prevention of a rapid inflation and
expedited adjustment to the economic structure have become
policy makers’ top priority. Relatively tight monetary policies are
expected to remain. Despite a tightening monetary policy which
may affect the development rate of certain sectors in the short
term, prospects are good for the rapid and stable growth of the
PRC economy as the Mainland Government has demonstrated
policy continuity and the ability to exercise macro-economic
control in its attempt to "sustain growth while adjusting
structures”. This will create a development opportunity for the
Mainland’s securities market. In addition, considering that the
low interest environment in the US will probably continue for a
relatively long period and the international market will probably
maintain sufficient liquidity, the Hong Kong economic and
capital markets, which are greatly affected by China and the
US, will see desirable development conditions within the year.

ey - (2 s — H B A o

RE

% ERBEENLERIBBER TR
e D%%K%E%iﬁiabﬂﬂfgg/\¢%
BERERNEY £ LEBERNNE
EPIEM?LFTJT%&@?*J%EVET?% KTJ
IBBRIBIR IR AR B S B AR KR
BERHFTENE 2T - B RENEER
RS MR — BT o BRI S SRR B
RUETENERBEEETHRENTE - BE
R EBUFE RIg & - F948 15 E R IFH
BEFEE N R B ) - hEEEDA
PREBRFDTRIBERRNES - EHAM
EHRMHNERTREE - 15 ERNEE
MEBRB DGR —BRRREH - BRM
SIS REFRFTMO RN - REPEZE
MBEBEEREATGEFADEBRIFE
FRAGRMF ©



042 & China Everbright Limited Bt A FE B AT 7

Chiefl Executive Officer’s Report 1T B R RS

Outlook (continued)

Following the development in the past years, the effects
of the Group “3+2 Macro Asset Management” strategy
have started to materialise. As our parent company China
Everbright Group’s financial flagship in Hong Kong, the Group
can conduct various forms of cross-border investments
and business financing by leveraging the foreign assets
management platform with an international operating ability, as
well as the advantage of our parent company’s network and
diversified financial modules in the Mainland. With the gradual
opening up of China’s financial policy and the accelerated
progress of the internationalization of the Renminbi, Hong Kong
is developing to become China’s foreign assets management
centre, thus providing considerable opportunities for the
Group’s development. However, the Group also faces many
challenges: RMB funds are becoming more popular compared
to US Dollar funds in the market as a result of the expansion
of limited partners in China, the sound policy environment
and the gradual removal of the blockage of exit channels.
Coupled with a large amount of floating liquidity in the market,
the Group is under great pressure from foreign private equity
funds’ involvement in Mainland projects investment. There is
competition for recruiting and retaining talent, and for getting
investment projects at reasonable prices. Furthermore, the
Group’s business development is still unbalanced, with private
equity funds, venture capital funds and industry funds focused
on the primary market achieving relative fast development while
the size of the AUM of hedge fund and SME fund focusing on
the secondary market remained small and far from becoming
the Group’s pillar business. These challenges require more
input from the Group’s management.

In 2011, the Group mainly aims at expanding the size of
the AUM, diversifying the type of funds, and building and
completing the cross-border operating platform. We will also
enhance the head office’s capital management and profitability
S0 as to make it an important source of revenue.
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Outlook (continued)

With regard to the fund investment and management business
of “3” such as direct investment, asset investment and asset
management, the foreign private equity fund and domestic
venture capital fund under direct investment will utilise the
well-established mechanisms to continue exploring mainland
China’s small to medium sized unlisted companies with high
development potential, helping such companies enhance
their capital strength and governance standard, as well as
enter the capital market as soon as possible. Due to the
constantly increasing number of listing projects, each of our
funds will continue to invest in and exit from some projects in
an orderly manner at opportune moments so as to achieve
more stable investment revenue for the Group. In terms of
asset investment, the size of the AUM will continue to enlarge
following the completion of the first phase of infrastructure fund
financing, potentially resulting in a more stable management
income for the Group. The Group will also continue to expand
its business platform for secondary market funds. In this
respect, we hope to recruit more professional teams with
proven experience, so that we can quickly establish ourselves
in this market segment. With a dual focus on direct investment
and asset investment (represented by primary market funds
such as private equity and venture capital funds) and asset
management (represented by secondary market investments)
as mutually complementary operations, this business model
will prepare us for capturing business opportunities arising
from expedited capital flow across the border while providing a
greater variety of investment products for our customers.
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Outlook (continued)

With regard to investment banking, brokerage and wealth
management business of “2”, following the transaction with
Everbright Securities, both parties will expedite the integration
of the cross-border businesses, enabling more Everbright
Securities clients to use the existing Hong Kong business
platform to participate in Hong Kong shares and overseas
markets transactions. Meanwhile, the strength of the respective
investment banking teams will be integrated to provide services
to companies which intend to list in Hong Kong. We firmly
believe that the integration will effectively increase the market
share of such fee-based business in the Hong Kong market,
generating greater results for both parties.

As an essential supplement t0“3+2 Macro Asset Management”,
the management will adopt an “investment + financing”
approach for projects of high potential but which are unsuitable
for investment with existing funds. The Group will fully use
its own capital after a thorough research of the industry and
the project as well as the demand of a high level of collateral
security. While fostering the long-term development of the
investee companies and sharing long-term results, credit
risks will be managed satisfactorily, so that interest income
from financing will become an important revenue source.
Furthermore, the Group will work with sister companies of the
China Everbright Group to continue searching for acquisition
targets in Mainland China, and expand the business scope
of the Renminbi asset management at a reasonable price. A
complimentary and good collaborating effect with the Hong
Kong operations is anticipated.

Following the launch of various innovative businesses such as
margin financing and stock indices and futures, combined with
its good performance in brokers collective asset management
schemes, Everbright Securities will gradually reduce its
dependence on the traditional stock brokerage business
and diversify its revenue sources. Leveraging its solid capital
strength, the competition in the stock brokerage business also
creates conditions for its future opportunistic expansion. The
successful listing of Everbright Bank marked a milestone in its
development. The significant increase in the capital adequacy
ratio after listing helps further consolidation and expansion of
its advantageous businesses such as wealth management,
as well as a closer business cooperation with the Group in
product distribution, capital custody and project referrals.
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Outlook (continued)

In 2011, the Group’s good risk management capability and
healthy balance sheet will create favourable conditions for
business expansion. We do not intend to compare ourselves
with Hong Kong’s various large financial institutions such as
banks, insurance companies or investment banks in terms of
size. Through our well established fund management operating
model and cross-border platform, we hope to develop
Everbright into a Chinese-funded financial institution that
specialises in domains where we have unmatched strengths,
explore unique and significant growth potential with clients and
investors, and thus realise value and steady growth of wealth.
The Group is currently in the prime time since our establishment
more than a decade ago. We are fully confident of our future
development.

By order of the Board
China Everbright Limited
Chen Shuang

Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 March 2011
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Governance Principles and Structure

The Company always aims to comply with established
corporate governance best practices, and the core value of
the Company is to protect the interests of its shareholders,
customers, staff and other stakeholders. It is committed
to strictly abide by the laws and regulations of Hong Kong
and observe the rules and guidelines issued by the relevant
regulatory authorities such as the Hong Kong Securities
and Futures Commission and The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”). The Company also
constantly reviews its corporate governance practices to meet
international and local best practices. One of the core values of
the Company is that the highest standard of integrity is essential
to business development.

The Board would like to announce that the Company has
complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(“the Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules for
the year ended 31 December 2010.

Board

The Board is at the core of the Company’s corporate
governance framework, and there is a clear division of
responsibilities between the Board and the Management. The
Board is responsible for providing high-level guidance and
effective oversight of the Management. The Board:

° approves the Group’s long term strategy and monitor the
implementation thereof;

° reviews and approves the annual business plan and
financial budget;

° approves the annual and interim reports;

° reviews and monitors risk management and internal
control;

° ensures good corporate governance and compliance;
and

° monitors performance of the Management.

ERRAKREE
ARRMBEEBR R RKELEE AT
EERENTEEAKT  URERR - &
P BT REMEBBALHOMNEG - EREAR
BIRIZIMEE © AUt - ARBB MR NE
ERKENEEER - R TERBETERA
MEERER BREHF LY EERZE S
REBMARZMARDR ([ EE
ERBRNZIERTEMESISN - NARTRE
HATRAOEEEREBIELRE - K
NABEBEMETERBEEE AREENNE
Ko MARB—HBRBN—ERESIESRE -
REFRRETRERERERN—ELET
=
EFgRUEMREBE_Z—Z2F+28
=t+—BEEARN - ARFEETT LEHH
AR+ Pz DR EIRERTAI([ 57
A1) e

Exg

EESERAARRIEARBRL  BEEE
ZEEERENT - EFZEERTEER
HolMANER - EEERE

o WBEAKENRHIBMLEZEENT
B

o  EWMFEEXRMBAEIMMBEE

o HEFMFERTHES:

s EENEEASEMEREENRAR

E10T .
R

o  WRRENEEERNAR K

o EFREEEMNIERR -



048 & China Everbright Limited Bt A FERATIR A 7

(Z()rp()r:llv Governance I’wpm‘l

Board (continued)

The Board authorises the Management to carry out the
approved strategies. The Management is responsible for the
day-to-day operation of the Group and is required to report to
the Board regularly. The Board has formulated the Mandate
of the Board and the Mandate of the senior management and
the Management Committee, which set out the circumstances
under which the Management should report to and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering
into any commitments on behalf of the Group. The Board
regularly reviews the Mandates, and will update and amend
them when appropriate.

To comply with the Code, the positions of the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer are held by Mr. Tang Shuangning
and Mr. Chen Shuang respectively. Their roles are distinct and
are clearly established and stipulated in the Board Mandate.
In short, the Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the
Board properly discharges its responsibilities and conforms to
good corporate governance practices and procedures. The
Chairman is also responsible for making sure that all Directors
are properly informed of important issues which the Company
is focusing on and that all directors receive accurate, timely
and clear information. He is also responsible for organising
the business of the Board, setting its agenda and ensuring its
effectiveness. The Chairman facilitates the effective contribution
of the directors and the effective communication with the
shareholders. Mr. Zang Qiutao as the Deputy Chairman of
the Board assists the Chairman to oversee and give guidance
to the Management in order to enhance the functions of the
Board. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for leading
the Management and implementing the important policies and
development strategies approved by the Board. The Chief
Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day operation of
the Group and regularly reports to the Board.

Taken into account the market practices and international best
practices in corporate governance, the Board established 5
Board Committees to carry out its responsibilities. They are
Executive Committee, Audit and Risk Management Committee,
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Strategy Committee. In addition, the Board will, if necessary,
authorise an independent board committee comprising all
independent non-executive directors to review, approve and
monitor the connected transactions (including continuing
connected transactions) to comply with the requirements of
relevant laws and regulations.
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Board Mandate

The Mandate of the Board contains the terms of reference
of the Board Committees. The Board Committees make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters within
their terms of reference, or make decisions under appropriate
circumstances within the power delegated by the Board.
Designated secretaries are assigned to all Board Committees
to ensure that they have adequate resources to discharge
their responsibilities properly and effectively. According to their
mandates, the Board and the Board Committees review and
evaluate their respective work processes and effectiveness on
an annual basis. The terms of reference of the Board as well as
the Board Committees were set out in the Board Mandate and
can be accessed via the Company’s website.

Currently the Board has 9 members, comprising 5 executive
directors, namely, Mr. Tang Shuangning, Mr. Zang Qiutao,
Mr. Chen Shuang , Mr. Tang Chi Chun, Richard and Mr.
Jiang Yuanzhi; 1 non-executive director, namely, Mr. Wang
Weimin and 3 independent non-executive directors, namely,
Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles, Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John, and
Dr. Lin Zhijun. Mr. Richard Tang, Mr. Charles Ng and Dr. Lin
Zhijun are directors with financial management expertise.
One-third of the members of the Board are independent non-
executive directors. The composition of the Board ensures
the independence and objectivity of the Board’s decision-
making process as well as the thoroughness and impartiality of
the Board’s supervision of the Management. The Board acts
honestly and in good faith. Its decisions are made objectively
and in the best interests of the Company, with a view to
maximising long-term shareholders’ value and fulfilling its
corporate responsibility to other stakeholders of the Company.

All the existing independent non-executive directors of the
Company have been appointed for a fixed term, with formal
letters of appointment setting out the key terms and conditions
of their appointment. Pursuant to the Articles of Association
of the Company, all directors, including the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer, shall retire by rotation at least once
every three years at annual general meetings and be eligible
for re-election. All new director(s) appointed by the Board
are subject to re-election by shareholders at the next general
meeting.
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Board Mandate (continued)

Save as disclosed below, there are no relationships
(including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship(s)) among the Board members. Mr. Tang
Shuangning, Mr. Zang Qiutao and Mr. Chen Shuang are also
directors of China Everbright Holdings Company Limited,
the controlling shareholder of the Company. If a substantial
shareholder or director has a potential conflict of interest in a
matter to be considered by the Board and general meeting,
the relevant directors shall abstain from voting and a Board
meeting attended by independent non-executive directors who
have no material interest in the matter shall be held to discuss
and vote on the same.

The Company has in place an appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance policy to indemnify the directors for
liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The coverage and
the sum insured under the policy are reviewed on an annual
basis.

To ensure that newly appointed directors have adequate
understanding of the Company’s business and operation, the
Board has set up an induction system for new directors.

A total of 4 Board meetings were held during the year. The
meeting schedule was prepared and approved by the Board
at the end of the previous year. Formal notices are sent to
all directors at least 14 days before the meeting. In general,
the Board agenda and meeting materials are dispatched to
all Board members for review at least 3 working days before
the meetings. The agenda is approved by the Chairman
and commented on by other Board members and the
Management. The Board minutes are detailed records of all the
issues considered by the directors and the minutes approved
by all the Board members are properly kept by the Company
Secretary. Either the Chairman or the Deputy Chairman of the
Board will meet the independent non-executive directors in the
absence of the executive directors and the Management at
least once a year. Individual attendance records of the relevant
directors in 2010 are set out in the table at the last part of this
report.
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Executive Committee

HMITER

Board Committees

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee, as delegated by the Board
Mandate, assists the Board to oversee the Company’s major
affairs. Members will communicate from time to time on
major issues affecting the Company’s operations, business
and management, including reviewing and approving the
Group’s corporate goals, business plans and major business
projects submitted. Mr. Zang Qiutao, Deputy Chairman of
the Board, is the Chairman of Executive Committee. The
Executive Committee currently comprises 4 members: the
Deputy Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer,
the Chief Financial Officer and one Assistant General Manager.
One Executive Committee meeting was held in 2010 with an
attendance rate of 100%. Moreover, it also passed certain
important resolutions via written resolutions from time to time.
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Board Committees (continued)

Audit and Risk Management Committee

The Audit and Risk Management Committee mainly assists the
Board in fulfilling its responsibilities relating to the supervision
of the financial statements, internal control, internal audit and
external audit of the Group. The Committee’s written terms of
reference was prepared by reference to “A Guide for Effective
Audit Committees” published by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and updated by reference to
the requirement of “the Code”, and has been approved and
properly authorized by the Board. The terms of reference of the
Committee are disclosed on the website of the Company. In
short, the Committee mainly assists the Board in performing its
role over the Group in, amongst others, the following areas:

° ensuring that the financial reports are accurate and
comply with the appropriate accounting standards and
that the reporting procedures of the Company'’s financial
reports are carried out;

° ensuring that the scope and guidance of the internal and
external audits are sufficient;

o considering the qualifications and independence of
external auditors;

° ensuring that adequate internal control measures are in
place and followed;

° reviewing and dealing with the Company’s internal audit
functions, the effectiveness of the Company’s corporate
governance structure and implementation;

o urging the Company to abide by any applicable laws and
to comply with regulations of the relevant regulators and
to maintain the business ethics;

° making suggestions to the Board where necessary, and
to carry out duties within the delegated authority of the
Board; and

o meeting the auditors, at least annually, in the absence of
the Management, to discuss matters relating to any issues
arising from the audit and any other matters the auditors
may wish to raise.
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Board Committees (continued)

Audit and Risk Management Committee (continued)

The work performed by the Audit and Risk Management
Committee in 2010 included the review and, where applicable,
approval of:

° the Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2009 and the annual results announcement
thereof, which were recommended to the Board for
approval;

° the Group’s interim financial statements for the six
months ended 30 June 2010 and the interim results
announcement thereof, which were recommended to the
Board for approval;

° the audit report and management letter submitted by the
external auditors;

° the quarterly risk assessment report submitted by Risk
Management Group;

° the re-appointment of external auditors, the audit fees
payable to external auditors for the annual audit and
interim review; and

° the Group’s internal audit plan and key areas of the
internal audit work focus for the year 2010.

In addition, pursuant to paragraph C.2 and C.3.3 of the
Code, the Audit and Risk Management Committee conducted
an annual review of the effectiveness of the internal control
systems of the Group with the assistance of the Internal
Audit Department. The internal control review of the Group
covered all material aspects, including financial, operational
and compliance controls as well as risk management. Upon
completion of the review, the Audit and Risk Management
Committee considered that the key areas of the Group’s
internal control systems were reasonably implemented and
were able to prevent material misstatements or losses,
safeguard the Group’s assets, maintain appropriate accounting
records, ensure compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, and generally fulfil the internal control requirements
of the Code. For detailed information on this topic, please refer
to the Internal Control section.
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Board Committees (continued)

Audit and Risk Management Committee (continued)

The Audit and Risk Management Committee comprises 3
members, and all including the chairman are independent non-
executive directors. The committee is chaired by Mr. Ng Ming
Wah, Charles who has extensive experience in the financial
and financial services industry. The remaining 2 members are
Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John, who has wide pxerience in financial
business and Dr. Lin Zhijun who has appropriate professional
qualification and experience in financial matters. A total of 6
Audit and Risk Management Committee meetings were held
during the year with an attendance rate of 100%.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is responsible for assisting the
Board in nominating the right candidates for directorship
and senior management positions as well as evaluating the
competence of the candidates to ensure that they are in
line with the Group’s overall development strategies. The
committee assists the Board in fulfilling its supervisory role over
the Group in, amongst others, the following areas:

o the selection and nomination of directors, Board
Committee members and senior management members;

o the periodic review of the structure, size and composition
(including skills, experience and knowledge) of directors
and Board Committee members;

o the evaluation of the independency of the independent
non-executive directors; and

° the recommending to the Board of to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-
appointment of directors and succession planning
for directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer.

Based on the successful experience in the recruitment of
directors and senior management, the Committee will first take
into account the existing skills, knowledge and experience
of the Board and Board Committees, and the business
requirements of the Group in order to determine the key
requirements for the new director and objective criteria for
selection. Such criteria will include relevant expertise, integrity,
industry experience and independence.
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Board Committees (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

The Nomination Committee currently has 3 members
comprising Mr. Zang Qiutao, Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John and Dr.
Lin Zhijun. The independent non-executive directors represent
over half of the committee members. All Board members,
Committees members and Senior management keep their
stability in 2010, one Nomination Committee meeting with an
attendance rate of 100% was held in the year in relation to the
appointment of an additional executive director and assistant
general manger.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for assisting
the Board in overseeing the Group’s human resources and
remuneration policies. The committee assists the Board in
fulfilling its supervisory role over the Group in, among others,
the following areas:

° setting the overall human resources strategies, basic
criteria and objective of the remuneration scheme of the
Group;

° approving remuneration, bonuses and other benefits in
kind of directors, Board Committee members and senior
management;

° making recommendations to the Board on the Group’s
policy and structure for all remuneration packages of the
directors and senior management;

° making recommendations to the Board on the specific
remuneration packages of all executive directors and
senior management;

° reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on
the performance-based remuneration of the Group by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by
the Board from time to time;

° reviewing and making recommendation to the Board
on the compensation payable to executive directors
and senior management in connection with any loss or
termination of their office or appointment to ensure that
such compensation is determined in accordance with
relevant contractual terms and that such compensation is
otherwise fair and not excessive;
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Board Committees (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

° approving the aggregate amount of the year-end bonus
payable to the staff of the Group, provided such amount is
the same as or below that approved by the Board, or to
make recommendations to the Board thereon; and

° ensuring that no director or any of their associates are
involved in deciding their own remuneration.

The work performed by the committee in 2010 included the
review and, where applicable, approval of:

o the performance appraisal of the executive directors and
senior management for year 2009;

o the proposal on staff bonus (including the senior
management) for year 2009 and salary adjustment for
year 2010 for the Group;

o the incentive scheme of the Group; and

o the policies on performance appraisal of staff (including
senior management), annual bonus and annual salary
adjustment.

To ensure that the directors receive remuneration
commensurate with the time and effort they dedicate to
the Group, the committee, in proposing the remuneration
of directors, makes reference to companies of comparable
business type or scale, and the nature and quantity of work
at both Board and Board Committees (including frequency
of meetings and nature of agenda items). The proposed
remuneration will be put to shareholders for final approval
at general meetings. The Remuneration Committee also
determines the specific remuneration package of executive
directors and senior management, including share options
and benefits in kind. Currently the principal components
of the Company’s remuneration package for executive
directors and senior management include the basic salary, a
discretionary bonus and other benefits in kind. A significant
portion of the executive directors’ or senior management’s
discretionary bonus is based on the Group’s and the
individual’s performance during the year. The committee
reviews and approves the annual and long-term performance
targets for senior management by reference to corporate
goals and objectives approved by the Board from time to time.
The committee also reviews the performance of the senior
management against the targets set on an ongoing basis,
and reviews and approves the specific performance-based
remuneration of the senior management. The committee will
seek professional advice in appropriate circumstances.
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Board Committees (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

The Remuneration Committee currently has 4 members
comprising Mr. Zang Qiutao, Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles, Mr.
Seto Gin Chung, John and Dr. Lin Zhijun. The independent
non-executive directors represent over two-thirds of the
committee members. A total of 4 Remuneration Committee
meetings were held during the year with an attendance rate of
100%. The committee’s terms of reference are available from
the Company’s website.

Strategy Committee

The Strategy Committee is responsible for reviewing the
mid to long-term strategy and the business architecture of
the Group and for making suggestions to the Board. The
Strategy Committee is chaired by Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John
and currently has 7 members: Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John, Mr.
Zang Qiutao, Mr. Chen Shuang, Mr. Jiang Yuanzhi, Mr. Wang
Weimin, Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles and Dr. Lin Zhijin. One
Strategy Committee meeting was held during the year of 2010
with an attendance rate of 100%. The focus of the agenda was
1o review the strategic positioning of the Group.

Board Evaluation

Each of the Board and Board Committees will conduct a
self- assessment review of their own effectiveness when they
deem fit and review and amend as appropriate their terms of
reference and working rules according to the outcome of these
self-assessments upon request.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has devised special rules governing securities
dealing of directors in the “Employee Dealing Manual” which
are more stringent than the required standards set out in the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having
enquired of all directors, the directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards set out in the said
manual and the Model Code throughout the year of 2010.
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External Auditors

Pursuant to delegated responsibility by the Board, the Audit
and Risk Management Committee reviewed and monitored
the effectiveness, independence and objectivity of KPMG, the
Group’s external auditors, on their audit procedures, and the
results were satisfactory. Upon the recommendation of the
Audit and Risk Management Committee, at the Company’s
2011 annual general meeting, the Board will propose that
KPMG be re-appointed as auditors of the Group. Subject to
authorisation by the shareholders, the Board will authorise
the Audit and Risk Management Committee to determine the
remuneration of KPMG.

For 2010, the total fee charged by KPMG was HK$8,288,000
including non-audit service fee of HK$3,230,000 for the review
of interim financial statements, taxation advisory and other
services. For 2009, the fee charged by KPMG for audit and
non-audit services was HK$5,180,000.

Internal Control

The Board has the responsibility to ensure that the Group
maintains sound and effective internal controls to safeguard
the Group’s assets. The internal control system is designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss; to manage rather than
completely eliminate the risks of system failure; and to assist in
achieving the Group’s objectives. In addition to safeguarding
the Group’s assets, it also ensures the maintenance of proper
accounting records and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations.

The Internal Audit Department reviews the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control system in accordance with the
annual internal audit plan approved by the Audit and Risk
Management Committee. The scopes of these reviews
cover all material controls including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management system governing
various business units and operation departments. The risks
and controls are identified primarily through reviews of the
statutory books, minutes, policies and procedure manuals and
interviews with the management. Based on the results of the
risk and control identifications, the internal audit strategies are
formulated and performed by the Internal Audit Department.
The results of the reviews for 2010 were reported to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Board on a
quarterly basis.

SMERAX BB

REEEERE ERLAREEZESC
HAEE I RN R B A BT
B BEREREZBIRFNAMIEED
A MER  WHEBABBRNOER - RIE
BEZLEREEZEENES  EFEEM
BREER T ——FERRBFAELE
HEEEFREAMEEMAREEZE
B - MERCREE - ER SR RERT LA
RERZESETES G BT

RZE—ZTFE  EEHSFTAISEATIE
B A H 518,288,000 © EHFEZH
¥7%8 /813,230,000 0 2 = F R ER T
B - BIGERN REMRS - ZTTNF
B 25BN ESMATIEM I S IRE
TRt RIEZEES B A A H7E%5,180,000
e

M EPEE 2
EEgRATHRAEENARERRRIE
feEMABR  AREAEENEE - N
MEERAGE ARIAE(MIFBYE ) R
& ABTHBRBRESRRIIERNER - XE
2 (MIFZ2HB) BEFRRBERNRR - A
LipESAKENBE - BREARRE
EZEIN - TERZENEFCENETHE
BEDI K IRTE ©

AERMEREZ L AR EER S GIUENSF
BE TS ARBERMEER G2 BRI
ETRE - TFHEREHSEBELR
SENFINMREEET R - B
875 - BYE - ARUANERER - R KR
MEZENBRIRBEBEMETLE - G
E  BEMEFFN - WRAEEEESR
#IT - REBRBER RGBSR AR
REIERATRELIERE - —T—ZTFH
BAUERENEFTEREZIAREELZE
ERERGER-



Corporate Governance Report

Internal Control (continued)

The Board acknowledges its ultimate responsibilities to ensure
there are sound and effective financial controls and accounting
functions, which are vital to the Group. The Board entrusts
the Audit and Risk Management Committee, assisted by the
Group’s Chief Financial Officer and Internal Audit Department,
with the responsibilities of reviewing the adequacy of resources
of accounting and financial report functions. The scope of
the review covers the organizational structures of finance
and accounting department, staffing and back-up resources,
their relevant working experience and recognized accounting
professional qualifications, the adequacy of budget for relevant
training programmes attended by all finance and accounting
staff. The result of the review were report to Audit & Risk
Management Committee and the Board at the year end.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Board
consider that the key areas of the Group’s internal control
systems are reasonably implemented, are able to prevent
material misstatements or losses, safeguard the Group’s assets,
maintain appropriate accounting records and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and have fulfilled the
requirements of the Code regarding internal control systems in
general.

In addition, the Group has established and implemented the
following internal control system:

° The Management established an organisational structure
with different hierarchy of duties, authorities and
responsibilities of personnels; formulated written policies
and procedures to check and balance the authorities
of different departments; reasonably safeguarded the
assets; and implemented the internal control measures
of the Group; and operated lawfully, in compliance with
laws and regulations, and under effective risk control.

° The Management set up and continually monitored the
implementation of the Group’s strategies, business plans
and financial budgets. The accounting and management
systems in place provided the basis for evaluating the
financial and operational performance.

° The Group set up various risk management and human
resource management policies. Specific units and
personnels were responsible for identifying, assessing
and managing all the major risks. These include
reputation, strategic, legal, compliance, credit, market,
operation, liquidity and interest rate risks.
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Internal Control (continued)

° The Risk Management Group (“RMG”) under the
Management Committee is responsible for discharging
the risk control monitoring function of the Group.
Members of the RMG comprise various heads of
departments and the risk management and compliance
department. The RMG is responsible for supporting
and assisting management in defining and assessing
the key risk exposures of the Group’s core business
and conducting the co-ordination thereon. It defines,
assesses, and records the risk structure of the Group
and ensures the relevant business units are aware of
such issues. The RMG reports to the Management
Committee regularly. The RMG also submits a quarterly
risk assessment report of the Group to the Audit and
Risk Management Committee for their review.

o The Audit and Risk Management Committee reviews
the management letter submitted by the external
auditors in connection with the annual audit. The Internal
Audit Department is responsible for ensuring that the
recommendations are promptly followed, and will also
periodically report the status of the implementation
thereof to the Audit and Risk Management Committee
and keep the Management informed of the same.

Communication with Shareholders and Shareholders’
Rights

The Board attaches a high degree of importance to continual
communication with shareholders, especially the direct
dialogue with them at the Company’s annual general meetings.
Shareholders are encouraged to actively participate in such
meetings.

The Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee,
member of the Executive Committee, member of the
Nomination Committee, member of the Remuneration
Committee, and representatives of KPMG were present at the
Company’s 2010 annual general meeting held on 13 May 2010
at the Excelsior Hotel to respond to questions and comments
raised by shareholders.

The Company has also provided further information on the
2010 annual general meeting in a circular to shareholders. This
includes background information to the proposed resolutions
and information on the retirement and re-election of directors
in order to enable all shareholders to understand their rights
at the annual general meeting and to vote with sufficient and
necessary information.
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Corporate Governance Report

Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of Financial
Statements

The following statement should be read in conjunction with
the auditor’s statement of their responsibilities as set out in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report contained in the 2010 Annual
Report of the Company. The statement is made to set out for
the shareholders the respective responsibilities of the directors
and of the auditors in relation to the financial statements.

The directors are required by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance to prepare financial statements which give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company. The
financial statements should be prepared on a going concern
basis unless it is inappropriate to do so. The directors have the
responsibility to ensure that the Company keeps accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Company and which enable
them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The
directors also have general responsibilities for taking such
steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets
of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities.

The directors consider that in preparing the financial
statements in its Annual Report 2010, the Company has
adopted appropriate accounting policies which have been
consistently applied with the support of reasonable and
prudent judgements and estimates, and that all accounting
standards which they consider to be applicable have been
followed.

Roles of Independent Non-executive Directors

The Board believes that the independent non-executive
directors play an important role in corporate governance.
They provide the necessary checks and balances to ensure
that the Group operates in a safe and sound manner and that
its interests are protected. The independent non-executive
directors also bring in external experience and make judgment
objectively. They are particularly important in performing a
monitoring role. The Board considers all its independent
non-executive directors to be independent in character and
judgment. The Board has received written confirmation from
the independent non-executive directors of their independence
pursuant to the requirement of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and considers all the independent non-executive directors to
be independent.
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Roles of Independent Non-executive Directors
(continued)

The Board sets out a standard policy to determine the
independence of independent non-executive directors. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for evaluating the
independence of the existing independent non-executive
directors as well as the candidates for independent non—
executive directors and making suggestions to the Board
accordingly. Independent non-executive director will be subject
to rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company and the Listing Rules.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the Board
on all governance matters. The directors have access to his
services. He has the relevant professional qualifications as
stipulated by the Listing Rules. The Company’s Articles of
Association state that the appointment and removal of the
Company Secretary is a matter for the Board.

Attendance
The attendance of the directors at board meetings and various
committee meetings is set out below:

BAFHTESHNAGE)

EEYHREBIIFMTERNE LR

EHEK - RERAEBELERNBELIL - 12
LLRERaBHBUERIREASETEL

FEMITERETELIENE - UHFERER
AEFEFELER - BUIIFNTES T
REARERER EMRARERERE

DEWE
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REBR  E=AFZAEMEHRORSE - &
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EERB -

HE=R
EEFHREFEREZREENBERNOT
5l

Audit & Risk

Management
Executive Nomination Committee  Remuneration Strategy
Board Committee Committee Meeting Committee Committee
Meeting Meeting Meetng  BHRER Meeting Meeting
Directors/members EEe  YfTZEE  REZEE  EEZEE  HMZEE  BKZES
E3/Z8 L EE (S g3 (S EE
Tang Shuangning B & & 24 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
Zang Qiutao fINE 4/4 171 11 n/a 4/4 11
Chen Shuang gk 4/4 171 n/a n/a n/a 11
Tang Chi Chun, Richard &7 4/4 7 n/a n/a n/a n/a
Jiang Yuanzhi (Note 1) Z7z.2 (Fif3E1) 33 7 n/a n/a n/a N
Wang Weimin ZER 3/4 n/a n/a n/a n/a 171
Ng Ming Wah, Charles B 4/4 n/a n/a 6/6 4/4 171
Seto Gin Chung, John IR 4/4 n/a 1/1 6/6 4/4 11
Lin Zhijun #7352 4/4 n/a 11 6/6 4/4 171
Attendance rate (i : 93% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Note: PEET

Mr. Jiang Yuanzhi was appointed as executive director and member of
the Executive Committee and the Strategy Committee of the Company
on 17 June 2010.
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TEERNTZEGNBMEZEGKE -



Annual Report 2010

Directors : unl ‘u nior Man: wement

armmy
EREEEEAS
Directors ==
Mr. Tang Shuangning BEELE
Chairman EY

Mr. Tang Shuangning, aged 56, is a member of the 11th
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, the Chairman of the Board of the
Group. Mr. Tang is also the Chairman of China Everbright
Group Limited, China Everbright Holdings Company Limited,
China Everbright Bank Company Limited (stock code:
SH601818) and Everbright Securities Company Limited
(stock code: SH601788). He is also the Director of Sun Life
Everbright Insurance Company Limited and the Chairman
of China Everbright International Limited (stock code: HK
257). He serves as the Vice Chairman of the China Society
for Finance and Banking and the Consultant of the China
Society for Investment. Prior to joining the China Everbright
Group, Mr. Tang was the Vice Chairman of the China Banking
Regulatory Commission, the Director-General of the Banking
Supervision Department I, the Director-General of the
Currency, Gold and Silver Bureau and the Director-General
of the Credit Management Division of the People’s Bank of
China. He holds a Master’s Degree in Economics from China
North-east University of Finance & Economics. Mr. Tang has
extensive knowledge and experience in banking and finance
management. He joined the Board in July 2007.

Mr. Zang Qiutao

Deputy Chairman

Mr. Zang Qiutao, aged 58, is the Deputy Chairman of the
Board of the Group, the Chairman of the Executive Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee as
well as the member of Strategy Committee of the Company.
Mr. Zang is the Vice Chairman of China Everbright Group
Limited and China Everbright Holdings Company Limited. He is
also the Chairman of China Everbright Industry Group Limited,
China Everbright Investment Management Corporation and the
Vice Chairman of China Everbright International Limited (stock
code: HK 257). Mr. Zang graduated from the Graduate School
of the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences. He was formerly
Division Chief of the State Economic Commission and Deputy
Division Director of the State Planning Commission. He joined
the Board in August 2007.
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Directors and Senior Management EE N SEEEAE

Directors (continued)

Mr. Chen Shuang

Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Chen Shuang, aged 43, is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group, member of the Executive Committee and the Strategy
Committee and the Chairman of Management Committee of
the Group. Mr. Chen has overall responsibility for the operation
of the Group. He is also a director of China Everbright Holdings
Company Limited. Mr. Chen is a director of Everbright
Securities Company Limited (a company listed in Shanghai
Stock Exchange on 18 August 2009, stock code: SH601788)
and an Independent Director of Noah Holdings Limited, (a
company listed in New York Stock Exchange on 10 November
2010, stock code: NOAH.N). Mr. Chen holds a Master of Laws
Degree from East China University of Political Science and Law
and a Diploma in Legal Studies from The University of Hong
Kong School of Professional and Continuing Education. He is
a qualified lawyer in the PRC and a senior economist. Prior to
joining the China Everbright Group, Mr. Chen was the Chief
of the Legal Department of Bank of Communications. He has
over 18 years extensive experience in commercial banking and
investment banking. He joined the Board in August 2004.

Mr. Tang Chi Chun, Richard

Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Tang Chi Chun, Richard, aged 49, is the Chief Financial
Officer of the Group. He has overall responsibility for
supervising the financial resources planning, allocation and
control. Mr. Tang is a member of Executive Committee of the
Board. He was a director of Everbright Securities Company
Limited (a company listed in Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock
code: SH601788) from February 2008 to January 2011. Mr.
Tang is a Certified Public Accountant and is a graduate of the
Accountancy Department, the Hong Kong Polytechnic. He is a
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and has over 20 years of experience in audit, investment,
accounting and finance. Since 1990, Mr. Tang had been
engaged as department head of the financial and business
operations of various international financial institutions. He
joined the Group in September 2005 and joined the Board in
July 2007.
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Directors (continued)

Mr. Jiang Yuanzhi

Executive Director

Mr. Jiang Yuanzhi, aged 43, is the Assistant General Manager
of the Group, a member of the Executive Committee and
the Strategy Committee of the Company. Mr. Jiang was
the Deputy President of China Everbright Bank, Shenzhen
Branch, prior to joining our Group. He was formerly the
General Manager of Investment Banking Department of China
Construction Bank, Shenzhen Branch, the Chief Representative
of China Construction Bank, New York Representative Office
and the Assistant General Manager of International Business
Department of China Construction Bank, Guangdong Branch.
He holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from
New York University Stern Business School. Mr. Jiang has
extensive knowledge and experience in banking and finance
management. Mr. Jiang joined the Board in June 2010.

Mr. Wang Weimin

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wang Weimin, aged 51, is a non-executive director of the
Company and a member of the Strategy Committee of the
Company. Mr. Wang is also the Vice President of Everbright
Securities Company Limited. He was the Vice Section Chief
of Stock Trading Section of Chengdu branch of Bank of
Communications, the Manager of the Stock Trading Section of
Hai Tong Securities, Chengdu branch, the Manager of Human
Resources Section of Hai Tong Securities and the General
Manager of the Stock Trading Section of the headquarter of
Hai Tong Securities. Mr. Wang holds a Master’s Degree in
Business Administration for Senior Managers from Shanghai
Jiaotong University. Mr. Wang has extensive knowledge
and rich experience in securities, financial and corporate
management. Mr. Wang joined the Board in June 2008.
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Directors (continued)

Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles, aged 61, was first appointed to the
Board as an independent non-executive director in November
1993 and has acted as the Chairman of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee of the Company since August 1999.
He is also a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Strategy Committee. Mr. Ng graduated from Loughborough
University in England in 1972 with a B.Sc. degree in Electronic
and Electrical Engineering and from London Graduate School
of Business Studies in England in 1974 with a M.Sc. degree
in Business Studies. He is a director of Somerley Limited,
the principal business of which is the provision of corporate
financial advisory services. Mr. Ng has over 30 years of
experience in corporate finance and investment banking. Mr.
Ng currently is a non-executive director of Goldlion Holdings
Limited (stock code: HK 533) and an independent non-
executive director of China Molybdenum Co., Limited (stock
code: HK 3993). Mr. Ng tendered his resignation as an
independent non-executive director from the board of Dalian
(PDA) Company Limited (stock code: HK 2880) on 17 March
2011 (having been a director since 16 November 2005). He
was also an independent non-executive director of Stone
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: HK 409) from September
2004 to November 2009. In addition, Mr. Ng is a member of
the Board of Governors of Hong Kong Arts Centre.

Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John, aged 62, is an independent non-
executive director and the Chairman of Strategy Committee
of the Company. He is also a member of Audit and Risk
Management Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee. Mr. Seto is a director of Pacific Eagle
Asset Management Limited. He is also an independent non-
executive director of Kowloon Development Company Limited
(stock code: HK 34) and Hop Hing Group Holding Limited (stock
code: HK 47) and non-executive director of Sateri Holdings
Limited (a company listed in Hong Kong Stock Exchange
on 8 December 2010, stock code: HK 1768). He was an
independent director of Everbright Securities Company Limited,
a company incorporated in PRC, from 2005 to 2007. He was
the Chief Executive Officer of HSBC Broking Services (Asia)
Limited from 1982 to 2001. He was a non-executive director
of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, (stock code:
HK 388) from 2000 to 2003, a council member of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong from 1994 to 2000, and was the
first vice chairman of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong from
1997 to 2000. He holds a Master of Business Administration
degree from New York University, USA and has over 33 years
of experience in the securities and futures industry. Mr. Seto
joined the Board in April 2003.
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Directors (continued)

Dr. Lin Zhijun

Independent Non-executive Director

Dr. Lin Zhijun, aged 56, is an independent non-executive
director of the Company and member of Audit and Risk
Management Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and Strategy Committee. Dr. Lin is a
Professor and Head of the Department of Accountancy and
Law in Hong Kong Baptist University. He is also an independent
director of Sinotruk (Hong Kong) Limited (stock code: HK
3808) and Springland International Limited (a company listed
in Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 21 October 2010, stock
code: HK 1700), both are listed on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Dr. Lin holds a Master’s degree in Science
in Accounting from University of Saskatchewan in Canada
and a Doctorate’s degree in Economics (Accounting) from
Xiamen University. Dr. Lin worked as a Visiting Professor in
The University of Hong Kong and Tenured Professor in the
Faculty of Management of Lethbridge University in Canada.
Dr. Lin worked at the Toronto office of an international
accounting firm (now known as “Deloitte”) in 1982-1983 and
he had also been a professional consultant to an international
law firm. Dr. Lin is also a member of the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, the Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Australian Institute of
Certified Management Accountants. He is a member of various
educational accounting associations including the American
Accounting Association, the International Association for
Accounting Education and Research and the Hong Kong
Association for Accounting Education. Dr. Lin is also an author
of a series of professional articles and books. Dr. Lin joined the
Board in September 2005.

Senior Management

Mr. Tsang Sui Cheong, Frederick

Mr. Tsang Sui Cheong, Frederick, aged 51, is the Chief Risk
Officer of the Group. Mr. Tsang is a Chartered Financial Analyst
and has been a director of The Hong Kong Society of Financial
Analysts Limited since 2001. In March 2009, Mr. Tsang was
appointed as a panel member of the Securities and Futures
Appeals Tribunal by the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (HKSAR) Government for 3 years. He is a holder of
Bachelor’s degree in Arts from Wilfrid Laurier University and
Master’s degree in Arts from University of Alberta. Before
joining the Group in February 2000, Mr. Tsang had over 17
years of experience in the financial industry.
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Senior Management (continued)

Mr. Chan Kam Hop

Mr. Chan Kam Hop, aged 61, is an Assistant General Manager
of the Group. He joined the Group in May 2001 and was
appointed as the Managing Director of China Everbright
Securities (HK) Limited and China Everbright Forex & Futures
(HK) Limited, which are engaged in securities brokerage,
futures brokerage and leveraged foreign exchange trading
respectively. Mr. Chan has over 35 years experience in the
financial and brokerage business and has extensive experience
in operation, sales and management. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Chan had worked in another reputable local brokerage firm
for over 30 years.

Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Ming Kin

Mr. Chan Ming Kin, aged 41, is the Legal Counsel and
Company Secretary, Head of Legal and Company Secretarial
Department of the Group. He is a member of the Supervisory
Board of Everbright Securities Company Limited (a company
listed in Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: SH601788).
Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor of Law degree and a Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws of the University of Hong Kong. He also
holds a Master of Corporate Governance degree of the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. As a qualified solicitor in
Hong Kong, Mr. Chan has more than 15 years experience
in private practice and as an in-house counsel. Mr. Chan is
also an Associate of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators and the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries.
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The Directors hereby present the Annual Report together with
the audited financial statements of China Everbright Limited
(“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively “the Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Principal Activities

The Group is principally engaged in investment holding and
the provision of financial services. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.

Turnover and Contribution to Group Results

The turnover and contribution to operating results of the Group
by activity and geographical location are set out in note 43 to
the financial statements.

Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2010 are set out on pages 85 to 86 of this Annual Report.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK$0.3 per share for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009:
HK$0.2).

Major Customers and Suppliers

The Group’s turnover represents the aggregate of revenue
from the sale of trading securities, interest income, dividend
income, rental income, brokerage commission and service
income. Accordingly, it is not practical to state the percentage
of the sales attributable to the Group’s largest customers and
percentage of the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
suppliers.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder
holding more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital
has an interest in the share capital of any of the five largest
suppliers.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 185 of this
Annual Report.
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Fixed Assets
Movements in fixed assets are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements.

Properties

Particulars of major properties held by the Group as at 31
December 2010 are set out on pages 186 to 187 of this
Annual Report.

Subsidiaries and Associates

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries and associates
as at 31 December 2010 are set out in notes 16 and 17 to the
financial statements respectively.

Share Capital

During the year, the issued share capital of the Company
increased from 1,592,264,212 shares to 1,723,562,962
shares. 2,298,750 shares were issued as a result of the
exercise of share options granted to senior executives of the
Group; and 129,000,000 shares were successfully placed at
HK$18 by the placing agents to not less than 6 placees on 5
October 2010.

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 31 to the financial
statements.

Share Premium and Reserves
Movements in share premium and reserves during the year are
set out on pages 90 and 151 of this Annual Report.

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December
2010 as calculated under Section 79B of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance amounted to approximately
HK$435,340,000 (2009: HK$791,265,000).

Borrowings and Interest Capitalised

Bank loans and overdrafts repayable within one year or on
demand are classified as current liabilities in the financial
statements. Bank loans repayable over one year are classified as
non-current liabilities. No interest was capitalised by the Group
during the year.

BE&EE
BEEEERNNFERNZ EBIERE AT ER
REIEE15 o

Y ES
AEFAN-_Z—TFE+-_A=+—HBHEEZ
FEYEEENRFRE186EEFE187
" o

BB B Bk A B
ARABNZZE—TBFE+-_A=+—HB2Z&=
THIERE A AR 2 FBED RSN B RE
BIFE16217 ©

;&N

RAFEN RRABZEBEITRA S
1,592,264,212 % £ hn &= 1,723,562,962
B o HR ARG AN EBERRAITHABTT
R AE T 35172,298, 750 8% 1) + A=
—ZF+ARH ARRBEBRREERER
FRRA8ETA T L R6BERAS KRS
129,000,0000%f5% 17 °

RARRAERARFE AN 2 EEERE
MERMIFEST ©

BARBERFE
REAH (B R R A FEE R 2 EEEREHR
NERFEIORISIE o

NZZE—ZTF+-A=+—H  XQFILR
EECR RHERIDE 7B E R DB T AR
R B AEB435,340,000L( — 2=
FLF - BHE791,265,0007T) °

BERFEERL
AEEAR—FARARSEEZRITER
MBS HRER ARSI ARB AR - &R
HMER—FHOIEERDEE - RAFE
A - R E A ATR S E AL o



Directors’ Reporl EE g &

Continuing Connected Transaction

Set out below is information in relation to a continuing
connected transaction entered into by the Group and required
under the Listing Rules to be disclosed in the Annual Report of
the Company:

On 29 December 2008, CEL Management Services Limited
(“CELMS”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
renewed a tenancy agreement with Lane Bright Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Everbright Holdings
Company Limited ("CE Holdings", the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company), for leasing office premises
situated on 36th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for a term of 2 years from 31
December 2008 to 30 December 2010 at a monthly rental
of HK$450,000, exclusive of rates and management fees
and other charges. This tenancy agreement constituted a
continuing connected transaction of the Company pursuant to
the Listing Rules.

In 2010, the total rental expenses incurred by CELMS
under the tenancy agreement amounted to approximately
HK$5,400,000. (Please also refer to note 37(a)(i) of the
Financial Statements.)

In the opinion of the directors, the transaction was conducted
on normal commercial terms. The independent non-executive
directors have conducted the annual review of the connected
transaction and confirmed that such transaction was entered
into on normal commercial terms in the ordinary course of
business of the Group and in accordance with the agreement
governing the transaction. The transaction was entered
into on terms no less favourable than the terms available to
independent third parties, and the aggregate value of such
transaction did not exceed the limits set out in Rule 14A.34 of
the Listing Rules.

The directors have requested the auditors of the Company
to perform certain agreed audit procedures on the continuing
connected transaction and have received a letter from the
auditors as required under Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules.
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Directors
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this Report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Tang Shuangning, Chairman

Mr. Zang Qiutao, Deputy Chairman

Mr. Chen Shuang, Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Tang Chi Chun, Richard, Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Jiang Yuanzhi, Assistant General Manager (Note)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Wang Weimin

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles

Mr. Seto Gin Chung, John

Dr. Lin Zhijun

Note: Mr. Jiang was appointed on 17 June 2010.

According to Articles 120 and 121 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, one-third of the Directors (who have been longest
in office) shall retire from office by rotation at every annual
general meeting of the Company provided that every Director
shall retire once every three years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election.

In addition, according to Article 87 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, any Director appointed by the Board either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office
only until the next following general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election at the meeting.

In accordance with Articles 120 and 121, Messrs. Tang
Shuangning, Zang Qiutao, Chen Shuang and Lin Zhijun, being
the directors who have been longest in office shall retire by
rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
at the Annual General Meeting. In addition, in accordance with
Article 87, Mr. Jiang Yuanzhi, being a new Director appointed
by the Board during the year, shall retire from office and, being
eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the Annual General
Meeting.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures

As at 31 December 2010, the interests and short positions
of the directors and chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares of equity derivatives and debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (as defined by
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)
as recorded in the register of directors’ and chief executives’
interests and short positions required to be maintained under
section 352 of the SFO are as follows:

1a. Long position in shares of the Company:

Annual Report 2010 —% %4 G 073

ESRFETRABREZRG - M
RGO ER - BERAR

R=F—TE+=A=+—8  ALTRE
AR E RO BN ARE L E R
BEBTRA RS RAEBTRAHTS
BT EERFREBAMABEARTRK
RN (EH R H R AT P EXVED)
2B BBOIRASTE TAR MBS
0T

1la. RADXEARBZRE

Personal Family Corporate % of total
Name of director Total interest interest interest issued capital
E3pe 2y BARR kR NAkE  EERTRGLY
Tang Chi Chun, Richard 400,000 400,000 = = 0.02

Hrik

1b. Long position in shares of China Everbight
International Limited, an associated corporation of
the Company: Nil

2. Long position in underlying shares of equity

1b. RAQARZBBITPEKERE
RABZRAE 1 &

2. RAEDFHEERS BETETRZ

derivatives of the Company =}
Number of
equity Number of

Nature of Date of derivatives held underlying Total
Name of director interest Grant BERE shares Total Percentage
Espz RHME RAHEH  fEIREA  RERGHA Yy #EAY
Tang Chi Chun, Richard Personal 10.04.06 319,000 319,000 319,000 0.02%
B EIN

All the above shares and underlying shares of equity
derivatives were beneficially owned by the directors
concerned. The percentage shown was calculated based
on the number of issued shares of the Company as at 31
December 2010.

Details of the share options held by the directors and
chief executives of the Company are shown in the
following section under the heading “Information on
Share Options”.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures (continued)

2.

ESRFETHRAERREZRMG - A
B ER - BERXR(E)

Long position in underlying shares of equity 2. RAXATEBRG  B&ATETAE>
derivatives of the Company (continued) REE)
As at 31 December 2010, save as disclosed herein, none R-ZE—ZF+ A =+—BHKE
of the directors and chief executives of the Company BEIN  NATIRIBEESREE G
were interested in short positions in the shares, MRBZEERTETHAERRR
underlying shares of equity derivatives or debentures KRERMA  ARRESZEREETT
of the Company or any associated corporation defined A B BEE R A AN 7 s B L N
under the SFO as recorded in the register of directors’ ALz fn ~ AR MR IRASDT A T A sk
and chief executives’ interests and short positions. BEAEZ KBRS °
Long position in underlying shares of equity 3. RABKZATHEBRERS > BRATET
derivatives of associated corporations BEvRE
As at 31 December 2010, the following director had RZZE—ZF+_A=+—H8 ' UTF
personal interests in options to subscribe for shares EEPABETREARG 2T
in China Everbright International Limited (“CEIL"), an NEIFE N KEBR AR AR ([ KEH
associated corporation of the Company. The shares of BR 1) 2 ANRE - RN E BB
CEIL are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Fre
Number of
underlying
shares of CEIL
Exercise (ordinary
price shares)
Nature of (HKS) RRERZ Total
Name of director interest {78 Date of Grant Exercise period  1HBRA#E  Percentage
Bspg REHNE (&7 RiHAE i (BER) BRI
Zang Qiutao Personal 0.85 03.08.06 03.08.07-25.05.13 2,000,000 0.055%
HIE fEA 0.85 03.08.06 03.08.08-25.05.13 2,000,000 0.055%
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Information on Share Options TREER
Information in relation to share options of the Company 1R# F 8 Bk & B R IR &k 0
disclosed in accordance with the Listing Rules was as follows: T

1.  Outstanding share options as at 1 January 2010: 1. N-BE—ZTFE—HF—HAEKTENS
IRHE -
Date of Exercise price
Number Grant (HKS)
of options RRE Vesting period Exercise period TEE
RREHE Rt AH BYE Cigid (&)
Chen Shuang 1,280,000 03.05.06  04.05.05-03.11.07  04.05.06-03.05.10 2.850
(74
Seto Gin Chung, John 320,000 05.05.06  06.05.05-05.11.07  06.05.06-05.05.10 3.000
AR
Tang Chi Chun, Richard 400,000 27.09.06  28.09.05-27.03.08  28.09.06-27.09.10 3.100
HFE 319,000 10.04.06  11.04.06-10.10.08  11.04.07-10.04.11 4.800
Total employees 562,500 10.04.06  11.04.06-10.10.08  11.04.07-10.04.11 4.800
EEM@E

2. Outstanding share options as at 31 December 2010: 2. R-Z—ZHF+-A=+-—HHK]T

FEHRIRAE

Date of Exercise price

Number Grant (HKS)

of options SkiE Vesting period Exercise period T6E

ARELE REBH BYH T (BL)

Tang Chi Chun, Richard 319,000 10.04.06  11.04.06-10.10.08  11.04.07-10.04.11 4.800

HFE

Total employees 263,750 10.04.06  11.04.06-10.10.08  11.04.07-10.04.11 4.800

EEMEEH

3. No share options were granted during the year 3. BZE-Z—ZFF+-_A=+—HILE
ended 31 December 2010. EXEEHERE -
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4.

Information on Share Options (continued) RIREER (E)
Number of share options exercised during the year 4. BE-—_Z-ZEF+-H=+—H1t=E
ended 31 December 2010: ERNTENZIRERE :
WA Closing
Exercise price**
price (HKS)
(HKS) ETH
Date of Grant  No. of Shares THEE W
R AH RAEE (&) (BL)
Total employees EEMBE 03.05.05 1,280,000 2.850 20.850
05.05.05 320,000 3.000 21.650
27.09.05 400,000 3.100 18.340
10.04.06 298,750 4.800 20.178
*  The weighted average (“WA”) closing price of the shares AR BN ERREBRRETE
of the Company immediately before the dates on which H H3Z AT RO A P T 18 o
the options were exercised.
No share options were cancelled during the year 5. BE-Z-—-ZF+-A=+—HLHF

ended 31 December 2010.

No share options lapsed during the year ended 31
December 2010.

Valuation of share options

The fair value of share options granted is measured using
a Binomial Option Pricing Model based on the volatility
of the Company’s share price immediately preceding
the date of grant, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the share options were granted.

The Group amortises the fair value of share options
granted to employees as an expense in the income
statement in accordance with HKFRS 2 “Share-based
Payments”. Details of the underlying accounting policy
are set out in note 2(q)(ii) to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2010, none of
the directors, the chief executives or their respective associates
had any interest in the securities of the Company or any of its
associated corporations or in any arrangements to which the
Company is a party to purchase shares of the Company or any
other corporate body.
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Information on Share Option Scheme

At the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company held on
24 May 2002, an ordinary resolution was passed to adopt a
Share Option Scheme (“the Scheme”).

A summary of the Scheme disclosed in accordance with the
Listing Rules is as follows:

1.

Purpose of the Scheme:

To provide an incentive or reward to eligible persons for
their contribution and continuing efforts in promoting the
interests of the Group.

Participants of the Scheme:
Any employee(s) including any director(s) of the Company
or any subsidiary or associated company.

Total number of shares available for issue under
the Scheme and percentage of issued share capital
as at 31 December 2010:

112,966,296 (6.55%)

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
Scheme:

The maximum number of shares (issued and to be issued)
in respect of which options may be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company (whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding)
to any participants in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of issued shares from
time to time unless such grant has been duly approved
by ordinary resolution of the shareholders in general
meeting.

The period within which the shares must be taken
up under an option:
The exercise period of options ranges from 1 to 4 years.

The minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised:

The vesting periods ranges from 1 to 2.5 years from the
date of the granting.
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Information on Share Option Scheme (continued)

7. (@) The amount payable on application or
acceptance of the option:
HK$1.00

(b) The period within which payments or calls
must or may be made:
Within 30 days after the date of offer

(c) The period within which loans for such
purposes must be repaid:
N/A

8. The basis of determining the exercise price:

The exercise price is determined by the directors which
shall be at least the highest of (i) the nominal value of the
shares; (ii) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant; and (jii) the average closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the five trading days immediately preceding the date
of grant.

9. The remaining life of the Scheme:
The Scheme will expire on 24 May 2012.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

No contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding
company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, existed at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No director offering for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable by the employing
company within one year without payment of compensation
other than the normal statutory compensation.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures
Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, holding companies or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 December 2010 the following persons had an interest
or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which must be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
who were, directly or indirectly, had a 5% or greater interest in
the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights
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FERRK

R-E—ZTF+-F=+—H  FIALTHE
AARAD AR S PR ERIEES R
B IEPIEXVER S 2 R B30 A e AN A
ZIEESAR - BB EEES W EER)
EARABRA TEREEEREMKE AR Z
R ARKE EIRE 2 EAE R R A E(E5% K

to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other A F#E% -
member of the group:
Long Position RoZRAE
% of total
No. of shares issued shares
Name of shareholder beneficially held {EE 21T
RRER ERBERAHAE RABDLE
China Everbright Holdings Company Limited (Note) 870,873,207 50.53%
Rl RS E AR A (i)
Datten Investments Limited (Note) (B E) 867,119,207 50.31%
Honorich Holdings Limited 867,119,207 50.31%
Note: 867,119,207 shares are held by Honorich Holdings Limited BT :  867,119,207A% % 3 FiHonorich Holdings

(“Honorich”). Honorich is wholly-owned by Datten Investments
Limited (“Datten”) which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of China Everbright Holdings Company Limited (“Holdings”).
Accordingly, Datten and Holdings are deemed to have the
same interests in the shares of the Company as Honorich.
3,754,000 shares are held by Everbright Investment &
Management Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Holdings.

Save as disclosed above as at 31 December 2010, the
directors are not aware of any other persons who had an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or who was, directly or indirectly, had a 5% or greater interest
in the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights
to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other
member of the Group.

Limited([Honorich |)#% + HonorichJ)
miDatten Investments Limited ([ Datten )
2B¥EH - MDatten P BN KEEE
RAR([AKREB])Z2EMBAR -
A it Datten &t K EBR AR A A
118 A A B HonorichfBR 2 #2
3,754,000/% A% 17 8l A KB 2 BT
DRRABBEEERAFIEE °

B EXHBEEN R-ZE—ZFF+ A
=t—B BRI IABAEFMEBALR
R B Ay K ABRAR D S BARIRRE 5 I
BRI EXVEBFE2 R EID G AR
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Mo ATEEAIER TEREBEAKE Q]
ZBRERRE FIRE 2 EEBIRATES%
A 4 o



080 & China Everbright Limited Bt A FE R AT 7

Directors’ Report EE22HEH

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s
Securities

The Company did not redeem any of its shares during the year.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased or
sold any of the Company’s securities during the year.

Corporate Governance

The Company believes that upholding good corporate
governance measures is important to ensure effective
internal control and to protect the long term interest of
the shareholders, customers, staff and the Company. The
Company complies strictly with the applicable laws and
regulations and codes and guidelines of the regulatory
authorities, and strives to follow the best international and local
corporate governance practice and to develop and improve
the corporate governance practices of the Company.

For further details, please refer to the section of “Corporate
Governance Report”.

Auditors

The financial statements have been audited by KPMG, who
retires and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

During the year, the Audit and Risk Management Committee
comprised Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles, Mr. Seto Gin Chung,
John, and Dr. Lin Zhijun. The Committee is chaired by Mr.
Ng Ming Wah, Charles. All members of the Committee are
independent non-executive directors.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee and the
Management have reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing,
internal control and financial reporting matters including the
review of the audited financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2010. The terms of reference of the
Audit and Risk Management Committee and a summary of the
duties discharged in 2010 have been set out in the section of
“Corporate Governance Report”.
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Retirement schemes

The Company provides retirement benefits to all local
eligible employees under an approved defined contribution
provident fund (“the ORSO Scheme”). The ORSO Scheme
is administered by trustees, the majority of whom are
independent, with its assets held separately from those of the
Company. The ORSO Scheme is funded by contributions from
employees and employers at 5% each based on the monthly
salaries of employees. Forfeited contributions may be used to
reduce the existing level of contribution by the Company.

Since 1 December 2000, the Group also operates a Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance and not previously covered by the
ORSO Scheme. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a monthly relevant
income cap of HK$20,000.

The employees of the subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of
China are members of the retirement schemes operated by
the local authorities. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a percentage of their payroll to these schemes to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to these
schemes is the required contributions under the schemes.

The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to
the consolidated income statement during the year ended 31
December 2010 amounted to approximately HK$1.93 million.
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Competing interest

Insofar as the directors are aware, Mr. Ng Ming Wah, Charles,
an independent non-executive director of the Company, is
a director of Somerley Limited, a specialist financial services
company principally engaged in advising listed companies in
Hong Kong on mergers and acquisitions, equity capital raising
and regulatory compliance matters, which may be considered
to compete or likely to compete with some of the investment
banking businesses of the Group. However, the directors
consider that the likelihood of a conflict of interest occurring is
minimal since most of the Group’s relevant business decisions
are handled at the subsidiary level. If and when an occasion
arises which may lead to actual or potential competition, it is
intended that Mr. Ng will make a full declaration of his interests
(if any) and abstain from the discussion and decision making
process(es) relating thereto.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors of the
Company as at the date of this annual report, the Company
has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing
Rules.

By order of the Board
China Everbright Limited
Tang Shuangning
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2011
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Independent Auditor’s Report

| BB AR

cnac

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF CHINA EVERBRIGHT LIMITED

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Everbright
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) set
out on pages 85 to 184, which comprise the consolidated and Company
balance sheets as at 31 December 2010, the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for
the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December
2010 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

29 March 2011
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Consolidated Income Statement

‘ 2""‘/\ =< For the year ended 31 December 2010
e Em BE-Z-TE+-A=t+—AILFE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZETNF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BiaE BT T BT T
Restated
=]l
Continuing operations FREIE TS
Turnover e 4 2,214,071 3,556,973
Operating income B 4 372,193 318,375
Other net income HFIA 4 1,348,431 69,025
Staff costs BTIZH 5 (227,704) (71,009)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses WEREHEER 15 (16,039) (12,142)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale BEHEE B A RERL
securities (15,731) (21,186)
Other operating expenses Hitnge 2 & (84,342) (47,772)
Profit from operations KB 6 1,376,808 235,291
Finance costs VB ER 7 (34,775) (11,895)
Gain on deemed disposal of interest FEAHEHE R RERAT
in associates 17(b) - 3,175,642
Share of profits less losses of associates (LB A T BT E R 17(o) 833,456 1,349,289
Share of profits less losses of jointly P L RE B B AT R EE
controlled entities 18 (3,537) (915)
Profit before taxation MR F7 B 2 A 2,171,952 4,747,412
Income tax Rl 9 (112,805) (68,189)
Profit from continuing operations SIEIC B ZETEEF 2,059,147 4,679,223
Discontinued operations BRI EER
Profit from discontinued operations BRI ETB B R 10 107,810 79,362

Profit for the year REZEF 2,166,957 4,758,585
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5 . ~ . =
Consolidated Income Statement 42518 K
For the year ended 31 December 2010 #=—Z—ZTF+_-_A=+—HILtFE

2010 2009
—E-2F —TTNF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
BtsE BT T ERETIT
Restated
=]l
Profit attributable to equity shareholders SEBRARERRER 2 &F)
of the Company:
Continuing operations B ST 1,819,397 4,678,279
Discontinued operations BRI 48 275 10 107,810 79,362
1,927,207 4,757,641
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR R 239,750 944
Profit for the year KEEZ A 2,166,957 4,758,585
Basic earnings per share BRERZAH 14(a)
Continuing operations SIBICLETS HK$1.1228 7t  HK$2.938%7T
Discontinued operations BRI HK$0.0678 7t  HK$0.05187T
HK$1.18958 7t  HK$2.989/& 7T
Diluted earnings per share RS R A 14(b)
Continuing operations FHEC SRS HK$1.1218 T HK$2.933E T
Discontinued operations BRI TS HK$0.0678 7Tt  HK$0.05187T
HK$1.1888 7t  HK$2.984/&7C

The notes on pages 93 to 184 form part of these financial statements.  Fi|&{ N E 93 E 184 B 2 Wi 5+ /5 78 B 76 3R 45 H) — B
Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company 4 o &t A BIRY 5 2 JE A% S 2 408 Bl A M 3
attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note 12. 12 o
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

| &R

A éﬁ LI&}—( For the year ended 31 December 2010
= m HE-Z-TF+ A=+ HIFE

087

2010 2009
—EB-FF —EENF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BsE BT T BT T
Profit for the year REEREF 2,166,957 4,758,585
Other comprehensive income for the NEFHEAMEEKE (BRRE
year (after tax and reclassification DHEREERE)
adjustments): 13
Net movement in investment revaluation B EE A2 R EBhREE
reserve of available-for-sale securities TS 3,640,416 3,655,911
Share of investment revaluation reserve and PGB & A BIIR E B L &
exchanges reserve of associates b 301,498 56,569
Exchange rate adjustments PE R 93,229 433
4,035,143 3,712,913
Total comprehensive income for the year ZREE2HEUNZEAEE 6,202,100 8,471,498
Attributable to: BER
Equity shareholders of the Company PIN/NE] 3 E S 5,389,966 8,250,188
Non-controlling interests FEPEAR RS 812,134 221,310
Total comprehensive income for the year AREE2HEUNZEEEE 6,202,100 8,471,498

The notes on pages 93 to 184 form part of these financial statements. TIEREIRE 1848 Z i B FSIRERN —3 5

o
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

GREERER

As at 31 December 2010
RZT—ZTF+=A=+—H

Group Company
X5E N
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Note 2010 2009 2010 2009
. —E2-EF —TTNF —Z2-EF “ZTNE
ftz +=A=t—-B +ZA=+—H t=ZA=t+—-A +ZA=1—H8
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BT BRI BT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Fixed assets BTBE 15 560,035 420,738 189 293
Investments in subsidiaries Mﬁ%ﬁ&’é 16(3) - - 1,750,347 2,700,412
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEWHT B 16(b) - = 4,790,043 2,604,357
Investments in associates NG é 17(a) 9,225,584 8,737,541 1,784,192 1,784,192
Investments in jointly controlled entities HEIESH|IERIEE 18 84,863 84,266 78 78
Available-for-sale securities ﬁf,ftih’% FH 19 13,533,672 8,938,617 7,900,390 5,450,600
Financial assets designated at fair value BT ARBE R AR
through profit or loss ATEENSREE 20 907,656 344,530 - -
Advances to customers =EER 22 551,353 771,596 - =
Amount due from an investee company R IR E AR Z0E 16(d) 145,794 - - -
Intangible assets BYEE 21 - 1,250 - -
25,008,957 19,298,538 16,225,239 12,639,932
Current assets REEE
Advances to customers EPER 22 655,964 969,494 - -
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU KT B A RIZIE 16(0) - - 950,000 949,742
Amounts due from associates YNGR ] 17(d) - 749,770 - 749,770
Amounts due from jointly controlled U R H B R T
entities - 1,197 - -
Debtors, deposits and prepayments R - e MM 23 515,805 708,325 6,505 6,780
Trading securities RHBEH 24 716,200 487,415 - -
Cash and cash equivalents ReLReEEY) 25 4,578,384 2,094,510 2,491 205
6,466,353 5,010,711 958,996 1,706,497
Assets classified as held for sale SHEHEEE 26 2,466,350
8,932,703
Current liabilities nBaE
Creditors, deposits received and R - BliRE K
accrued charges BRER 28 (328,977 (829,796) (2,319) (1,938)
Trading securities RS HBH 24 - (29,057 - -
Bank loans FITER 27 (615,576) - - -
Notes payable EAEE 29 (143,295) - - -
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERHB A A MIE 16(c) - - (806,055) (2,295,071)
Amounts due to associates JE{T B 1 Bl 17(d) (438) (438) (438) (438)
Amount due to ultimate holding company & HEW“H&“T Z3E - (63) - -
Provision for taxation TATEE 30(a) (569,063) (536,999) - -
(1,657,349)  (1,396,359) (808,812) (2,297,447
Liabilities classified as held for sale FIEHESE 26 (828,677)
(2,486,026)
Net current assets/(liabilities) FRBEE/(BF) 6,446,677 3,614,358 150,184 (690,950
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBEE 31,455,634 22,912,896 16,375,423 11,948,982
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Consolidated Balance Sheels 28 EEBEX
As at 31 December 2010 P —ZT—ZTF+-H=+—H

Group Company
by PN
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

—E2-BF —FENF —E2-%2F% —ITNE

W  +=A=t-B +-A=1t—H +=ZA=t+-B +-A=1—H
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BRI BETT BT BT

Non-current liabilities EE =V
Bank loans RITER 27 (476,786) (397,145) - -
Financial liability designated at fair value ETEEBBIERANK
through profit or loss ATEENSHAR (38,917) - - -
Notes payable fERfZiE 29 - (114,115) - -
Deferred tax liabilities ELFHBAR 30(b) (768,460) (542,460 (103,764) (62,735)
(1,284,163)  (1,053,720) (103,764) (62,735)
NET ASSETS FEE 30,171,471 21,859,176 16,271,659 11,886,247
CAPITAL AND RESERVES RAK G
Share capital [ 31 1,723,563 1,592,264 1,723,563 1,592,264
Reserves & 32 26,417,060 19,392,913 14,548,096 10,293,983
Total equity attributable to BERAARRRER
shareholders of the Company 28,140,623 20,985,177 16,271,659 11,886,247
Non-controliing interests JEIRAR R 2,030,848 873,999 - =
TOTAL EQUITY A 30,171,471 21,859,176 16,271,659 11,886,247

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March WS- ——&=FH -+ h BEESei N RET)

2011 and signed on behalf of the Board by: BUWHUTESAREE
Tang Shuangning Chen Shuang

Ee= PR3

Director Director

0 £

The notes on pages 93 to 184 form part of these financial statements. FIENREIRE 1848 2 MiF ARM IR EN —FBD ©
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Consohdated Statement of Changes in Equity

* B>< 44 Ej] ’13’% For the year ended 31 December 2010
n‘/T —F-TE+-A-t+—ALFE

Attributable to the shareholders of the Company

BRREAERR
Option ~ Investment Capital Non-
premium  revaluation redemption controlling
Share Share reserve reserve reserve  Goodwill Capital  Exchange  Retained interests Total
capital  premium AnE RE EX  reserve  reserve  reserve  eamings Total F2R equity

R&  BAEE EERRE  ERER  RERE HEER  HABE  ENRR  REERA ait BE  EESH
Note HK§000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000
Wi B¥TR  E¥Tn  R¥TR  B¥Tn  BMTn  BMTr BNt BETr BETn BT BT BNTn

Asat 1 January 2009 RZFENF-A-R 1591012 5,718,230 6,045 1585959 2084 (9243%) 109714 586,149 4523395 13,199,093 300,795 13499,888
Shares issued under share option scheme  [F18 TR H 2 g 1,52 6,239 (2,008) - - - - - - 5,483 - 5,483
Net investment by non-controling FERRRFRE
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - 351,894 351,894
Dividends paic BRIRE 12 - - - - - - - - [469587)  (469,587) - (489587)
Proft for the year TEERA - - - - - - - - 4T5T6M 47576 944 4758585
Other comprehensive income for the year  AEEE 2 AlAEE - - - 3474301 - - - 18246 - 340547 220366 3712913
As at 31 December 2009 RIBEAF = ﬂ
and 1 January 2010 =+-AR=%-%%
—-B-R 1,692,264 5,724,469 4087 5,060,260 2084 (9243%) 109714 604305 8811449 20985177 873999 21,859,176
Placement of new shares REHR 129000 2,155,336 - - - - - - - 22843% - 22843%
Shares issed under share option scheme HEI?%Z* e 229 783 (2.921) = = = = = = 7213 = 7213
Net investment by non-controling FERRRFRE
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - 344,715 344,715
Dividends paid BHRE 12 - - - - - - - - (626068 (526,008 - (526,068
Profit for the year TEERF - - - - - - - - 191207 1,921,201 239,750 2,166,957
Other compretiensiie ncome for heyear A EEHATRAESR - - - 3010761 = = - 5198 - 36759 ST23 403143
Asat 31 December 2010 RZ5-F5 2R
== 1,723563 7,887,639 1,116 8,071,021 2084 (24305 109714 1066393 10212588 28,140,623 2030848 30,171,471

The notes on pages 93 to 184 form part of these financial statements. FIEREIRE 1848 Z M AR ER —
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or the year ended 31 December 2010
S E— T TET_A=+—HIFE

%2440 JJ 091

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZETNF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
B aE BT T B BT
NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM RETHEEZ
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RERmHEFE 42 (1,236,165) (1,784,815)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEETE
Purchase of fixed assets BEETEE (166,110) (62,823)
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets HEREEEEMSHIE 141 23
(Increase)/decrease in deposits pledged F{EEIR 2 E 855 (i"jjl])/
N (391,328) 513,144
Purchase of available-for-sale securities BEREEHERS (1,402,533) (746,731)
Purchase of financial assets designated BEIETABBERAREA
at fair value through profit or loss FEENSREE (341,571) (177,268)
Investment in associates &N R E 5 - (17,021)
Investment in jointly controlled entities HEEHIFEIRE L5 (4,702) (85,181)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale .ﬂ EEHRIHE B SFFSHRIE
securities 1,411,717 104,952
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets ] %? BT AMiBIBm AR
designated at fair value through ANTEENEREE
profit or loss FrfS R 36,846 -
Proceeds from issuance of financial liability ,ﬂj’%;» TEABIBIE AR
at fair value through profit or loss ATEENSRAE 38,917 -
Bank interest received BERITH B 11,428 9,022
Dividends from investments in securities BREHIEERE 167,843 204,336
Dividends from associates B E A RIS 1,397,417 -
NET CASH INFLOW / (OUTFLOW) FROM R&EEBE4ZBRERA (R
INVESTING ACTIVITIES ) REE 758,065 (257,547)
NET CASH OUTFLOW MERRSRL R
BEFORE FINANCING ACTIVITIES (478,100) (2,042,362)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 428 & RE R
For the year ended 31 December 2010 = —ZT—ZF+-_A=+—HILFE

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B aE BT T B BTT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES R SEED
Issue of ordinary shares BrrEmiRm 2,291,548 5,483
Issue of shares in subsidiaries to EITM B A T Z XD T
non-controlling shareholders FEFERR AR R 405,370 302,509
Redemption of shares by non-controlling eI AR SR EE O
shareholders B&H - 92)
Proceeds from bank loans BARITERK 695,217 397,145
Dividends paid to non-controlling IREE AR B T IEEAR
shareholders B (7,883) =
Dividends paid BERE (526,068) (469,587)
NET CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING R®IEZBHELEZRERA
ACTIVITIES HE 2,858,184 235,458
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH ReRBELEEM LM
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ORl2) 35 2,380,084 (1,806,904)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERRLEEY
Beginning of year FREER 2,035,739 3,846,756
Exchange rate adjustments [ERAE 78,525 4,113)
End of year FRER 4,494,348 2,085,739
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH JRERIRLZEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EBREED AT
Bank balances and cash — general accounts ~ $R1T7456A MRS — —MRERF 4,578,384 2,094,510
Deposits pledged REEIR 2 75 (450,099) (68,771)
Cash and cash equivalents classified as IWEHEBEEZRE M
assets held-for-sale WEEEY 26 366,063 -
End of year FEREERR 25 4,494,348 2,035,739

The notes on pages 93 to 184 form part of these financial statements. FIENEIRE 1848 2 T AARMIBIREN —FH ©



Notes to the financial statements

BIFE AR M

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

China Everbright Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in Hong
Kong with its shares listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. The directors of the Company consider China Everbright
Holdings Company Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong,
to be the ultimate holding company of the Company and Honorich
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands,
to be the immediate holding company of the Company. Neither of
them provide financial statements for public use.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Company, through its subsidiaries and associates, is principally
engaged in investment activities and the provision of financial
services.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(HKFRSs), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (HKASs) and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 3
provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements B/ SRR M5+

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2010 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in
associates.

The measurement basis used in preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in
the accounting policies set out below:

- investment properties (note 2(h));

= financial instruments classified as trading, financial assets
designated at fair value through profit or loss or available-
for-sale securities (note 2(f)); and

- derivative financial instruments (note 2(g)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
note 44.

2.
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Notes to the financial statements B 7S8R XM 5F

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists
when the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account. An investment
in a subsidiary is consolidated from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and any unrealised profits arising
from intragroup transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealized gains but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of the net assets
of subsidiaries attributable to interests that are not owned by
the Group, whether directly or indirectly through subsidiaries.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
balance sheet within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated income statement and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an allocation of the
total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders
of the Company. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interest either at fair
value or at their proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

Where losses applicable to the non-controlling shareholders
exceed their interest in the equity of a subsidiary, the excess,
and any further losses applicable to the non-controlling
shareholders, are charged against the Group’s interest except
to the extent that the non-controlling shareholder has a binding
obligation to, and is able to, make additional investment to
cover the losses. If the subsidiary subsequently reports profits,
the Group’s interest is allocated all such profit until the non-
controlling’s share of losses previously absorbed by the Group
has been recovered.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset (see note 2(f)) or when appropriate, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled
entity (see note 2(d)).

2.
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Notes to the financial statements B/ SRR M5+

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

In the Company’s balance sheet, an investment in a subsidiary is
stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(m)), unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale) (see note 2(z)).

Associates and jointly controlled entities

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
its management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

A jointly controlled entity is an entity which operates under a
contractual arrangement between the Group or the Company
and other parties, where the contractual arrangement
establishes that the Group or the Company and one or more
of the other parties share joint control over economic activity of
the entity.

An investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity is
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under
the equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale
(see note 2(z)). Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post
acquisition change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net
assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment (notes
2(e) and 2 (m)). The Group’s share of the post acquisition, post-
tax results of the investees and any impairment losses for the
year are recognised in the consolidated income statement,
whereas the Group’s share of post-acquisition post-tax items of
the investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate or the jointly controlled entity, the Group’s interest is
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest in the investee is
the carrying amount of the investment under the equity method
together with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or the
jointly controlled entity.

2.
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Notes to the financial statements B 7S8R XM 5F

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

(e)

Associates and jointly controlled entities (continued)
Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and jointly controlled
entities are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate or joint control over a jointly controlled entity,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence or joint control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(f)) or, when
appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in
an associate.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in associates
and jointly controlled entities are stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(m)), unless it is classified as held for sale or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale (see
note 2(z)).

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of:

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquireee and the fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(i)  the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated to each
cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination
and is tested annually for impairment (see note 2(m)). In respect
of associates or jointly controlled entities, the carrying amount
of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the interest in
the associate or jointly controlled entity and the investment as
a whole is tested for impairment whenever there is objective
evidence of impairment (note 2 (m)).

2.

(d)

(e)
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Notes to the financial statements B/ SRR M5+

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

(f)

Goodwill (continued)

On disposal of a cash generating unit, an associate or a jointly
controlled entity during the year, any attributable amount of
purchased goodwill is included in the calculation of the gain or
loss on disposal.

Goodwill on acquisitions that occurred prior to 1 January 2001
was eliminated against goodwill reserves. Such goodwill is
released from goodwill reserves to retained earnings when all
or part of the business to which the goodwill is related to is
disposed.

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s and the Company’s policies for investments
in debt and equity securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities, are as
follows:

Trading debt and equity securities are acquired or incurred
principally for the purpose of trading, or are part of a portfolio of
identified debt and equity securities that are managed together
and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking.

Investments in debt and equity securities are designated at fair
value through profit or loss upon initial recognition when these
financial instruments are managed, evaluated and reported
internally on a fair value basis, or the designation eliminates
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would
otherwise arise.

Debt and equity securities under this category are carried at fair
value and are not generally allowed to be reclassified into or out
of this category while held or issued. Changes in the fair value
are included in the income statement in the period in which they
arise. Upon disposal or repurchase, the difference between the
net sale proceeds or the net payment and the carrying value is
included in the income statement.
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Notes to the financial statements B 7S8R XM 5F

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(9)

Other investments in debt and equity securities (continued)
Other investments in debt and equity securities are classified
as available-for-sale securities and are initially recognised at
fair value plus attributable transaction costs. At each balance
sheet date the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant gain
or loss being recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the investment revaluation
reserve, except for impairment losses (see note 2(m)) and, in
the case of monetary items such as debt securities, foreign
exchange gains and losses which are recognised directly in
profit or loss. Where these investments are interest-bearing,
interest calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in profit or loss. When these investments are
derecognised or impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.

Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the
Group and/or the Company commits to purchase/sell the
investments or they expire.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at
initial recognition is the transaction price, i.e. the fair value of
the consideration given or received, unless the fair value of that
instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable
current market transactions in the same instrument (i.e. without
modification or repackaging) or based on a valuation technique
whose variables include only data from observable markets.
When transaction price provides the best evidence of fair
value at initial recognition, the financial instrument is initially
measured at the transaction price and any difference between
this price and the value initially obtained from a valuation model
is subsequently recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate
basis over the life of the instrument but not later than when the
valuation is supported wholly by observable market data or the
transaction is closed out.

Investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured are recognized in the statement of financial
position at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(m)).

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair
value. At each balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured.
The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, except where the derivatives qualify
for cash flow hedge accounting or hedge the net investment in
a foreign operation, in which case recognition of any resultant
gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged.

2.
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Notes to the financial statements B/ SRR M5+

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

(i)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note 2(l)) to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. These include
land held for a currently undetermined future use.

Investment properties are stated in the balance sheet at fair
value. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or
from the retirement or disposal of an investment property is
recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment
properties is accounted for as described in note 2(t)(iii).

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating
lease to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation,
the interest is classified and accounted for as an investment
property on a property-by-property basis. Any such property
interest which has been classified as an investment property
is accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease (see
note 2(l)), and the same accounting policies are applied to that
interest as are applied to other investment properties leased
under finance leases. Lease payments are accounted for as
described in note 2()).

Other property and equipment
The following items of property and equipment are stated in
the balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2(m)):

- interests in leasehold land held for own use;

- buildings held for own use which are situated on leasehold
land, where the fair value could be measured separately
from the fair value of the leasehold land at the inception of
the lease (see note 2()); and

- other items of equipment comprising leasehold
improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment, and
motor vehicles.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the
date of retirement or disposal.
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Notes to the financial statements B 7S8R XM 5F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

@)

(k)

U}

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation of
items of property and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

- Interest in leasehold land held for own use is depreciated
over the unexpired term of lease

= Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over
the shorter of unexpired term of lease and their estimated
useful lives, being no more than 50 years after the date of

purchase
- easehold improvements 5 years
- Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
- Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value,
if any, are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets - trading rights

Trading rights are stated at cost upon initial recognition and
they are deemed to have indefinite lives and are not amortised
but are tested for impairment annually.

Leased assets

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group
Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held under
finance leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group
are classified as operating leases, except for property
held under operating leases that would otherwise meet
the definition of an investment property is classified as
investment property on a property-by-property basis and,
if classified as investment property, is accounted for as if
held under a finance lease (see note 2(h)).
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Notes to the financial statements B/ SRR M5+

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
() Leased assets (continued)

(i)

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased assets.
Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease
is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease term except where the property is classified as an
investment property.

(m) Impairment of assets

(i)

Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities
and other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities and other
current and non-current receivables that are stated at
cost or amortised cost or are classified as available-
for— sale securities are reviewed at each balance sheet
date to determine whether there is objective evidence of
impairment. If any such evidence exists, any impairment
loss is determined and recognised as follows:

- For unquoted equity securities and current
receivables that are carried at cost, the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the financial asset and the
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset where the effect of discounting is material.
Impairment losses for current receivables are
reversed if in a subsequent period the amount of
the impairment loss decreases. Impairment losses
for equity securities carried at cost are not reversed.
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Notes to the financial statements B 7S8R XM 5F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. FEETBER®E)
(m) Impairment of assets (continued) (m) EERMEEXE)
() Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities () ﬁa%ﬁﬁ/f»’% ZESIKEREMEK

and other receivables (continued) ez (E)

- For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the — LABERATIERE 2 &R E
impairment loss is measured as the difference E  REBXZREEMNRK
between the asset’s carrying amount and the EE KGR KRR € iR
present value of estimated future cash flows, J?Eﬁ)d(ﬂ < (BNAE 2R 1) 1
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective REEREE:TEZS

interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition of these assets).

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be linked objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised, the impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s
carrying amount exceeding that which would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years.

For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative
loss that had been recognised in the investment
revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or
loss. The amount of the cumulative loss that is
recognized in profit or loss is the difference between
the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment
and amortisation) and current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that asset previously recognised
in profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss
in respect of available-for-sale equity securities
are not reversed through profit or loss. Any
subsequent increase in the fair value of such assets
is recognised directly in the investment revaluation
reserve.

Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale
debt securities are reversed if the subsequent
increase in fair value can be objectively related to
an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised. Reversals of impairment losses in such
circumstances are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the financial statements B/ SRR M5+

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at each balance sheet date to identify indications that the
following assets may be impaired or, except in the case
of goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no

longer exists or may have decreased:

Property and equipment;

- Pre-paid interests in leasehold land classified as

being held under an operating lease;

- Intangible assets;

- Investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly
controlled entities (except for those classified as
held for sale or included in a disposal group that is

classified as held for sale); and

Goodwill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible
assets that are not yet available for use and intangible
assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any

indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the assets. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-

generating unit).
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Notes to the financial statements B 7S8R XM 5F

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m)

(n)

(0)

Impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)
= Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognized
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwiill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of
units) and then to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs to sell, or value in use, if determinable.

- Reversals of impairment losses
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

Accounts receivable and other receivables

Accounts receivable and other receivables are initially
recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts (see note
2(m)), except where the receivables are interest-free loans
made to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or
the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases,
the receivables are stated at cost less impairment losses for
bad and doubtful debts (see note 2(m)).

Accounts payable and other payables

Accounts payable and other payables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.

2.
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Notes to the financial statements B/ SRR M5+

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

(a)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
consolidated cash flow statement.

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution plans and the cost of non—
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(i) Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in an option premium reserve within equity. The
fair value is measured at grant date using the binomial
option pricing model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options,
the total estimated fair value of the share options is
spread over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.
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Notes to the financial statements B 7S8R XM 5F

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

()

Employee benefits (continued)

(i) Share-based payments (continued)
During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior year is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the
year of the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the option premium reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of share options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the option premium reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the
Company’s shares. The equity amount is recognised
in the option premium reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium
account) or the option expires (when it is released directly
to retained profits).

(i) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is
without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movement
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purpose and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax
credits.

2.
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Notes to the financial statements B/ SRR M5+

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The
same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credlits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax
loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwiill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to
the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the
case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they
will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

2.

FTESHBER(E)
N FEBi(E)
Br T RLLEBRABIIMERIN - FIBIRLE

IR A B R ARRAREA ERBUE M T 1A
EHMREHAEES THER - REB
FERRTUG A A IR A AT IR R 1 2=
RE|BREHABEHR - BERT
ZEARMEREZROR  BREE
RABNFR—MEHEARERTER
AR IR ERIEIARZ A HIH 2 B 1EE
ROl A R LR A BZEEHRIRE
EELENBIERIAKESRE T - HHER
e AR HI RS AT TR A I 2 R
BXEBARERANAENRIES R RE
ARBRIETR IR R ERER - Bl - tER
Rl — TR R ER T E RS - AR TERT
R IR AR Z R IE S R Rl 2 e
B SRTAREER

EARPIIMERT - MERELEHIRE
EREBENEREERBENAHHRN
BE - MR ER T E ST RER
BaENHEERBBE(BTEREAH
H—&n)  REBEREMBATNG
RMEZR  BERRERMS @ NHBA
ANER B R % = R B RO R R 1 % 22
RAER BRI GEE - Mt nkE
RiE  BRIFZEREARARA AL
B o

EREEHRIAN S ERIEZEENE
ERARE(E BRI E R AT
REGE A B AR ER B AR
EE 8 RERREERBBEER
W ©

REER - BRERAEENRAS A
BHTRAR - WIREINBA RS R
i N A B SR AR BT 75 M) 28 T PAFIRL ©
HRERER IR B EA N AR R R
RS ERPLS AR - BT O -

AR AUE SHEMERINI SRR R
BT B R A RS o



Notes to the financial statements B 7S8R XM 5F

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r)

(s)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against
current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.

Dividend and interest income received by the Company or
the Group may be subject to withholding tax imposed in the
country of origin. Dividend and interest income is recorded
gross of such taxes and the corresponding withholding tax is
recognised as tax expense.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group or the Company has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated
at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

2.
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Notes to the financial statements B SRR 5F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

(u)

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if
applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in
profit or loss as follows:

(i) Brokerage commission and service income
Brokerage commission and service income is recognised
on a trade date basis when the relevant transactions are
executed and related services are provided.

(i)  Sale of trading securities
Gains or losses on sale of trading securities are
recognised on a trade date basis when the relevant
transactions are executed.

(i) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income
in the accounting period in which they are earned.

(iv)  Dividend income
Dividend income from listed investments is recognised
when the share price of the investment goes ex-dividend.
Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

(v)  Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss, except those arising from foreign
currency borrowings used to hedge a net investment in a
foreign operation which are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u)

(v)

(w)

Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Non— monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
determined.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Balance
sheet items, including goodwill arising on consolidation of
foreign operations acquired on or after 1 January 2005,
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the balance sheet date. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve. Goodwill arising on consolidation of a foreign operation
acquired before 1 January 2005 is translated at the foreign
exchange rate that applied at the date of acquisition of the
foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss
on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred, except to the extent that they are
capitalised as being directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or
sale.

Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is
considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through one
or more intermediaries, to control the Group or exercise
significant influence over the Group in making financial
and operating policy decisions, or has joint control over
the Group;

(i) the Group and the party are subject to common control;

2.
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Notes to the financial statements B SRR 5F

2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(w) Related parties (continued)

(x)

(v)

@iy  the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture in
which the Group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent, or a close family
member of such an individual, or is an entity under the
control, joint control or significant influence of such
individuals; or

(v)  the party is a close family member of a party referred to in (i)
or is an entity under the control, joint control or significant
influence of such individuals.

Close family members of an individual are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by that
individual in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.

Segregated accounts

Segregated accounts maintained by the subsidiaries of the
Company to hold clients’ monies are not recognised as an asset
in the financial statements.
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2,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(z27 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operation

(i)

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held
for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying amount will
be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use and the asset (or disposal group) is available
for sale in its present condition. A disposal group is a group
of assets to be disposed of together as a group in a single
transaction, and liabilities directly associated with those assets
that will be transferred in the transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the above
criteria for classification as held for sale are met, regardless of
whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in the
subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all individual
assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is brought up-
to-date in accordance with the accounting policies before
the classification. Then, on initial classification as held for
sale and until disposal, the non-current assets (except for
certain assets as explained below), or disposal groups,
are recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions to this
measurement policy so far as the financial statements of the
Group and the Company are concerned are deferred tax
assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets
(other than investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures) and investment properties. These assets, even if
held for sale, would continue to be measured in accordance
with the policies set out elsewhere in note 2.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale,
and on subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are
recognised in profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset is
classified as held for sale, or is included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale, the non-current asset is not
depreciated or amortised.

2.
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Notes to the financial statements B 7SR ZX M 5F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(z27 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operation (continued)

(i)

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group's
business, the operations and cash flows of which can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which
represents a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with
a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale (see (i) above), if earlier. It also
occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented on the face of the income statement,
which comprises:

- the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued
operation; and

- the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the
measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on the
disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting
the discontinued operation.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Except as described below, the accounting policies applied by the
Group in these consolidated financial statements are the same as
those applied by the Group in its consolidated financial statements as
at and for the year ended 31 December 2009.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group adopted the
following significant changes to HKFRSs. On 1 January 2010, the
Group adopted the revised HKFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’
(‘HKFRS 3’) and the amendments to HKAS 27 ‘Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements’. The main changes under the
standards are that:

= acquisition-related costs are recognised as an expense in the
income statement in the period in which they are incurred;

- all consideration transferred, including contingent consideration,
is recognised and measured at fair value at the acquisition date;

- equity interests held prior to control being obtained are
remeasured to fair value at the date of obtaining control, and
any gain or loss is recognised in the income statement;

= changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that
do not result in a change of control are treated as transactions
between equity holders and are reported in equity; and

- an option is available, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to
measure any non-controlling interests (previously referred to as
minority interests) in the entity acquired either at fair value, or
at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the net
identifiable assets of the entity acquired.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period. None of
these changes in policy have a material impact on the current or
comparative periods.
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Notes to the financial statements 81753z M :F

4. OPERATING INCOME AND OTHER NET INCOME 4. EEWZKEAMZFTUWA
Continuing operations BELSEER

AEFERNHR 2 EE R EBEMFRADNT

Operating income and other net income recognised during the year

are as follows:

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T BT
Operating income = L6
Consultancy and management fee income BHELRE B IREUTA 52,565 16,959
Interest income on financial assets not at fair value #LiﬂTE SAR A EEER
through profit or loss TREERNSWA
— bank deposits —ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ 10,814 7,527
— advances to customers —RPER 129,340 70,659
— unlisted debt securities —JEEmEEES 13,433 16,713
— others —HAb 165 637
Dividend income B WA
— listed investments — EmiRE 156,510 25,847
— unlisted investments —JE ETHIEE 7,671 178,489
Gross rental income from investment properties KREIZEMERSRIA 1,695 1,544
372,193 318,375
Other net income HAth R KA
Net realised gain/(loss) on ﬁ’%?&%%#z%iﬁi%
trading securities =,/ (JBR)
— equity securities Hﬁ%‘%L ) 59,777 (76,792)
— debt securities —(BEEE 1,794 1,464
— derivatives —PTHET AR (25,614) (66,721)
35,957 (142,049)
Net unrealised gain/(loss) on RBVEZRBEERFWE
trading investments (#B%)
— equity securities —REESH (21,215) (62,179
— debt securities —BEE T 1,665 (1,621)
— derivatives —fTAET A 29,963 201,106
Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale securities & {5 E F 4 2 B as 1,057,740 45,216
Realised gain on financial assets designated e TE AREER LA&B%@%{E
at fair value through profit or loss ENemEECER RS 8,543 =
Unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets EE AR BEmARBRATE
designated at fair value through BENESREEEGNAER
profit or loss W, (BK) 245,877 (29,254)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets HERBEEE 28R (120) (149)
Unrealised loss on notes payable ENZEEATEREREBL (29,180) (38,156)
Exchange gain/(loss), net BE R F s, (1K) 11,887 (884)
Reversal of impairment on interests in leasehold land 8 & + 15 {& 515 - 83,388
Net surplus on revaluation of investment properties  JH35% & ¥ 2 & {1918 2,820 9,380
Others Efth 4,494 4,227
1,348,431 69,025

HEQBED Y BEERLER IR LA
HESE  RBEEBA - FIBK A BREK
ABRREEEMERSREN -

Turnover from continuing operations represents the aggregate gross
sale proceeds from disposal of trading securities, service fee income,
interest income, dividend income and gross rental income from
investment properties.



Notes to the financial statements B 7S8R XM 5F

Annual Report 2010

5. STAFF COSTS EIEH
Continuing operations BERSEER
2010 2009
—E-=F T NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Salaries and allowances T & K oEBL 220,559 66,583
Staff welfare and insurance B TEH &Rk 3,804 3,417
Staff training and recruitment 8 T 153 R REE 2,599 388
Pension costs — mandatory provident fund and BIKKA — 8BS R ERER
defined contribution plans =2l 742 621
227,704 71,009
6. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS RERA
Continuing operations %E%ﬁiﬁ
Profit from operations is stated after charging the following: RERFIEMER TIIHER
2010 2009
—EB-2F —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Operating lease rentals in respect of rented premises 3% EELLHER S 9,603 10,154
Auditors’ remuneration ZE AN & 7,364 4,444
Impairment loss on goodwill EERIE - 4,941
7. FINANCE COSTS e
Continuing operations HEREER
2010 2009
—E-=F —ZETNhEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Interest on bank loans RITERZHE 34,775 11,895
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ 8. E=RERSHMEAZAENEHS

EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments: (a) E=EMS:
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 of BIEEBCRA TUEBIYE —F 7~ +— 155
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: WMo EEMEOT ¢

For the year ended 31 December 2010 BE-_E-EF+-_A=+—HILEE

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefit scheme 2010
Directors’ in kind Discretionary contributions Total
fee Fé - 2R bonuses BifstEl -3-ZF
E=ne BOHE g #3 CH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB BT BETT BETT
Executive directors HiTEE
Tang Shuangning EEE - 80 - - 80
Zang Qiutao = - 135 - - 135
Chen Shuang B3 - 1,790 7,000 - 8,790
Tang Chi Chun, Richard Brik - 1,485 3,300 12 4,797
Jiang Yuanzhi (Note 1) E2 (1) - 693 1,500 - 2,193
Non-executive director HHiTEE
Wang Weimin TRR - 95 - - 95
Independent non-executive directors BUHHTEE
Ng Ming Wah, Charles REE 120 197 - - 317
Seto Gin Chung, John AR 120 190 - - 310
Lin Zhijun WEE 120 190 - - 310
360 4,855 11,800 12 17,027
Note: o

(1) Mr. Jiang Yuanzhi was appointed as executive director of the

Company on 17 June 2010.

ETLZRER2010FE6 B17 AW E (T

RERFRITES -
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ 8. EEZRESMEHABZBAENIHS

EMOLUMENTS (continued) €
(a) Directors’ emoluments: (continued) (a) EE=ME : (B)
For the year ended 31 December 2009 BE_EZThE+-_A=+—HLEE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefit scheme 2009
Directors’ inkind  Discretionary  contributions Total
fee e 2R bonuses BIRGTEl  ZTThE
EZHE EMiles HETEA 3 Bt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI ARTT ABTT  E%TR ERTL

Executive directors HiTEE

Tang Shuangning EEE - 70 - - 70
Zang Qiutao = - 9% - - 9
Chen Shuang B3R - 1,385 4,500 - 5,885
Tang Chi Chun, Richard B - 1,460 2,100 12 3,572
Non-executive director HHTEE

Wang Weimin TRR - 75 - - 75

Independent non-executive directors BUHHTEE

Ng Ming Wah, Charles REAE 100 155 - - 255
Seto Gin Chung, John AlfEiRA 100 135 = - 235
Lin Zhijun HEE 100 135 - - 235

300 3,510 6,600 12 10,422




120 & China Everbright Limited s EISEA R B BRA 7

Notes to the financial statements B/ SRR M5+

8. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ 8. E®ERESMEEZAENIHS

EMOLUMENTS (continued) (%)
(b) Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments b) BEMEZEBAE
2010 2009
—E-=F ZETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T BT
Salaries and other emoluments e S E R 4,717 6,554
Discretionary bonus BYIBIEAL 64,266 12,050
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIHEK 59 87
69,042 18,691
2010 2009
—EB-2F —EThEF
Number of directors BEEAH 1
Number of employees BB A 4 3
5 B
Their emoluments were within the following bands: SATS AR T
Number of individuals
A
2010 2009
—E-=F —ETNEF
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 712,000,001 7L E & #2,500,0007T - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 753,000,001 7L 2 #3,500,0007T - 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 713,500,001 7L 28 #4,000,0007T - 2
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 715,500,001 7 278 #6,000,0007T - 1
HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000 758,500,001 7L 28 #9,000,0007T 1 -
HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000 759,000,001 7L 28 #9,500,0007T 1 -
HK$12,000,001 to HK$12,500,000 75112,000,001 7T 25 #12,500,0007T 1 -
HK$16,500,001 to HK$17,000,000 75116,500,001 70278 #17,000,0007T 1 -
HK$22,000,001 to HK$22,500,000 722,000,001 7T 275 #22,500,0007T 1 -
5 B
During the year, no emoluments were paid to the five highest RAEE - ARBWEZNHE TR
paid individuals (including directors and employees) as an e hE AT (REESRES)UR
inducement to join the Group or as compensation for loss of SIEMMASERERE R EE (2T

office (2009: Nil). NE &) -
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9. INCOME TAX 9. MR
The provision for Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2009: EBFNER TR AR E 7 (st FER T & F 1%
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year. Taxation for 16.5% (= FTNF : 16.5%)EFIBAER - /§
overseas subsidiaries is calculated at the appropriate current rates of SNEFZFiER - B AEE G EERR
taxation in the relevant countries. FRE B AR E SR 2 IR TR R -
The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated income RIFEERRAZFHIBAKDT ¢

statement represents:

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Company and subsidiaries AT EKBATR
Current taxation &R
— Hong Kong profits tax —BBNED 25,582 17,716
- Overseas taxation —/BINRIE 240,661 31,434
— Over provision in respect of Hong Kong profits tax ~ — EF & B A1SHE# 2
in prior years A E (180,435) (54)
Deferred taxation EERIE
— Deferred taxation relating to the origination and — R EEEL REIRAS
reversal of temporary differences BHEER IR 46,044 34,947
Income tax expense TIEE A 131,852 84,043
Income tax expense from continuing operations BECEEFTIEER 112,805 68,189
Income tax expense from discontinued operation BRI E TR E A 19,047 15,854
Income tax expense HIBE A 131,852 84,043
Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at MIBEAERTAATN - REBFEHET
applicable tax rate: BZEEOT
2010 2009
—E—=F —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Profit before taxation e 7 AT 2L ) 2,298,809 4,842,628
Calculated at the rates applicable to profits in LRERS AR EAAE
the tax jurisdictions concerned TRAE /IR 651,192 616,063
Tax effect of income not subject to taxation IR R Z WA (397,311) (575,006)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for Az 2
taxation purpose 40,438 42,165
Tax effect of utilisation of previously {BRARIREHER 2T
unrecognised losses (1,872) (1,867)
Tax effect of tax losses and other deductible REER 2 T8 N E b m] R
temporary differences not recognised B = 2R 2 =R
ey 2 19,840 2,742
Over provision in respect of prior years EF B2 EEE (180,435) (54)

Taxation charge HIBE A 131,852 84,043
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 10. SRLEREER

On 19 November 2010, the Company announced that it had
commenced discussions with Everbright Securities Company Limited
(“Everbright Securities”), an associated company of the Group
(note 17(b)), of the sale and purchase of 51% of the share capital of
Everbright Securities (International) Limited.

The Company intends to sell and Everbright Securities intends
to purchase 51% of the share capital of Everbright Securities
(International) Limited. Everbright Securities (International) Limited
was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and is an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company. The wholly owned subsidiaries of
Everbright Securities (International) Limited include China Everbright
Securities (HK) Limited, China Everbright Forex & Futures (HK)
Limited, China Everbright Bullion Investment Limited, China Everbright
Wealth Management Limited, China Everbright Research Limited and
China Everbright Capital Limited.

Accordingly, the consolidated results of the operations of Everbright
Securities (International) Limited are presented as discontinued
operations in the financial statements. The presentation of
comparative information in respect of the year ended 31 December
2009 has been reclassified to conform to the current year’s
presentation.

(@) An analysis of the results of the discontinued operations is

R=ZZF—ZF+—A+hAB  ARAFEMHE
KRR ZH & A B (MEE17(0)) e RAEHAR
BRAR([H KAL)  EREHEEBELKR
B (BB AR A RI51 %MD EITRER °

ARRIABHERAANTEFABBENXAE
5 (BB BR ARSI %HIRG - K ARES(H
F)ERAFNRBEBRESEM - RER
ANEERE2EMBAR - AXEH(BEBR)E
BRARNZENBARBEPEARESR(F
BIBRAR - REDCAINE - MB(HFE)E
RAw] - FEXAEEZREBRAR - FH
RAMEEEBRARF - PEXARNERFAR
BRAREPESABERRAT -

Bt RRBH(BR)ERABZHEEFEA
RPBHRRANERIEREEBER - —F
ENFT-A=1+—B L FENBEZIRI
BAF2HRITAET

() ERIEEEBEARFINIFWT

as follows:
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Turnover S 369,337 268,449
Operating income G 359,910 266,321
Other net income E S 15,696 16,776
Staff costs BTEH (106,531) (77,673)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses ERBHEER (93) (80)
Other operating expenses Hbiez B A (137,479) (104,823)
Profit from operations KERF| 131,503 100,521
Finance costs B 7%5& R (4,646) (5,309)
Profit before taxation Fri A& F 126,857 95,216
Income tax A (19,047) (15,854)
Profit from discontinued operations BRI E TSR AR 107,810 79,362
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

11.

12.

10. BRIEBEEK(E)

(b) An analysis of the cash flows of the discontinued (b) EBRULIELEEBNESRESNWT :
operations is as follows:
2010 2009
—E-=F —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from REEHELEZRE
operating activities A G F %8 29,878 (408,659)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from REZHELT RS
investing activities (), mAFRE (1,226) 956
Net cash inflow from BMEEDELEZRE
financing activities MAFER 6 1
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and fﬁ@&iﬂfﬁ%@i@z
cash equivalents 120, Opid ) %48 28,658 (407,702)
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS 11. RREMGEF
Net profit for the year of approximately HK$170,143,000 (2009: net REERARAR L2 FRAMNH BB
profit of approximately HK$933,613,000) has been dealt with in the 170,143,000 T ( Z T T AL F : LB K

financial statements of the Company.

933,613,00070 2 F & F|) ER AR B 2 B 75
WRAIERE ©

DIVIDENDS 12. RE
(a) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company (a) BEREFERTERAIARRZKE
attributable to the year
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
— Interim dividend declared and paid of — B RE X IHH
HK$0.13 (2009: HK$0.175) per share IRE - FEH0.13
TT(ZETNF B
#0.1757T) 207,276 278,608
— Final dividend proposed after the —REFERREZREN
balance sheet date of HK$0.30 REARR B - BB
(2009: HK$0.20) per share ¥0.307t (=T h
F : A%0.207T) 517,244 318,463
724,520 597,071
The directors proposed a final dividend of HK$0.30 per share EEgERMEE_T—ZTF+=A

for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: HK$0.20 per
share). The proposed dividends are not reflected as dividend

payable in the financial statements.

=+— B It FEIRE RS TS
0.307L(ZZZNAF : B¥0.207T) ° 2
AR BT R B B TS 3R 3R A FE A5 PR

=
/Tn
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12. DIVIDENDS (continued) 12. RE (&)
(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company (b) REEEMERZM BERLE—BK
attributable to the previous financial year, approved and FEHTIARATBREZRE

paid during the year

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
— Final dividend in respect of the — AR E A RS AT
previous financial year, approved and SFEN E—URFEER
paid during the year, of HK$0.20 ZARENEE - BIE
(2009: HK$0.12) per share #0.20L(ZZZ N,
& B¥0.127T) 318,792 190,979
13. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 13. HttzmElE
(@) Tax effects relating to each component of other (a) FHEHRESEHMEZEBRBRTER
comprehensive income 5
2010 2009
~E-3f% —ZTNE
Before Tax Net of Before Tax Net of
tax amount expense  taxamount taxamount expense  taxamount

BARR  BExH  RHRER  WEeE RERL RikeE
HK$000  HKS000  HK§000  HKSO000  HKSO0D  HK$O000

BRI AT BT ABTT BT BT

Net movement in investrent BEEEs RESR
revaluation reserve of REEE
avalable-for-sale securities 3,820,172 (179,756) 3,640,416 3,913,126 (257,219) 3,605,911

Share of investment revaluation FTiRBE AR E

reserve and exchanges reserve BRRERE

of associates 301,498 - 301,498 56,569 - 56,569
Exchange rate adjustments R 93,229 - 93,229 433 - 433

4,214,899 (179,756) 4,035,143 3,970,128 (257,219) 3,712,913
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13. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued) 13. Hib2EKE(E)

(b) Reclassification adjustments relating to components of (b) Hi2HEKSEBHEHSERE
other comprehensive income
2010 2009
—2-2F —ZETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Available-for-sale securities: HHHER 7
Changes in fair value recognised REEDHERATEBE
during the year Eop=d 4,435,417 3,679,941
Reclassification adjustments for amounts BREFAR B RE
transferred to profit or loss:
— gains on disposal — HERAWKES (810,732) (45,216)
— impairment losses —REEX 15,731 21,186

Net movement in the investment revaluation
reserve during the year recognised

AREFHEAMEEBEA
HERNIE B AR

in other comprehensive income SREAE) 3,640,416 3,655,911
14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. BREF
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) BREXEF

EREARRFZIEARNRRREGEF
75 #51,927,207,0007C( = EZNF « 7B
#4,757,641,00070) R ANF N2 21T
1 2 Ik ¥ A% £01,621,599,935% (=

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of
HK$1,927,207,000 (2009: HK$4,757,641,000) and the
weighted average number 1,621,599,935 shares (2009:

1,591,755,527 shares) in issue during the year, calculated as TENF ¢ 1,601,755,5270%) + sHE
follows: T
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
Issued shares at 1 January R—A—BBEETRE 1,592,264,212 1,591,011,712
Effect of shares issued under placement REEFMR 2 & 27,920,548 =
Effect of share options exercised TR RARIE 2 52 1,415,175 743,815

Weighted average number of shares
at 31 December

RItZA=+—HzZ

DT 152 2 1,621,599,935 1,591,755,527
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(b)

Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of
HK$1,927,207,000 (2009: HK$4,757,641,000) and the
weighted average number 1,622,775,933 shares (2009:
1,594,373,315 shares), calculated as follows:

14. BREBF(E)

(b)

SREFRF

SRS R R RN A AR R E(E AT
75#1,927,207,00070 ( ZZEZNEF B
#4,757,641,0007T ) & AZ AR T{HE BB
W T 2 ARG VB TR B M AR () 2 N
HIEER1,622,775,933% (T T 4 ¢
1,594,373,315%) * T EMAT :

2010 2009
—E-8F -—TTNF

Weighted average number of shares
at 31 December

Effect of deemed issue of shares under
the Company’s share option scheme for nil
consideration

R+=-—A=+—HBE%1T

Wz InfETIaRE 1,621,599,935
BIEAR R 2 RRE

g BRRERINeRE

a7 2 IR EK 1,175,998

1,691,755,627

2,617,788

Weighted average number of shares (diluted)
at 31 December

RAZA=1+—HRHZ
JIETFHRE (%)  1,622,775,933

1,594,373,315
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15. FIXED ASSETS 15. EEEE
(@) Group (@) @
Interests in
leasehold Buildings Furniture,
land held for held for fixtures,
own use under own use equipment
operating carried and motor
leases at cost Leasehold vehicles
NREHE #1EBR  Investment improvements HE
BEBRZ EEN  properties HE RE-RB Total
HELH AR bd-UES L] RAE fit

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT BT BT BRI

Cost or valuation: AR ffE -
At1 January 2009 R=EENE—A—H 283,280 36,915 34,700 28,091 50,585 433,571
Additions NE 36,791 15,072 - 6,219 4,741 62,823
Disposals e = = = (8,426) (15,739) (24,169)
Surplus on revaluation BtEE - - 9,380 - - 9,380
At 31 December 2009 RIBENETZA=T-H 320,071 51,987 4,080 25,884 39,587 481,609
Representing: AR :
Cost AR 320,071 51,987 - 25,884 39,587 437,529
Professional valuation EEE - - 44,080 - - 44,080
320,071 51,987 44,080 25,884 39,587 481,609
At1 January 2010 R=E-25-A—H 320,071 51,987 44,080 25,884 39,587 481,609
Additions RE 136,512 17,783 - 4,359 1,456 166,110
Disposals e - - = (95) (2,631) 2,726)
Surplus on revaluation EEE - - 2,820 - - 2,820
Transfer to assets held for sale EINERE - - - (12,700) (12,647) (25,347)
Reclassification ENNE 1,122 178 (7,900) = = -
At 31 December 2010 R-EB-ZF+-fA=+-H 463,705 70,548 39,000 17,448 31,765 622,466
Representing: AR :
Cost AR 463,705 70,548 - 17,448 31,765 583,466
Professional valuation HEE - - 39,000 - - 39,000

463,705 70,548 39,000 17,448 31,765 622,466
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15. FIXED ASSETS (continued) 15. BEEEEE)
(@) Group (continued) (@ H@E(E)
Interests in
leasehold Buildings Furniture,
land held for held for fixtures,
own use under own use equipment
operating carried and motor
leases at cost Leasehold vehicles
NEEHE #1EBR  Investment improvements KE
BFERAZ EEN  properties HE RE BB Total
REL ARSI bi-UIES L] RkAE At

HG000  HKSO000  HKE000  HKSO00  HKE00D  HK$000
BRI B%Tn AT AWTn Mt BRI

Accumulated amortisation, 2B TERAE:

depreciation and

impairment:

At 1 January 2009 RZZTNE-A-A 100,527 4,527 = 12,678 38,298 156,030
Charge for the year REERR 2,434 835 - 4519 4,434 12,22
Written back on disposal HEREE - - - (8,276) (15,717) (23,993)
Reversal of impairment loss HEBAERE (83,388) - - - - (83,389)
At 31 December 2009 RZEENETZA=1-H 19,573 5,362 - 8,921 27,015 60,871
At 1 January 2010 R=Z-ZF-f-R 19,573 5,362 - 8,921 27,015 60,871
Charge for the year NEEFR 4,062 1,225 - 5,659 5,186 16,132
Written back on disposal HERDR - - - (95) (2,370) (2,465)
Transfer to assets held for sale EIHERE - - - (4,943) (7,164) (12,107)
At 31 December 2010 R=Z-ZF+-A=1-H 23,635 6,587 - 9,542 22,667 62,431
Net book value: RHFE:

At 31 December 2010 R-Z-ZF+-A=1-H 440,070 63,961 39,000 7,906 9,098 560,035

At 31 December 2009 RZEENET-A=1—H 300,498 46,625 44,080 16,963 12,572 420,738
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15. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

15. BEIEEE(E)
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(b) Company b) A7
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and
improvements equipment Motor
HE HRE - vehicles Total
MEHEE - EERSE AE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BETT BETT
Cost: B
At 1 January 2009 RZEENF—A—H 95 2,036 2,035 4,166
Addition NE - 8 - 8
At 31 December 2009 RZZEZNF+=A
=+—H 95 2,044 2,035 4174
At 1 January 2010 RZE—EF—-H—H 95 2,044 2,035 4,174
Addition NE - 41 - 41
Disposal & (95) (1,924) - (2,019)
At 31 December 2010 RZE—ZEF+_H
=+—H - 161 2,035 2,196
Accumulated depreciation: ERBITE :
At 1 January 2009 RZZEZThF—A—H 87 2,015 1,364 3,466
Charge for the year REZHR 8 22 385 415
At 31 December 2009 RZEENF+H
==k 95 2,037 1,749 3,881
At 1 January 2010 RZE—ZEF—F—H 95 2,037 1,749 3,881
Charge for the year REFHE - 8 137 145
Written back on disposals o 5 B[] ¢ (95) (1,924) - (2,019)
At 31 December 2010 RZE—ZF+-A
=+—~H - 121 1,886 2,007
Net book value: BREHE
At 31 December 2010 NZE—TF+_H
=t+—H - 40 149 189
At 31 December 2009 RZBTAFE+=A
=+—H - 7 286 293
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15. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

()

(d)

The Group’s interests in leasehold land and buildings and
investment properties situated in Hong Kong and Mainland
China were appraised as at 31 December 2010 by RHL
Appraisal Limited, an independent professional valuer who have
among their staff Fellows of Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
with recent experience in the location and category of property
being valued. These properties were appraised on an open
market basis and investment properties are carried in the
balance sheet at market value.

As at 31 December 2010 had the Group’s interests in leasehold
land and buildings, which were carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation / depreciation and impairment losses, been carried
at fair value, their carrying amount would have been HK$
815,143,000 (2009: HK$433,720,000).

Investment properties of HK$39,000,000 (2009:
HK$44,080,000) of the Group are rented out under operating
leases, of which HK$9,000,000 (2009: HK$8,100,000) are
rented to the ultimate holding company.

All properties held under operating leases that would otherwise
meet the definition of investment property are classified as
investment property.

15. BEIEEE(E)

(c)

AEERBERTPEAEZHET R
FEEREYZEMETBNELEENS
BKMITRHERRAERARR %
FH-—A=t—HZEBEEMR - HES
AEBREMmBEeet ERWHAME
MR SIBRIB IS - ELY
EHURHATESR  REVEREE
BERAHEARK -

N_E—FE+-_F=+—H K&
B 2 HE LR EEMEEBEGRKAR
RIS - WERRE) AR A TES]
B - A|H BRI EE X #815,143,000
TL(ZZTZNF  #%8#433,720,000

JL) ©

K £ B (& 8 /5 # 39,000,000 7T ( ==
TN E ¢ B 44,080,0007T) 2 & E
MEERBELEROMAL - Hp B
#9000,000T (ZEZ N F : B
8,100,0007T) B i F a4 ZAR A R] °

FIAERERNMETEREMENTEE
DRBREWE -

The analysis of net book value of properties is as follows: (d) PEHREFESITET
Group
£8
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Held in Hong Kong RER
—on long lease —ARBIFELFEE 291,790 293,924
— on medium-term lease — ARG A 39,000 36,830
330,790 330,754
Held outside Hong Kong REBUIMEE
— on medium-term lease — AR ERR AR 212,241 60,449
212,241 60,449
543,031 391,203
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16.

SUBSIDIARIES AND AN INVESTEE COMPANY
Investments in subsidiaries

(a)

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, BALANCES WITH 16.
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MEBARRKRE  HENBARAREERA
AIVERERRK
(a) KMIBARRE

2010 2009

—E-=F T NEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT

Investments, at cost WE - RAE

Unlisted shares 3E EH AR 2,272,587 2,922,241
Less: impairment loss SR ORB RS (522,240) (221,829)
1,750,347 2,700,412
The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries THRBESREENES  BEEXARGER

which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the

FENMBRT]

Group.
Percentage of
Particulars equity interest
of issued held by
Place of share capital the Company
Name of subsidiary incorporation Class of shares BRI KARFHE  Principal activities
WEARER B BRAER RAEE  BAREEAL IERE
Ally Point Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100,000 100%'  Investment holding
L HARRA B LRk #%100,0007C REER
CEL Venture Capital (Shenzhen) Limited ~ The PRC Not applicable HK$500,000,000 100%  Provision of investment
KAERAIERE (RU) BRAR  * Taf 7#500,000,0007C advisory services and
investment
R EBERERIEE
CEL Management Services Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100%  Provision of management
KARERERREERAR i Lk BT services
REERRY
CEL (Secretaries) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100%  Provision of secretarial
KAER (WE) BRAF B LRk Vit services
RUHBR
China Everbright Assets Management ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$5,000,000 100%'  Provision of asset
Limited B LiEk 755,000,0007C management services
MEXREEERARAA RCAEER R
China Everbright Capital Management ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$7,000,000 70%"  Provision of asset
Limited B LiEk 7#7,000,0007C management services
MEXREAERARAA RCAEER R
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, BALANCES WITH 16. MiBARIKRE EHBARAREEA
SUBSIDIARIES AND AN INVESTEE COMPANY (continued) TR EFRBRFR( fﬁ' )
(a) Investments in subsidiaries (continued) (a) KMBATRE(E)
Percentage of
Particulars equity interest
of issued held by
Place of share capital the Company
Name of subsidiary incorporation Class of shares BET KAFFME  Principal activities
WEARER RaEE R BAEE  EAEmESN  TEEER
China Everbright Dragon Fund Limited ~ Cayman Islands Non-participating US$5 100%'  Investment
REYAEEESBRAT RS shares 5XTT RE
B2RIER
Participating US$380
redeemable 380%TT
preference shares
F2EENED
i
China Everbright Finance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100,000,000 100%'  Money lending
RERABBERAR B LRk 71100,000,00070 HEER
China Everbright Financial Investments  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 100%'  Investment
Limited i LR 711,000,007 ®E
RE R ABBREBRAR
China Everbright Network Payment Hong Kong Ordinary HK$346.86 67.38%'  Project investment
Limited i TRk 751:346.867T BEARE
B AR S (B RAR]
China Everbright Industrial Investment ~ Cayman Islands Ordinary US$10,000 100%  Investment
Holdings Limited HERHS TRk 10,000%7 BEARE
PERAERRERRERAR
China Everbright Investment Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 100%  Provision of investment
Management Limited Bk LER 7%1,000,0007C management services
PR ARR A ERERAR RERAEERYE
China Special Opportunities Fund, L.P.  Cayman Islands Limited Partnership Not applicable 50%'  Investment
RS BRE% TEm ®E
Everbright Equity Advantage Fund Cayman lslands Non-participating HK$10 59.31%"  Investment
HeEE shares BEA0T RE
B2EER
Participating HK$2,457
redeemable shares D 457 TL

R DEHE
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, BALANCES WITH 16. MIBA TR E s BB AARFEE LD

SUBSIDIARIES AND AN INVESTEE COMPANY (continued) AW ERERR (&)
(a) Investments in subsidiaries (continued) (a) KMBATRE(E)
Percentage of
Particulars equity interest
of issued held by
Place of share capital the Company

Name of subsidiary incorporation Class of shares BRT KAFFME  Principal activities

WEARER By R RAEE  BARREAL EIEER

Everbright Ashmore (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary US$1,000 51%'  Fund management
(formerly Everbright ALAM (Hong Kong) &3 LiEk 1,000%7T EGER
Limited)

(ATF&Everbright ALAM (Hong Kong)
Limited)

Everbright Ashmore Investment Cayman Islands Ordinary US$1,000 51%'  Fund management
Management (formerly Everbright ALAM 5i SEE LiER 1,000%7T HEER
Investment Management)

(FITEverbright ALAM Investment
Management)

Everbright Ashmore Real Estate Partners  Cayman Islands Ordinary US$11,000 51%'  Fund management
(formerly Everbright ALAM Real Estate  HE#E LiER 11,000% 7 HEER
Partners)

(FIT&Everbright ALAM Real Estate
Partners)

Everbright Ashmore Services and Cayman lslands Ordinary US$1,000 51%'  Fund management

Consulting Limited (formerty Everbright  H22& LiER 1,000%7T EGER

ALAM Senvices and Consulting Limited)
(FITEverbright ALAM Services and
Consulting Limited)

Everbright New Industries Capital The PRC Not applicable RMB200,000,000 70%  Project investment
Company Limited i TER ARE200,000,0007 HERE
RAHERAXRERRAT
Everbright San Shan Capital Management The PRC Not applicable RMB30,000,000 51%  Asset management
Company Limited H TR AK#30,000,0007 REEEERRE
KAZIEEREERERAA
Fortunecrest Investment Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$1 100%'  Property investment
AEABREE  EBR e ES
Goalfield Investments Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary USS1 100%"  Investment
AB4BRER  LTER [ES RE
Janco Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100%  Property investment

ERERERLA &b BBk R ESTES
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, BALANCES WITH 16.
SUBSIDIARIES AND AN INVESTEE COMPANY (continued)

MEBLARRKRE  HENBARAREERA
BRI RARR (/)

(@) Investments in subsidiaries (continued) (a) KEBATREE)
Percentage of
Particulars equity interest
of issued held by
Place of share capital the Company
Name of subsidiary incorporation Class of shares BET KAFFME  Principal activities
WEARER b e R RAEE  BAERRAEAL TEER
Solidpole Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100%  Investment holding
[ERERAF B LiER B REER
SeaBright Asset Management Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 65%'  Asset management
KREBEEEERARAR] &k EER 711,000,007 Rt AERER
SeaBright China Special British Virgin Islands ~ Non-participating US$5 78.90%"  Investment
Opportunities () Limited EBUAREE shares SE RE
BLEER
Participating US$415
redeemable 45FTT
preference shares
R EENRED
i
Trycom Management Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary US$1 100%  Investment holding
ERRBRES  LBR (e REBR
Wealthlink Pacific Ltd. British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary USS1 100%  Investment
EEEMRHEE  TER e REER
Windsor Venture Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary USS1 100%  Investment holding
EERBARES  LBR 1= RERR
Well Logic Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100%'  Property investment
BRREERAA &k LRk Vol NERE
SR B AER AT The PRC Not applicable RMB10,000,000 100%'  Provision of consultancy
g TER AR #10,000,00070 services and investment
Rt IRE
FmESHRRESAERAR] The PRC Not applicable RMB25,462,500 100%"  Project investment
i TER ARH25,462,5007 BARE
A mEEREEREB AT The PRC Not applicable RMB20,000,000 61%'  Project investment
i TR AR20,000,0007 BARE
Everbright Venture Capital Jiangyin The PRC Not applicable RMB218,000,000 50%'  Venture capital
Company Limited
KREFRETIRERAR] i TER AR#218,000,00070 EIERE
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, BALANCES WITH 16. MiBARRE - EEBARARKEA
SUBSIDIARIES AND AN INVESTEE COMPANY (continued) BIWERBER (&)
(@) Investments in subsidiaries (continued) (@) HMEBLARRE(E)
Percentage of
Particulars equity interest
of issued held by
Place of share capital the Company
Name of subsidiary incorporation Class of shares BRfT KAFFHME  Principal activities
WEARER REE R BAEE  EAEmESN  TEEER
KAEREEREER(LR)ERAR  The PRC Not applicable RMB25,300,000 100%'  Project investment
H TER AR%25,300,0007 BEERE
KRR OTE)HEBRAE The PRC Not applicable 1US$100,000,000 100%  Investment
i TER 100,000,000% 7 RE
BENAEEREESREERAR  ThePRC Not applicable RMB100,000,000 100%'  Project investment
H TER AR%100,000,00070 BEERE
(1) Subsidiaries held indirectly. (1) FHEEAEZMEAR -
(b) Amounts due from subsidiaries (b) FEWHERRRIE
Amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and FEUR BT BB A Rl IR R - |IEET R
have no fixed terms of repayment. REEFEERAR -
As at 31 December 2010, the Company has granted six non- RZZE—ZTF+=A=+—H " AR
interest bearing subordinated loans totalling HK$950,000,000 AAERNETHEREERE TRKM
to two subsidiaries which are repayable on demand (2009: & A 7] £ 7% # 950,000,000 7T /& B
six non-interest bearing subordinated loans totalling B (ZETNEF : RETHEEE
HK$949,742,000 out of which HK$99,742,000 is repayable in KB 049,742,000 7T + H B
2010, HK$850,000,000 is payable on demand). 99,742,000 = —FF | - KA
850,000,000 T/ BN & FX) ©
(c) Amounts due to subsidiaries (c) EFHBLRMRE
Amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and ARSNGB SR i i e S
have no fixed terms of repayment. REEFEERAR -
(d) Amount due from an investee company (d) FEREIREABE

Amounts due from an investee company is unsecured, interest
free and have no fixed terms of repayment. The Group had no
intention to demand repayment within one year.

FEM AR R RIFIRHEIER - EEHE R
BEEEERY -  AEEEEN—FA
ERZAREEFA
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17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNTS DUE 17. B ARIREREW (B BEE D

FROM/(TO) ASSOCIATES AIFIE
(@) Investments in associates: (a) HEQFRE:
Group Company
&8 NG|
2010 2009 2010 2009
—Z2-BF _TTHNE ZB-BF _"TTHHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BETIT BETT BETT
Investments, at cost BE - BEAE
Shares listed in Mainland China B A TR 1,782,996 1,782,992 1,784,192 1,784,192
Unlisted shares in FE LMkl
~ Hong Kong ~ 40,458 40,458 40,390 40,390
- QOutside Hong Kong —EBAIMDE 18,485 18,489 683 683
Share of post-acquisition reserves LU B4 8,232,433 7,743,942 - -
10,074,372 9,585,881 1,825,265 1,825,265
Less: A
Provision for impairment BERANRELERE
charged against
investment costs (165,996) (165,548) (41,073) (41,073)
Goodwill on acquisition WEERE (682,792) (682,792) - =
Carrying value, net REE  F8 9,225,584 8,737,541 1,784,192 1,784,192
Market value of shares listed B At AR
in Mainland China %A 20,351,040 32,964,028 20,351,040 32,964,028

$E.Ama%%@a&§m¢ﬁmﬁ

The Group’s investment in the shares listed in Mainland China,
classified under investments in associates has a lock-up period
which will end in August 2012.

AEEN—E—TFE+—A=+—8
TEMERRERDT -

(b) As at 31 December 2010, particulars of principal associate of (b)
the Group are as follows:

Percentage of
equity interest

Place of held by

incorporation/ the Company

Name of associate operation Principal activities EATEEREE

BENR BB il B FEXEWK EXREZEOL

Everbright Securities Company Limited The PRC Securities operations 33.33%
(“Everbright Securities”) H BHE

KRS AR AT ([JEARREZR])
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17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNTS DUE

17.
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RARERENBE RTRE

B &
FROM/(TO) ASSOCIATES (continued) (#8)
(b) (continued) (b) (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2010, Everbright Securities HE_Z-—ZTF+-_A=T—HIEF
has recorded an after tax profit of RMB2.22 billion (according B - RIS SISHR BT ARKE22.2
to HKFRSs) and the Group’s share of profit, under equity BrnUREEesrEl]) - RiIEEREsT
accounting method, amounted to HK$833 million. AR E BT R EE8.33BTT °
In 2009, the Group recorded a gain on deemed disposal of E’\_? 7ﬂ¢/\ﬂ +A\B  KKRIEHR
HK$3.18 billion as a result of Everbright Securities’ shares listing EEBRHFR GG - AEBR_ZZF
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange on 18 August 2009. NEA BB B SR ZIEBEA D
BERF -
(c) Supplementary financial information of principal (c) FEBMEATRZBRUMBER
associates
Supplementary financial information in respect of the principal FEMENT 2 @RI HER RS
associate extracted from its financial statements after necessary BN R 2 B IRER  WASHERE AR A
adjustments to conform to the Group’s accounting policies and REREBE 22 BER R BB %E
prepared under HKFRSs is as follows: 8 :
Everbright Securities
H KL
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
Consolidated income statement mEBER AR¥T T ARET T
Turnover EER 5,777,146 7,280,947
Profit before taxation FRIERIEF 3,033,530 4,413,172
Current taxation REEZTIE (808,576) (1,073,358)
Profit after taxation sFi18 &R 2,224,954 3,339,814
Non-controlling interests JEIEARREES (64,846) (76,890)
Profit attributable to shareholders e =Rl 2,160,108 3,262,924
Consolidated balance sheet SEEESER
Total assets BEE 25,015,098 27,578,250
Total liabilities HBE (1,490,659) (4,348,118)
23,524,439 23,230,132
Non-controlling interests Elaagiiyy Ty (185,146) (172,517)
Net assets FEE 23,339,293 23,057,615
(d) Amounts due from/(to) associates (d) FEW(EM )Eﬁ?'“ RRIE

Amounts due from/(to) associates are unsecured, interest free
and have no fixed terms of repayment.

e (REA) Bt
# ﬁ&%&?ﬁiﬂé

NCIEA Ei’]ﬁ'ﬁﬁ}fﬁ
=h
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18.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES 18. HEIZFIBRKRE
Group Company
56 AT

2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-BF —TTHFE C—B-TF —TTNF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BET T BT T BT
Share of net assets [EhFEE 84,863 84,266 78 78

As at 31 December 2010, details of the Group’s investments in jointly

controlled entities are as follows:

BEREMFBWT

REER—Z—ZF+-_A=+T—0 ' £EEZEHE

Percentage of
equity interest

Place of held by
incorporation/ Principal Particulars of the Company
Name of joint venture operation activities issued capital KA TG
HEEHEREE a4 —$:k FEHEWR ERITRAEHE BEXERBELE
Everbright Macquarie Cayman Islands Fund management USD20,000 50.1%
Infrastructure Limited SRS E&ER 20,0003 7T
Everbright Guolian Capital  The PRC Venture capital and RMB150,000,000 50.0%"
Company Limited & investment advisory AR #150,000,0007T
KRR F IR E BIZIRE RIR B R
BRAF]
T&C (Beijing) Asset The PRC Assets management RMB8,000,000 51.0%*
Management Consulting BEEE AR ¥8,000,0007C
Limited
AEREULR)EEER
R AR AR
* Held indirectly - HERE
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18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES 18. H[E#Z4|=ERE (&)

(continued)
Summary financial information on jointly controlled entities — the HERESHEZHHETBER —REE BN
Group’s effective interest: 12
2010 2009
—E-=F TN
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Current assets MENE E 85,555 85,211
Current liabilities wEEE (692) (945)
Net assets FEE 84,863 84,266
Income WA 2,468 30
Expenses g (6,005) (945)
Loss for the year NEEETE (3,537) (9195)
19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES 19. BHEERS
Group Company
&8 NG
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-Ef —EThE —E-BF —TTNEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT BETT BETT
At fair value: BAFEE:
Listed equity securities: FTRERS
Listed in Hong Kong RES EM 99,713 331,136 - -
Listed in Mainland China i T 10,884,864 1,765,741 7,757,095 -
Unlisted equity securities I LETREEH 2,276,821 6,676,643 143,295 5,450,600
Unlisted debt securities FEmEREES - 165,097 - =
At cost (i): FRACAN() :
Unlisted equity securities FLmEEES 272,274 - - -
13,533,672 8,938,617 7,900,390 5,450,600
()  The Group has invested in an unlisted equity investment that () AEEZREN—L) ﬁ HERERIIE
does not have a quoted market price in an active market. The EmRER éf Eﬁ TENFE+=A
investment was recognised as available-for-sale securities _+ H - 2R EAEHEEESFZA
measured at fair value (represented by the cost of investment) FEE (KKK ﬁﬁXZlK)ﬁE: cRZE—
at 31 December 2009. At 31 December 2010, the investment TEF+ZA=+—0H " BR(a )’\@
was reclassified as available-for-sale securities measured at ARG HEN S B REZREN S
cost less impairment because (a) the variability in the range of %EK i (o) L it &5 [#] WE’JREﬁ{E
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment; AlREME T RE S BT A KA EE R
and (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the TE E%%ﬁiﬁﬁ%aﬁ%i%ﬁ"*ﬁ?%&ﬁ$
range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating MR 2FOREEE AR

fair value.
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19.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES (continued) 19. BHEERS(H)
Group Company
&5 NG
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-ZF —TThE i St 223 —TTNEF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BB BETT BETT
Fair value of individually impaired B ERRERN BTN E
available-for-sale equity securities: REE
Listed in Hong Kong REB LT 25,034 53,742 - -
Unlisted equity securities I ETREES 37,145 367,716 - 114,115
62,179 421,458 - 114,115
As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s and the Company’s available- EC: —ZF+-A=+—H  KrEEERK
for-sale equity securities were individually determined to be impaired NAREHRIEEREZSSRERNEENA
on the basis of a material decline in their fair value below cost and ?@%ﬁﬁﬁﬁé‘ﬁizﬁﬁﬁf’ﬁmﬁ MAMKE R
adverse changes in the market in which these investees operated AEMSFERNERLTNEE  AEENKRE
which indicated that the cost of the Group’s investment in them may AN P] RE R EURIE - EZ&Q/WEEEETFW
not be recovered. Impairment losses on these investments were FE2(m)()BY IR R A | BRI pA HE a2k R R RR o
recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the policy set out in
note 2(m)(i).
Realised gains on disposal of certain available-for-sale securities are HNEHHEESFHERNER KR €
subject to the payment of an incentive project bonus to an investment VERT E BN SRS 16 TR & B (2K15E38(0)) °
team (see note 38(b)).
The Group held the following principal available-for-sale security as at RZZE—ZF+-_A=1+—H  XEEHE
31 December 2010: NN EZMHEHIEERES
Effective equity
interest held by
Place of the Group
Company hame incorporation Principal activities AEEEERHE
NCIECE 11 3t B FEEK EXERAIL
China Everbright Bank Company Limited” The PRC Banking operations 4.51%
(“Everbright Bank”) H RITER

B ARITRO AR AR (L ARRT)

(i) At 31 December 2010, the carrying value of interests in
Everbright Bank exceeded 10% of total assets of the Group.

On 18 August 2010, Everbright Bank’s shares were successfully listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange through an initial public offering of 7
billion new shares at an issue price of RMB3.10 per share.

() MWZZ—ZF+-_A=+—8 K&k
HARBITHERAESNAEBRAEERN
10% ©

HARRITAFRAREZAOTTET T 70185
I YR —F—FFA\A+NBEXRLE
B FHENE -
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE 20. A BBEZURBRAZEBENS

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS & E
2010 2009
—E-=F TN
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT

At fair value: BEAYE

Hong Kong listed equity securities BB ETIREES 161,945 92,662
Overseas unlisted equity securities BINE ETIREE S 417,618 178,405
Overseas unlisted convertible preference shares YEINIE T AT B S AR 13,421 4,627
Overseas unlisted debt securities BINE ETHEREE 5 314,672 58,129
Hong Kong unlisted debt securities BEIELMEEZES - 10,807
907,656 344,530

Realised gains on disposal of certain financial assets designated  Zi9IEE AFRBEBFURMEALEEN SR EED
at fair value through profit or loss are subject to the payment of an  ErgERE - @RETESEESE TIREE
incentive project bonus to an investment team (see note 38(b)). B (2Ht3138(0)) ©

In 2009, the Group purchased certain unlisted financial assets HZZTZThE  ANEEESWNE TIEEARBIES
designated at fair value through profit or loss at a purchase price UK AFEEBEMNIELTERMEE @ HESEBHKRK
which was below the fair value at inception that would be determined  REBEHETATEN(GHE - REAEB ST
at that date using a valuation technique. According to the Group’s 5 @ = BRI DIEFEY) R E K N ARIEIBE NFEDR
accounting policy, the difference yet to be recognised in profit or loss  HJE£FEHT :

at the beginning and the end of the year is as follows:

2010 2009

—E-=F —ZETNEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT

Beginning of the year REA] 324,439 -

(Reduction)/addition R4,/ m (210,301) 324,439

End of the year RER 114,138 324,439
During the reporting period, the Group’s interest was diluted due to ERERAN  RZE—FF+— A+ B(&
the admission of new investors as they were admitted at cost plus BICERER) AT - FILEEAKA I EFS
interest and a proportionate share of expenses before the final closing iR fo# s ERARBZEMEE  ~5
date on 16 November 2010. In addition, the Group’s interest was B e A M o It - EREIREARE
reduced by the change in fair value of the financial assets before the Al ZE@THEEREENA T EEBE S

final closing date. ML °
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21.

22.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21. BLEE
Goodwill  Trading rights Total
e 5 At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT BT IT
Cost: AN
At 1 January 2010 and 31 December 2010 RA=Z—ZFF—F—HRK
—T-ZEF+-A=+—H 18,891 1,250 20,141
Reclassified as assets held for sale BENOBEALEEE = (1,250) (1,250)
18,891 - 18,891
Accumulated amortisation and T EEIRER K -
impairment losses:
At 1 January 2010 and 31 December 2010 R=F—ZE&—F—HkK
—E-ZFE+-A=1—H 18,891 = 18,891
Net book value: BREDFEE
At 31 December 2010 —E—ZTF+=A=+—H - = =
At 31 December 2009 —EENFE+_A=+—8 - 1,250 1,250
ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS 22. EFfEX
2010 2009
—E-EF T NF
HK$’000 HK$'OO_O
BT T BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Term loans to customers BHRRFER
— secured — B 551,353 680,820
— unsecured — AR - 90,776
551,353 771,596
Current assets REEE
Term loans to customers BHRFER
— secured — B 561,260 =
— unsecured — FEHHR 94,704 =
Amounts due from margin clients FREFPER - 973,427
655,964 973,427
Less: impairment loss O REERKRERE - (3,933
655,964 969,494
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22.

23.

ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (continued) 22.
Certain term loans to customers are secured by listed and unlisted
securities and leasehold land in Mainland China. Amounts due from
margin clients are secured by listed securities of margin clients held as
collateral. An ageing analysis is as follows:
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BEEERE)
BOBREPEFRIA LT RIELHES RS
BAMAE TR - FREPERIALT
REPRBZIER EMBHEEM - TP
fERHBRER DATEA T

2010 2009
—E-EF —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Repayable on demand BIRFE IR - 973,427
Over 3 months to 1 year =“RBANREE—F 655,964 =
Over 1 year to 5 years —FLNEERF 551,353 771,596
1,207,317 1,745,023

DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 23. EWERR - RERFEFR

Group Company
%8 NG|
2010 2009 2010 2009
“E-ZEF TTHNF —E-BF TThF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BT BET T BETT
Accounts receivable, net RS » FE 205,027 615,663 - =
Deposits, prepayments and Be - BERREAM

other receivables FEYBEZR 310,778 92,662 6,505 6,780
515,805 708,325 6,505 6,780

Details of the ageing analysis on accounts receivables are as follows: — FEWERFEIERE AT T ¢

2010 2009

—E-ZF —ZETNF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Within 1 month —(EAAUT 205,027 613,482
Within 1 to 2 months —Z=_{@A4 - 282
Within 2 to 3 months —Z==18AR - 1,042
Within 3 to 6 months =ZNEA - 34
Over 6 months ~MEA M E - 6,179
205,027 621,019

Less: impairment loss JR O RBEER - (5,356)

205,027 615,663
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23. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued) 23. BWER RERFEMNRE)
As at 31 December 2010, accounts receivable are mainly due from RZE—FTF+_H=1+—H8  EBREZE
brokers. TELMREIRK ©
Accounts receivable of 2009 mainly comprise amounts due from RZTBTNE  BRREREEAREW K42
brokerage clients, investment banking clients, brokers and clearing ¥EBEEE  KBEBRTEE  LLEBPEREHE
houses. These receivables, except for investment banking receivables FTEBRTN - BRIRERITRINER A3 HEREAD
which are due on issuance of invoice, are normally due two days after BN HERE—RBER S EMRKE
trade day. The extension of credit requires management’s approval By EHAE R E R EIERBERREAE -
on a case-by-case basis.
24. TRADING SECURITIES 24, R5RH
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
Current Assets REBEE BT T T T
At fair value: BAYE
Equity securities: REFES :
— listed in Hong Kong — BB L™ 583,515 470,870
— listed outside Hong Kong —BBLAIMEE ETH 74,189 =
Debt securities: BREES
— listed outside Hong Kong — BB AIMEE 13,331 -
— unlisted —JELEm - 16,545
Derivatives: PTAETE :
— unlisted —JEFT 45,165 =
716,200 487,415
Current Liabilities REBAE
At fair value: BAYE
Equity securities: REFES
— listed in Hong Kong —&% L™ - (30)
Derivatives: PTETH :
— equity options — IR ZHAE - (29,027)
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25.

26.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25. RERREEEY
Group Company
8 NG
2010 2009 2010 2009
“E-EF —ETHhF E-BF —TThF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BT BET T BETT
Cash on hand, savings and
current accounts B HEREREP 2,161,367 1,031,315 2,491 205
Fixed deposits with banks RITEEER 2,417,017 1,063,195 - -
Cash and cash equivalents RGEBEEBERZBS
in the consolidated balance sheet RESEEY 4,578,384 2,094,510 2,491 205
Less: Deposits pledged A RERHR 2 ER (450,099) (58,771) - -
Add: Cash and cash equivalents classified fill : SI{EHEEEZHE K
as assets held-for-sale REEEM 366,063 = - -
Cash and cash equivalents in REZEREMERL
the consolidated cash flow statement HEMIREZEEY 4,494,348 2,035,739 2,491 205

26. JFHEFEE
SWEHERBEE T REERA BRI

NET ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
The carrying amount of major classes of assets and liabilities

classified as net assets held for sale are analysed as follows: HE{ELA T
2010
—E-ZF
HK$’000
BET T
Assets classified as held for sale JIEHEEE
Fixed assets BEE&E 13,240
Intangible assets B AE 1,250
Deferred tax assets FREFIBE 200
Advances to customers EFEER 1,198,239
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEUERSK ~ S KT 887,358
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEFEY 366,063
Total assets BB E 2,466,350
Liabilities classified as held for sale JIEHERRE
Creditors, deposits received and accrued charges FEREER - BEdze
MIERE R (823,426)
Provision for taxation FHIEAE M (5,251)
Total liabilities FEN=N (828,677)
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27 Bank loans 27 HRITEXN
As at 31 December 2010, the bank loans were repayable as follows: R-ZZE—FE+-_H=+—H ' RIT7EZH
ERER T

2010 2009

—E-EF —ETNF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Within 1 year —F RN 615,576 -

After 1 year but within 2 years —FEE=F 414,330 =

After 2 years but within 5 years —EEERE - 397,145

After 5 years REM E 62,456 =

476,786 397,145

1,092,362 397,145
As at 31 December 2010, the bank loans were secured as follows: RZZE—ZTF+-A=1+—8 ' RITEFE

T

2010 2009

—E-EF —ETNF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Bank loans IRITER

— secured —E i 358,406 =

— unsecured —JEH 3 733,956 397,145

1,092,362 397,145
As at 31 December 2010, the bank loans of the Group of R-ZE—ZEF+_A=+—08 K&EERK
HK$358,406,000 (2009: None) were secured by fixed deposits $R 17 B 38 ¥ 358,406,000 7T LA BT B A A &Y
of certain subsidiaries. Bank loans of HK$733,956,000 (2009: EHEZERR(ZZZNE &) - MRTT
HK$397,145,000) were unsecured at balance sheet date. BB 733,956,000 L ( —EZ N F B

397,145,000t ) I K -
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28. CREDITORS, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND ACCRUED 28. FE{JERE - CWIRESRFELEEH

29.

CHARGES
Group Company
£ NG
2010 2009 2010 2009
—2-Ef —TTNE b St 223 —ZThE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BT BET T ok
Accounts payable e &R 48,819 468,475 - —
Other creditors, deposits received  EfhfESBEF - B IR S
and accrued charges MIaRRE R 280,158 361,321 2,319 1,938
328,977 829,796 2,319 1,938

As at 31 December 2010, accounts payable are all due within one
month and are mainly amounts due to brokers.

Accounts payable of 2009 are all due within one month and comprise
principally amounts due to brokerage clients, brokers and clearing

houses.

NOTES PAYABLE

REZ—ZTFEF_A=+—H BNERTI2RE
NELHPIRR - LE—EAZAZH -

R-ZFZNE  EUNRREERENRLEER &
P MEEMNRS - YE—EA 2 AZE -

29. BENRE

2010 2009
—E-ZF —TTNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T R T

Unlisted notes issued by the Group, REBFTEEAT 2 IE ETER

at fair value: =g BATEE:

Face value ZHE 147,540 147,540
Less: unrealised gain B RBER UGS (4,245) (33,425)
143,295 114,115

As at 31 December 2010, the Group has issued two notes with a
face value totalling RMB144,950,000 (2009: RMB144,950,000) to
two independent third parties. The carrying amount of the notes as at
31 December 2010 was HK$143,295,000 (2009: HK$114,115,000).
Under the terms of the notes, the Group will pay the subscriber all
the realised proceeds and investment income received from certain
available-for-sale investments held by the Company throughout the
life of the notes. Both notes will mature in 2011.

HE-Z-—TF+-_A=1+—H AEELHETT
MR ZE EES £ ARE144,950,0007t( Z 2T 1,
F: ARE144,950,0007T) 2% B RIE T MALTE
VE=ZE - ZEER-_T—EF+-_A=1+—HH
BRI {E /478 143,295,000 T ( — BB NF : B
114,115,0007T) ° IRIBFZEZE 2GR - AEE
SRARNAFEENEREEESFFTRRZEER
WARKBERSI N TFEEFEE - 25Z2BER
—T——FREH -
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30. INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET 30. REEEBERNHEERE
(@) Current taxation in the consolidated balance sheet (a) REEEEEBRANKTERIE :
represents:
2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Provision for Hong Kong profits tax for the year NEEBBIISTHER 20,768 17,716
Provision for PRC Tax for the year ZRAF [E R B P i ) S R
i) 226,486 15,548
Provisional Hong Kong profits tax paid TS B ABFEH (34,801) (32,8993
212,453 371
Balance of profits tax provision relating to prior years — LAfE S EF5 T8 X4 356,610 536,628
569,063 536,999
(b) Deferred taxation (b) EEBIIE
() The Group 0 AEE
The movements on the deferred tax assets /(liabilities) TEReaEEBERTRRLERIE
recognised in the consolidated balance sheet are as BE/(AE)EHIT
follows:
Fair value adjustment for Accelerated tax Withholding tax on
available-for-sale securities Tax losses depreciation associate’s profit Total
BHHEERSNATERE REgx MEFERHE BENTNBMAEHR &it
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

IF-%F CEIAF OCR-¥E O CIEAE CR-®E ITAE CR-BE IR CR-®E IRNA
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK§ 000
BeTn BNt BRTn B%Tn EMTn BNt BETm B¥Tn ETn BN

At1 Janvary #-A-A (@86311)  (229,107) 6,610 % 24 B3 (6275 RI2%6) (424600 (250298

Creaited/(charged) toproftorloss ~ NFABRZ 2%/ (3tR) - 1 (5,184) 6512 169 9 (41,029) (41.479) (46,044) (34.947)

Credtedl(charged) to reserve REERZEE/ GHR) (179,756)  (257,215) - - - - - - (o788  (257,215)

Included in assets held for sale PREEHERE - = (55) - (145) - - = (200) -

At31 Decermber M=A=t+-R (666,067 (486,311) 137 6,610 - P4 (103764 (273 (168460  (542.460)
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note BEMF2N 2 SR @ A%
2(r), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets, ERBHERERDEELNEE
in respect of tax losses of approximately HK$1,645 16.45BTI(ZETNFE - LB
million (2009: approximately HK$1,536 million), as it is 15.36B L) ERELERIHEE
not probable that future taxable profits against which the FRREBERT—TEREELER
tax losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant RIERMBRNAEFRIBEE 2
entities. The tax losses do not expire under current tax e

legislation.
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30. INCOME TAX IN THE BALANCE SHEET (continued) 30. REEEBRNBIEEEE)
(b) Deferred taxation (continued) (b) EERIEE)
(i) The Company @) AnA]
The movements on the deferred tax liabilities recognised $ AERARNEEREEBERTH
in the company’s balance sheet are as follows: FEET BB EEEHUT ¢
Withholding tax on associate’s profit B N BIFEH TS S
2010 2009
—E-EF —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
At 1 January Rn—A— (62,735) (21,256)
Charged to consolidated income statement 734 ?é?@ﬁn%uﬂm (41,029) (41,479)
At 31 December Rt+—A=+—H (103,764) (62,735)
31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. KR
2010 2009
—EB-2F —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Authorised: EERA -
Ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each FREAEEA 007D 2 @Ak D 2,000,000 2,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRESERA -
At 1 January n—HA—H 1,592,264 1,691,012
Shares issued under placement LB FTET 2 IRE 129,000 -
Shares issued under share option scheme 1TTER P RE 2,299 1,252
At 31 December W+=-—A=+—H 1,723,563 1,692,264
Shareholders are entitled to receive dividends as declared and are BREAEKINE AR ERRANAT ZIRE
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares g;%%ggﬁgﬁx B2 ERE - FrAIRMD SR

rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets. ANEIZ RSB EEHBRIBE LD ZRE -
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31.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(a)

Capital Management

The Group’s primary objectives in capital management are
maximising shareholder return, matching of business funding
needs and maintaining the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. Management regularly, or as changes in
circumstances warrant, reviews and manages its capital
structure so as to maintain a proper balance amongst
shareholder returns, leveraging and funding requirement.

Net assets for capital management is defined as liabilities
generated from operations (includes creditors, other payables
and trading securities liabilities), notes payable, interest bearing
loans and unaccrued proposed dividends, less cash and
cash equivalents. Adjusted capital represents total equity less
unaccrued proposed dividends. The net-assets-to-adjusted
capital ratio at 31 December 2010 and 2009 was as follows:

31.

IRA (48)

(a)

BEXER

AEEEAEENEZAR  B2RER
EHm&EAL  BRAEKESTE - UK
R AEENFERR - ERETHHK
HEBEREviasd REREEARRE -
R BRCRO® - EREESERZH
S P e

TFEENMEEREBNTERRICEESE
MEE(RERMNERR - EHEMNRIEA
kR BHEE)  BNRE  ELHN
BHERRAFHENZERS - WER
ERREFEY - KRB ZER SRR
RERATHREERS - KT —F
FH+ZA=+—ARZZAFHEE
ERHBEARLL R

2010 2009
—E-=F —ZETNF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt BT T BT
Current liabilities mEBE
Creditors, deposits received and JEERFR « B YIRS K
accrued charges JERE A 28 328,977 829,796
Notes payable ANEEE 29 143,295 -
Trading securities RF 75 24 - 29,057
Bank loans RITER 27 615,576 =
1,087,848 858,853
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Bank loans RITER 27 476,786 397,145
Financial liability designated at fair value 57 /A& B 18 bA Sk
through profit or loss AT EENSRARS 38,917 =
Notes payable B ZEiE 29 - 114,115
Total debt EEREE 1,603,551 1,370,113
Add: Proposed dividends o EERE 517,244 318,463
Less: Cash and cash equivalents A HeRRSEEY (4,128,285) (2,035,739)
Net assets for capital management FEEUMEELREE (2,007,490) (347,163)
Total equity A 30,171,471 21,859,176
Less: Proposed dividends o B A (517,244) (318,463)
Adjusted capital RARNER 29,654,227 21,540,713
Net-assets-to-adjusted capital ratio  BEEKABEARLL =R (6.8%) (1.6%)
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 31. BRA(E)
(a) Capital Management (continued) (a) BAEE(E)

As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s liquidity has
strengthened significantly. The addition of financial resources
is mainly attributable to equity capital raised from placement
of new shares and fruitful returns, through divestment and
dividends, from investments. During the year, the Group has
also made further investment over advances to customers,
trading securities, available-for-sale securities and financial
assets designated as fair value through profit or loss. To
enhance shareholder returns, the Group continues to seek new

RZZ—ZTF+_A=+—H  A5E
mBESRERL - WHERZIEME
RK B R EF RS KA BIRRA R 8]
B B BRI AR - £ - ANEHE
THE—FREREPER  RPEFH
BHHERS RIS E ABBREARR
AFEENSREE - AKIREERK
REF AEBEBSEHNNKRES
A - WHERISENE AR ERE -

investment opportunities while maintaining a healthy capital
structure.

ARBBAETINANERRE o &
RAETHEARABTEEERE
THERRRBENRE (F2RMEE
40(b)) + % M A B A 8 A TR R
N—ENABRRE °

The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital
requirements. Certain subsidiaries of the Company are subject
to regulatory imposed capital and liquid capital requirements
(see also note 40(b)), these subsidiaries have complied with
those requirements at all time during both the current and prior
financial years.

32. RESERVES 32. f#E
The Company N |
Retained
Option  Investment Capital profits/
premium  revaluation redemption  (Accumulated
Share reserve reserve Capital reserve losses)
premium ORE  BEER  resene A REER/ Total
REGRE  RERE fiE EARE EERE (EHER) ait
Note HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
(i3 AETr  AEfr  A%Tn AT BT B AETn
Asat 1 January 2009 ZETNE-A-RBE 5,718,230 6,045 1,038,778 (30,837) 2,984 327239 7062439
Shares issued under share option scheme ~ [A18 T 1 2 A E 6,239 (2,008) - - - - 4231
Dividends paid EARE 12 - - - - - (469.587)  (469,587)
Profit for the year REERA - - - - - 933,613 933,613
Other comprehensive income for the year A2 E R - - 2763287 - - - 2763287
As at 31 December 2009 and R-BENEt-R=1+-RRk=
1 January 2010 Z-TF-f-4 5,124,469 4037 3,802,065 (30,837) 2984 791266 10,293,983
Shares issued under share option scheme ~ [[18 T 1 2 AME 7.8% (2,921) - - - = 4914
Shares issued under placement REMBETRE 2,155,335 - - - - - 215533
Dividends paid Bffka 12 = = = = - (626,068) (526,068)
Proft for the year KEREF - - - - - 170,143 170,143
Other comprehensive income for the year ~ AEE2E % - - 2449789 - - - 2449789
As at 31 December 2010 R-E-FF+-A=1-H 7,887,639 1,116 6,251,854 (30,837) 2,984 435,340 14,548,096

The movement in the Group’s reserves has been disclosed in the ASEZFEEBEEEERGEERZERIR

consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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33. NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Share premium and capital redemption reserve

The application of the share premium and the capital
redemption reserve is governed by Sections 48B and 49H
respectively of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Option premium reserve

The option premium reserve represents the fair value of the
actual or estimated number of unexercised share options
granted to employees of the Group recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for share based payments
in note 2(q)(ii).

Investment revaluation reserve
The investment revaluation reserve comprises the cumulative
net change in the fair value of available-for-sale securities held
at the balance sheet date and is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policies in note 2(f).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations as well as the effective portion
of any foreign exchange differences arising from hedges of the
net investment in these foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note
2(u).

Goodwill reserve

The goodwill reserve comprises goodwill on acquisitions that
occurred prior to 1 January 2001. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 2(e).

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises specific allocation of amount
transferred from retained earnings due to regulatory
requirements. It also includes the share of statutory reserve of
associates.

Distributability of reserve

As at 31 December 2010, the aggregate amount of reserve
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company,
as calculated under Section 79B of the Companies Ordinance
was HK$435,340,000 (2009: HK$791,265,000).

33. EzHEERAR

U]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

BRASHER G A EE S
PRI (B K B 7 BB [B] (% 8 2 B PR T SR
ERCRA FHEGIEIA8BIE K 49H1E ©

AREBERE

R EREIRBARDENES
B (M EE2(q)(il)) BRAEEX TEE
ZRBIEN A B BT R HARITRR
IR A FE

REBMRHE
RESHRBEEBREEEFNEE
BERAZAHEZRFER - AR
B EER DM E2MEIE

BE 7 1

[EL BB MEELBREBINER
2R 2 E S ER R E I EE
SNEBEFIREZ ERERLZRE D - B
B 2 BT RIZE SIS TE2(U) °

BB HE

AERKERER T —F— A —A5
WEEFEA 2 e - WEEDIRES:
BRI FE2(e)iR EE ©

BB
ERFBEREAEEE 2 LEREA
MEEDEZ T - thHEIERED1E
Bria N RDEE B Z R

] 2 B
R-B—Z2FF+_A=+—H &2
REB A AHEHI B 79BIGE EH A DR T
IEER 2 R AT 8 A 75 5 435,340,0007T
(ZZTNEF : #B%791,265,0007T) °
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34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS 34.

The Company has a share option scheme which was adopted on
24 May 2002 whereby the Directors of the Company are authorised,
at their discretion, to grant to employees of the Group, including
directors of any company in the Group, to take up options and
subscribe for the shares of the Company. Upon the first anniversary,
25% of the options will vest and the rest will vest in three equal
installments on each subsequent semi-anniversary. Each option
gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the

Company.

(i) The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during the
years are as follows, and all options are settled by physical

delivery of shares:

Annual Report 2010 —Z%—%4# Jg 15

RELERS

ARRREESN _EE_FAA-+WMH
R T —EARBREFENARE 2 RE RIE
AEEETEAARZES - RHBBENA
RBARAZIRE - REBRED H925% 1
RE-BFRER - NBRHRBREERF D=
HREREFFESER 5 REERT
A ARBARE 2 —BCE @A -

() RFERFER R Z G IEE
N o A REEARREY RN AR
U

Exercise No. of options

Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period price granted
& B E B 1TEH TEE RREHE
03/05/05 04/05/05-03/11/07 04/05/06-03/05/10 2.850 15,900,000
05/05/05 06/05/05-05/11/07 06/05/06-05/05/10 3.000 1,520,000
04/07/05 05/07/05-04/01/08 05/07/06-04/07/10 3.135 820,000
27/09/05 28/09/05-27/03/08 28/09/06-27/09/10 3.100 800,000
10/04/06 11/04/06-10/10/08 11/04/07-10/04/11 4.800 6,200,000

25,240,000

Options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before
the option is vested.

7 BRI AT -
i
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34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

34. RESERS(H)

(continued)
(i) The number and weighted average exercise prices of share (i) REEZHE REMEFSIE 217
options are as follows: FEEMTR :
2010 2009
—2-ZF —ETNEF
Weighted Weighted
average average
Number of exercise Number of exercise
share price share price
options IS options IR
AREHE THEE RREHE 171efE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Outstanding at 1 January W—A—B&% 2,881,500 3.498 4,134,000 3.765
Exercise during the year RERNITE (2,298,750) 3.168  (1,252,500) 4.381
Outstanding at 31 December R+—RA=+—H%#%% 582,750 4.800 2,881,500 3.498
Exercisable at 31 December R+=—A=t+—HBa7{E 582,750 4.800 2,881,500 3.498
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for RFE NI 2 R 2 AR E
share options exercised during the year was HK$20.486 (2009: BEH20486 T (ZZEZTNF : B
HK$15.005). 15.0057T) °
The options outstanding at 31 December 2010 had exercise MRZE—TF+_A=T—"HHBRZIA
prices of HK$4.800 (2009: HK$2.850 to HK$4.800) and a fEHE 2 1T1E B AB¥4.800t( ZFEEF N
weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.274 years F : #2850 T A #54.8007T ) R EH
(2009: 0.681 years). IR E D FHIR0.274F (=F
TNEF : 0.6814F) o
(i) Fair value of share options and assumptions (i) RREZAFEREBR

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted are measured by reference to the fair value of
share options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the
services received is measured based on a binominal option
pricing model. The contractual life of the share options and
expectations of early exercise are incorporated into the model.
The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility.
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends as well
as expectation on future period performance. Changes in
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair
value estimate.

B BBEMES RGN A FERER
TREEN DT EE - BERBOHMG
At AP ER(CRBEEERA)E -
RIREN A HFRRIAF 2 RPITER
AR - FEHIRIE TR IR 2R 08
AHE - TRHIR S TVRIBE L I B K TR
AR EBRAETE - TBBARRDN
BHRREBEATE RN TENME
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34. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS 34. BRE&ERXS (4
(continued)

iy

)

(iii) Fair value of share options and assumptions (continued) (i) RBREZATPERER(E)
Share options were granted under a service condition. The RATTER IR TARE RIGIEE - sZI& 5
condition has not been taken into account in the grant date fair WARMAGTERE T HESRBENA
value measurement of the services rendered. There were no FAE o TG 155 B 1% T SR A I £
market conditions associated with the share option grants. The RPN E—TFER _EENF+_A
Company has not granted any share options in 2009 and 2010. =+—HIEFE  AARER TR
-
35. MATURITY PROFILE 35. HifR o4
Maturity profile as at 31 December 2010 R-B—FBFE+-—A=1+—BHEIH
1 year or
less but over 5years or
Repayable 3 months 3 months less but
on demand or less AL  overiyear After5 years Total
B  SEAZIMUT BF AFHULESF 5L Lk

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AETT BETR BETR BETR BETR AETT

Assets BE
~ Advances to customers —EPfEH - - 655,964 551,353 - 1207317
~ Trading securities —R5EF - - - 13,331 - 13,331
~ Financial assets designated ~ — I8 AR BER
at fair value through profit URBATE
or loss ENEREE - - - 584,340 - 584,340
— Fixed deposits —EBER - 2,417,018 - - - 2,417,018
- 2,417,018 655,964 1,149,024 - 4,222,006
Liabilities af
- Bank loans —RITER - - (615,576) (414,330) (62,456)  (1,092,362)
~ Financial liabilty designated ~ — 18 AiBiB1E
at fair value through profit REAFER
or loss MERER - - - (38,917) - (38,917)
- Notes payable S ES - - (143,295) - - (143,295)

- - (758,871) (453,247) (62,456) (1,274,574)
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35. MATURITY PROFILE (continued)
Maturity profile as at 31 December 2009

35. HIRRZDHT (&)
RZZEENF+—A=+—HERIN

1 year or
less but over 5 years or
Repayable 3 months 3 months less but
on demand or less 3MALAE  overiyear  After5years Total
HEER  SEAZUT E1F AFULEESF 5T E B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET BT BT BT BEET BT
Assets BE

— Advances to customers —ZPRER 969,494 - - 771,596 - 1,741,090
- Trading securities -R5%H = - - 16,545 - 16,545
- Avallable-for-sale securites ~ — B HEES - - - 165,097 - 165,097

- Financial assets designated ~ — I8 AR BER

at fair value through profit NRBMAEE
or loss ENEREE - - - 68,936 - 68,936
- Fixed deposits —EHER - 1,063,195 - - - 1,063,195
969,494 1,063,195 - 1,022,174 - 3,054,863

Liabilities =L

- Bank loans —RITER - - - (397,145) - (397,145)
- Notes payable -ERZE - - - (114,115) - (114,115)
- - - (511,260) - (511,260)

36. SEGREGATED ACCOUNTS NOT REFLECTED ON

36. TRMNEERBERZERLRF

BALANCE SHEET

Discontinued operations ER IS
2010 2009
—E-=F —ETNRE
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Bank balances — segregated accounts IR1T#EESR — ERERF 1,009,615 819,338
Receivable from clearing house and futures brokers — fEUZ 45 & Fi7 K B & 7 708 51,387 39,154
Amounts held on behalf of clients REIEHA A (1,061,002) (858,492)
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
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37. BEEAEIXRS

(@) The following transactions were entered into with related parties (@ AEERFRNEGEEANLTZRZZHM
during the year: T
2010 2009
—E-=F —ZETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Management fee received from: HQHXZMIEE :
— a subsidiary of jointly controlled company H[R)E %H?’S‘ﬂ—rﬁ Z—
MEA 8,419 1,197
Rental expense paid to a wholly-owned M REEFE 2 2ENB
subsidiary of CE Holdings (i) NIz k) 5,400 5,400
Remuneration for key management personnel = EEIE A & (BFEARA A
(including the Company’s directors) which is EF)EREEETER]
included in “staff cost”:
— short-term employee benefits — R B A 27,356 19,569
— retirement scheme contributions — IRIRET SR 96 87
)  On 29 December 2008, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the ) RZEENFT+ZA=+1AB -

ultimate holding company (“CE Holdings”) entered into
a tenancy agreement with the Group in relation to the
leasing of office premises to the Group for the period from
31 December 2008 to 30 December 2010. The rental
expense amounted to HK$5,400,000 for the year.

St XAT(H:KEJ)Zi
BI@E AR AL EER] —BH
,n AEBEREMEBR B}
AYE - HBRZFTENF =
A=+—H=_ZFZ—ZF+=A4
=1+H  AFEZHEIHAEE
#5,4000,0007T °

(b) Except as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, (b) KBRTREBmKEEE  BEEAGBRAD
included in the balance sheets are the following balances with BREANTERKEILE
related parties:
Group Company
] N
2010 2009 2010 2009
“E-Ef —TThE “E-EF —TThF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BT BETR BT
Amount due from an associate FE B & 1 Bl SR (B4R
(included in debtors, deposits and RENERT - & R
prepayment) (i FERFA)() 50,817 46,994 - -
()  Amount due from an associate arose in the ordinary () FEREEAR Iﬁﬁﬂiiﬁéﬁiﬁ
course of securities brokerage business, and is %%&%EﬁﬁZE%%ﬁ%‘%?&
unsecured, interest bearing and repayable upon demand. HAEER - e EEJ?’\EIH%

g -
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38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

(b)

Corporate guarantee

38. HARAME

(@) 2ARER

2010 2009
—E-ZF ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Guarantee given to financial institutions in RB R RRRITREE R
respect of banking facilities granted to SRR AR
subsidiaries 1,203,956 567,145

The Group’s subsidiaries have utilised HK$733,956,000 out of
these banking facilities as at 31 December 2010 (31 December
2009: HK$397,145,000). The remaining banking facilities of
HK$470,000,000 provided by a financial institution to certain
subsidiaries are unutilised as at 31 December 2010.

As at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009, the
Company also issued corporate guarantees to certain
financial institutions for trading facilities granted to a subsidiary
which engages in leveraged foreign exchange trading and
other subsidiaries which carry out derivatives transactions.
The guarantee amounts vary depending on the volume of
transactions effected with the financial institutions.

Incentive payment

According to an Incentive Agreement dated and announced
on 25 May 2007, the Group is obligated to pay an incentive
project bonus to an investment team (of which all the individual
members are employees of the Group) upon the realisation
of each project, whether in whole or in part, under SeaBright
China Special Opportunities (I) Limited (of which the Group
has a 78.9% equity interest). The amount of the incentive
project bonus payable under the agreement is equal to 15%
of the profit realised from the disposal of those investments
plus the related amount of advisor fee income received less
certain attributable project expenses and the investment team’s
operating expenses. The incentive project bonus is recognised
on the realisation of the relevant project. As at 31 December
2010, the accumulated unrealised gain associated with the
relevant projects amounted to HK$2,170 million (31 December
2009: HK$1,772 million). If all relevant projects were disposed
of on 31 December 2010 at their fair value, the amount of
incentive project bonus payable to the investment team would
be approximately HK$231 million (31 December 2009: HK$202
million).

R-B—FE+-_A=+—8 AEEET
FRBIFNA LIBTEEER L 2 BHRABE
733,956,000 L ( =TT F+=_A=+—
B : /5#397,145,0007T) ° AR Al — < &t
HERE TR A RIER {2 /5% 470,000,0007T R
TREER-ZE—ZTF+-_A=+—RHIEE
A -

RZE—ZTF+-_A=1+—HBE=ZZTIEF
+=-—A=+—H ' ARARA—BLREEREI
ERXHZHBARRSETETARE A
i B /BB R B B 22 5 BE E R < A A 4R 1 0
R ZEREESRBHESBBBEEZR
SEEMEE) o

(b) FERIR
BER-_ZEZT+tFRA-THBEH -
WHE B A2 BB - AEEER
SeaBright China Special Opportunities
() Limited( A~ £EE35578.9% SOF 2 fi%
®)BIEA 2 2 EMN BERFEAHE
Wk 2 118 B BB 528 4a T 1R & BB
(FTEKEHBRASBEET) - mAE
H2eRBEENZIEE B F R Wa
15% - INAEEERBUA - WHNERAE
HBIEA 2 EEAEERERIEEEKE
BEEMA  HEARDRSESEBEALE
BAEHEER R2E—ZF+=A
=+—H (8B E 2 RERATEE
BERBEAN7TET(ZEZNEF+=A
=+—8 : B&17.72857T) - WETEHHE
BIEER_Z—TF+_A=+—HMX
AFEEE  HEXMREEERRZ
HE MRS RBE231ET(ZE
TNE - B2.02(87T) °
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39. COMMITMENTS 39. A&iE
(a) Capital commitment (a) EXEE
As at 31 December 2010, the Group has capital commitments as R-Z—ZF+_A=+—8  ~x&EE
follows: BB AT
2010 2009
—E-=F —ZETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Contracted but not provided for BB LERETIR 1,111,371 578,997
(b) Operating lease commitments b) EEREER

Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2010
amounted to approximately HK$20,565,000 (2009:
HK$9,183,000) of which HK$10,268,000 (2009: HK$8,006,000)
is payable in the next twelve months. The Group had future
aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases as follows:

N-ZE—ZTFE+-_A=+—H ' &&H
ERIERREY /75 120,565,0007T (=
TR ¢ #)75%0,183,0007T) » EAF
#9751%10,268,0007C ( ZZEZ N4F : 49
7578,006,0007T ) &7 2R+ =& A WA
S EESEE o ANEEIRET AT
ZIRERE - RARRI 2 &ERER
SREBEELAT

2010 2009

—E-=F —ZETNEF

Properties Properties

BE BE

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT

Not later than one year —FREIE] 10,268 8,006
Later than one year and not later —FPEERF

than five years 10,297 1,177

20,565 9,183

(c) Future operating lease arrangement (c) RERLEHEZH

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had future aggregate
minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating leases
for investment properties as follows:

W-F—E+-A=+—F  ££H
RIETE A IRA MR BTN -
RAAERZ SIS R T

2010 2009

—E-ZF —ETNF

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT

Not later than one year —FE RN EI|HA 552 1,186
Later than one year and not later than five years —F A EERE 18 455

570 1,641
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39.

40.

COMMITMENTS (continued)

(d) Off-balance sheet financial instruments
The fair values and the contractual or notional amounts of the
Group’s trading equity derivatives outstanding at 31 December
2010 are detailed as follows:

39.

AE(E)

(d EERERIEEMIA
RZZE—ZF+_A=+—0H  ~&E
AFRZITETAGNZAFERAER
EIEZE- S CP NN

Contractual/
Fair value assets/(liabilities) notional amounts

&/ (BR)AYE CLVESE ]
2010 2009 2010 2009
-2-8F -ITTHE CB-%F _IING
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
BT BETT BT BT
Equity derivatives RRELSTET A 45,165 (29,027 24,877 80,046

The financial instruments become favourable (assets) or
unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in market
prices of the underlying instruments relative to their terms.

Notional amounts of these financial instruments provide a basis
for comparison with instruments recognised on the balance
sheet but do not necessarily indicate the amount of future cash
flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments and,
therefore, are not a representation of the Group’s exposure to
the credit or price risks.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Risk management is of fundamental importance to the business
operation of the Group. The major types of risk inherent in the
Group’s business are credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk and equity price risk. The Group’s risk management
objective is to maximise shareholders’ value and to reduce volatility in
earnings while maintaining risk exposures with acceptable limits.

The Group’s work in the area of risk management is led by the
Risk Management Group and execution is carried out by the Risk
Management and Compliance Department. This functional structure
can assess, identify and document the Group’s risk profile and to
ensure that the business units focus, control and systematically avoid
potential risks in various areas of business. The following is a brief
description of the Group’s approach in managing these risks.

40.

ERTEFRMEE TAZ MHERK
HMEFAN(BE)XTH(AE) -

ZECRTAZZRSBNEREER
BEAERERN AR 2% -
P—EBTRSEARKRAEREZEE
FZETEZBARRFE - At - IH
RERAKE A 2 EEHERER

E@MIE

S EERAEEEKEENER - A5E
X¥BNEEANTCRREEEERR - REE
TRE - FIRRER  INERBRMBERR
AEENRBEEBZESFRREERA
(L BR A BRI R 08 - (B R AR L 122 ol 4
AIEZHKEZRA o

AEENRRERE TERHARER/E -
FENMEEMERETHNRREERER
1T - RARBEERRAEEERRERK
BB ERERR R EARERE LEE L
TERARYHERFER - L EFE - B
NAg AL 2 B AR - ARRERER AR
FIREIE - EHI R R R E M RE B A
MEDERE o A THAKE A EE Lt
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to advances to
customers, trade and other receivables, debt investments and
unlisted derivative financial instruments.

In general, for advances to customers, the Group requires
collateral from customers before advances are granted. The
amount of advance permitted depends on the quality and value
of collateral provided by the customer. Any subsequent change
in value as well as quality, of collateral is closely monitored in
order to determine whether any corrective action is required.

Trade and other receivables mainly arise from the Group’s
brokerage business and investment activities. Receivables from
securities brokerage customers, brokers and counterparties
are normally due two days after trade date while deposits
with brokers/counterparties are repayable on demand. The
Group has established procedures in the selection of brokers/
counterparties with sound credit ratings and/or reputation.

Investments in debt instruments and unlisted derivative financial
instruments are also governed by whether the issuers and the
trade counterparties respectively have sound credit ratings.

The Group has well defined policies in place on the setting and
approval of trading, credit and investment position limits in order
to manage its credit risk exposure and concentration. As at
the balance sheet date, the Group does not have a significant
concentration of credit risk other than the provision of advances
to customers which are secured by residential leasehold land in
the Mainland of RMB600 million (31 December 2009: RMB600
million).

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into
account of any collateral held is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset, including derivative financial
instruments, on the balance sheet date deducting any
impairment allowance. Except for the corporate guarantees
set out in note 38(a), the Group does not provide any other
guarantees which would expose the Group or the Company to
credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of
the corporate guarantee at the balance sheet date amounted to
HK$1,204 million (31 December 2009: HK$567 million).

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from advances to customers are
set out in note 22.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly assess current and expected
liquidity requirements and to ensure that it maintains reserves
of cash, readily realisable marketable securities and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

For subsidiaries with statutory liquidity requirements, the
Group monitors closely their liquidity position. To ensure strict
compliance, the Group maintains adequate cash reserves to
prepare for immediate fund injection if required. If there is a
medium-to-long term operational need, the management would
also consider adjusting those subsidiaries’ capital structure.
Subsidiaries with external equity stakeholders are generally
responsible for their own liquidity management.

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities
on the balance sheet date of the Group’s and the Company’s
financial liabilities which are based on contractual undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
balance date) and the earliest date the Group and the Company
can be required to pay:

40.

SMIAE)
(b) FEBEZER

AREBRREL AR RFER 2 RBE
EFRIEHERER - BAREREHZ
ReWnHEEER FHES  XAK
BXEoRBBREZESREAG -
HARMNEHERPNRESESFR

HREABEERBUERENHE LT -
REBEYERLRBIEANR - SR
BIRETERRE ARERERER
IR - AERIEHEE - inEH
REMEERE  BEEETSZREHE
BRMBRRINERRERE - —RWME -
AN RSN SRR ENRB AR R
TRERDEERE

TR AEBERARBNEEEER
BERBERAERSOZIH B AR
B DRBASOARMBRBESR(BIEA
BHME R - AIREE BHEE)
MEFENMEZH) » RAEEMA
RARPAEE AR REE
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. SRITHE(E)
Liquidity risk (continued) (b) HBELERE)
The Group NEE
2010 2009
3 1 e L
Total Morethan  More than Total More then More then
contractual Within ~ 1yearbut  2yearbut contractual Within 1 year but 2 year but
undiscounted 1year less than less than undiscounted 1 year or less than less than
Carrying  cashflow oron demand 2years 5years Carrying cashflow  ondemand 2 years 5years
amount  AHARE  -Fhd  #B-F  BEWE anont  ANAEE  -ERg BE-F BERE
FEE REREE EIRERA  BORRE  BOREE FEE ReREE  BiGRN BORRE  BOREE
HK$'000 HKS$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BeTn  EBTn BBTn BTn BT #ETr #ETr BETn BT #HETn
Creattors, deposits received  FERERZ - BURER
and accrued charges BRER 328,911 38,911 328977 - - 829,79 829,79 829,79 - -
Trading securties R - - - - - 29,057 29,057 29,057 - -
Amount duetoassociate B2 A A 438 438 438 - - 438 438 438 - -
Amount due to ufimate ERS&ERAT
holaing company iyl - - - - - 63 6 63 - -
Bank loans TR 1002362 1,163,573 668,144 421,079 74,350 397,145 42,387 21,446 21,446 399,495
Notes payable ENZE 143,205 143,295 143,205 - - 14115 114,115 - 114115 -
Finencilliabilty designated 1572 AR B25 ) Rt
at fairvalue through LYEEMERER
proft orloss 38917 38917 - 38917 - - - - - -
1603989 1675200 1,140,854 459,996 74350 1370614 1415856 880,800 135,561 399,495
The Company AATE
2010 2009
o8-%% ZIENE
Total Morethan  More than Total More then More then
contractual Within ~ 1yearbut  2yearbut contractual Within 1 year but 2 year but
undiscounted 1 year less than less than undiscounted 1 year or less than less than
Carmying  cashflow orondemand 2years 5 years Carmying cashflow  ondemand 2 years 5 years
amount  AHARE AR BR-F EEWE amont BUAEE  ERS BE-F B
FEE ReREE ERERR  EORRE  BOREE FEE ReREE  DIGRN BORWE  BOREE
HK$000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§000 HK$'000 HK§ 000
B¥Tn  BBTn BETn BRTR BT AT BT BT #ETr #ETn
Creaitors, deposits received  FERERE - BUTRS
and accrued charges REREH 2,319 2,319 2,319 - - 1,938 1,938 1,938 - -
Amount due to subsiciaries  FERTHBAFZA 806,055 806,055 806,055 - - 22907 2,295,071 2,295,071 - -
Amount dugtoassociate  ERTEEATEE 43 48 48 - - 48 438 43 - -
808,812 808,812 808,812 - - 2747 229747 2207447 - -
Financiel quarantess issued: £ RE(R :
Maximum amount quaranteed  SEERE
(note 38(a) (Fo8) 1,203956 1,203,956 1,203,956 - - 567,145 567,145 567,145 - -
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

()

Interest rate risk

The Group monitors its interest rate exposure regularly to
ensure that the underlying risk is monitored within an acceptable
range. Most of the Group’s interest-bearing assets and liabilities
are on a floating rate basis with maturity of one to three years.

The Group’s interest rate positions arise from treasury
and operating activities. Interest rate risk arises in treasury
management, customer financing and investment portfolios.
Interest rate risk primarily results from the timing differences
in the repricing of interest-bearing assets, liabilities and
commitments. It also relates to positions from non-interest
bearing liabilities including shareholders’ funds and current
accounts, as well as from certain fixed rate loans. Interest
rate risk is managed by the Treasury Department under the
delegated authority of the Board of Directors. The instruments
used to manage interest rate risk include time deposits and
interest rate linked derivatives, if necessary.

In respect of income-earning financial assets and interest-
bearing financial liabilities, the following table indicates their
effective interest rate at the balance sheet date. Assuming
that a general increase/decrease of 0.5% in interest rates
had occurred at the balance date on the Group’s interest
rate exposure, the Group’s profit after tax and retained
earnings, as well as equity, would have an estimated increase
of HK$18,872,000/decrease of HK$6,499,000 (2009: profit
after tax and retained earnings increase of HK$14,362,000/
decrease of HK$6,929,000 for increase of 0.5%/decrease of
0.5% in interest rates).

The above increase or decrease in interest rate represent the
management’s assessment of a reasonable change in interest
rates over the period until the next annual balance sheet date.
It also assumes that all other variable remains constant. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2009.

40.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

()

(d)
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40. €T A%

Interest rate risk (continued) () F=mp(E)
The Group’s interest bearing assets and liabilities are AEFFTEEERBELRIBHNEAEE
substantially at variable interest rate basis. AE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TTNE
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate % HK$’000 rate % HK$’000
BEBRFIEY% BT T BRI % BT
Assets BE
Advances to customers ZEMER 9.4% 710,280 8.4% 1,560,121
Bank balances and cash RITERKIRE 0.3% 4,469,268 0.2% 2,047,258
Debt securities ERES - - 10.1% 165,097
Total interest bearing assets EEFENEELE 5,179,548 3,772,476
Liabilities =Lt
Bank loans BITER 5.6% 1,092,362 5.4% 397,145
Total interest bearing liabilities ELFIEMEELsE 1,092,362 397,145
Foreign currency risk (d SMNERK

The Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk primarily stems
from holdings of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies, leveraged foreign exchange trading
and net investment in foreign subsidiaries and associates.
As most of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities and
net investment in foreign subsidiaries and associates are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars or
Renminbi, the management does not consider there to be any
significant currency risk. The Group has a policy not to maintain
a significant net position on leveraged foreign exchange trading
and the underlying exposure is monitored on a continuing basis.

Overall, management monitors the Group’s foreign currency
exposure closely and would consider hedging significant
currency exposure should the need arise.

AEBEZINERBERKREEREER
BEZER  BETINER S KBS B
RAEEBENRZFRE - AEBARS
DZEWEERABRBINNERRE
BERRFRED KB  ETHA
REHE  ERELTRPETIRE
RINERRR - SEITINER Z - NEE
ZBERTMREARBR 2 FHR  MARH
e BB INE TET X 288 o BLIAE M
E¥HEZERMTAMS - AREES
FEER TZENHAE R AR H &5
BIARIBR I N FEER - FEARER
R F RN AR ZKF o

mEmE  BEEHAREZINERR
EELETNES  CEAFERSZE
HEANINERSREETE DT -
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. SRMTE(E)
(d) Foreign currency risk (continued) (d) IERERGE)
At the balance sheet date, the Group’s exposure to currency TREFIAAEFBREEARBRH Eﬁ&m
risk arising from recognised assets and liabilities denominated BENBEZEXRR  BEEENR
in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to EREHEE R EARE RN jjag‘éﬁ%
which they relate is tabled below: [/ :
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNE
In USD In RMB In USD In RMB
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EY AR® T AR
BETT BETT BT BETT
Fixed assets BEEE - 150 = 416
Investments in associates REE DR ZRE - 9,209,010 = 8,720,521
Investments in jointed controlled HFAEHIEEAA
entities ZRE - 2,553 - -
Available-for-sale securities I E R - 10,799,589 7,363 7,715,127
Financial assets designated at fair value  57E & iRiB 18 DA S
through profit or loss ATEENSREE 285,833 315,046 40,255 142,764
Advances to customers ZPEER 307,629 - 74,648 =
Amount due from associates LN - - - 749,770
Debtors, deposits and prepayments PEUER TR - Tﬁ%&iﬁﬁ%ﬂ 27,964 217,403 193,136 1,248
Trading securities (current assets) REHFH(RBEE) 46,285 - = 16,545
Cash and cash equivalents BeRIREEEY 1,047,333 1,069,240 977,068 21,168
Creditors, deposits received and BRRT - EdiESE
accrued charges RIERER (6,967) - (125,790) (230)
Trading securities (current liabilities) RHFEHF(REBAR) - - (29,027) -
Provision for taxation TRIEERE - (208,353) - (164)
Notes payable ERRE - (143,295) - (114,115)
Financial liability designated at fair value & &i@iBEIARM AT
through profit or loss BENEHEE (38,917) -
Deferred tax EERE - (389,917) - (435,062)

Net exposure arising from recognised & & EﬁEu BERARE
assets and liabilities )Nk 1,669,160 20,871,426 1,137,653 16,817,988
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. SRMTE(E)
(d) Foreign currency risk (continued) (d) IERERGE)
An analysis of the estimated change in the Group’s profit after TROMAEENEEABRRANER
tax (and retained profits) and other components of consolidated BEEARBHIERHIRAIER] e &
equity in response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign B K& @B@ﬁé?é@%lj(&{%mﬂflj)g{
exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure at RiREfEm 4B 20y 2 FasT &
the balance sheet date is presented in the following table.
2010 2009
—%-%f% —ETNE
Effect on Effect on Effect on Effect on
Increase/ profit after other Increase/ profit after other
(decrease) in tax and components (decrease) in taxand components
foreign  retained profits of equity foreign retained profits of equity
exchange rates k% HER  exchangerates HRHik HiER
EzLH/ BRRRE At Xt/ BHERE BB
(F&) Elnye Hreye (T%) bl Hheze
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BETT AR
United States =
Dollars, USD 1% 16,692 - 1% 11,308 74
(1%) (16,692) - (1%) (11,303) (74)
Renminb, RAMB  AKH 5% 43,006 1,000,565 5% 19,096 821,803
(5%) (43,000) (1,000,565) (5%) (19,096) (821,803)
The above analysis assumes the change in foreign exchange MOMBRREREGNEEARRA
rates had occurred at the balance sheet date and had been ?*‘i WEEARASESEENER
applied to each of the Group entities’ exposure to currency FRiFfE RN @\ fsx - FT/E Hoth Al # &
risk in existence at that date while all other variables remain HRTE - EREVNNEHHIERERM

constant. The stated changes also represent management’s
assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign
exchange rates until the next annual balance sheet date. The
Hong Kong dollar and the United States dollar peg is assumed
to stay materially unaffected by any fluctuation of the United
States dollar against other currencies. The analysis is performed
on the same basis for 2009.

BE N E2FEEABERANHEAE
A REREE R AR - BB EX
ﬁE’\J}%ﬁﬁTTﬁI%EREmEME’J&E

2B AR E -
FHARELEATT o
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(€)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from
equity investments classified as trading securities (see note 24),
available-for-sale securities (see note 19) and financial assets
designated as fair value through profit or loss (see note 20).
Other than unlisted securities held for medium-to-long term
investment purposes, all of these investments are listed.

The Group’s listed investments, other than interests in
Everbright Bank (note 19) and Everbright Securities (note 17)
which is listed in the Shanghai Stock Exchange, are mainly
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong and the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange. Decisions to buy or sell trading securities
rest with assigned investment team professionals and each
investment portfolio is governed by specific investment and risk
management guideline. Independent daily monitoring of each
portfolio against the corresponding guideline is carried out by
the Risk Management and Compliance Department. Listed
investments held in the available-for-sale securities and financial
assets designated as fair value through profit or loss portfolio
have been chosen based on their medium-to-long term growth
potential and are monitored regularly for performance against
expectations.

The performance of the Group’s unquoted investments is
assessed, based on the limited information available to the
Group, periodically against performance of listed entities of
comparable size and nature of businesses.

40.
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 40. SRMTE(E)
(e) Equity price risk (continued) () RERKRE)
The following table shows the approximate changes in the TRIBPEAEBENHEZRET(RIREER
Group’s profit after tax (and retained earnings) in response MAREB LT RIELTREEES
to reasonable change in the value of the relevant listed and IR 2 o DTl —EE HFF
unlisted equity. The analysis is performed on the same basis as [R) ELAEHELT ©
in 2009:
2010 2009
—%-%f% —ETNE
Effect on Effect on Effect on Effect on
Increase/ profit after other Increase/ profit after other
(Decrease) tax and components (Decrease) tax and components
inequity  retained profits of equity in equity retained profits of equity
price HRB % HER A price HERHR HER A
RELA/ EFRRE AE R RELA/ BHERE EhE)
(F&) Elnye a7 (T) abillaof7 TE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BET T BETT BETT
Listed equity FRERE
investments 10% 74,426 822,601 10% 51,380 157,282
(10%) (74,426) (822,601) (10%) (51,380) (157,282)
Unlisted equity ~ 3EFTIRERE
investment 5% 16,989 127,455 5% 7,206 328,976
(5%) (16,989) (127,455) (5%) (7,205) (328,976)
Derivative fTHETA
instruments 10% 30 - 10% 7,973 -
(10%) (30) - (10%) (8,047) -
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41.

FAIR VALUES OF FINANICAL INSTRUMENTS

(@)

Estimation of fair values

Fair value estimates are generally subjective in nature, and are
made as of a specific point in time based on the characteristics
of the financial instruments and relevant market information.
Where available, the most suitable measure for fair value is the
quoted market price. In the absence of an organised secondary
market, for most financial instruments, and in particular for
unlisted equity and debt instruments and derivatives where
direct market prices are not available, the fair value of such
instruments are calculated on the basis of well-established
valuation techniques using current market parameters. In
particular, the fair value is a theoretical value applicable at
a given reporting date, and hence can only be used as an
indicator of value realisable in a future sale.

The Group compares valuations derived from models with
quoted prices of similar financial instruments, and public
information available in order to further validate and calibrate
the models. These techniques involve uncertainties and are
significantly affected by the assumptions used and judgments
made regarding risk characteristics of various financial
instruments, discount rates, estimates of future cash flows,
future expected loss experiences and other factors. Changes
in assumptions could significantly affect these estimates and
the resulting fair values. Derived fair value estimates cannot
necessarily be substantiated by comparison to independent
markets and, in many cases, could not be realised in an
immediate sale of the instruments. The following methods and
significant assumptions have been applied in determining the
fair values of financial instruments:

(i) The fair value of unquoted equity investments is estimated
using an appropriate combination of (1) discount cash
flow method to devolve the future value of the business
into a present market value, (2) deducing from prices
recently paid for similar assets and the financial indicators
of the transacted assets such as net book value and
net operating profit, and (3) applying, if possible, price/
earnings ratios and EV/EBITDA ratios for similar listed
companies adjusted to reflect the specific circumstances
of the investments.

41.

TRTANAFEE
(a) ATEEM

RFE[FERRES R T AR IEMA
FATISE RN — R ERREEL - Bt
—REEEH - EETHME * THM
BERFTEATFESERNIE  BER
ARZHERMTE  LEHEFEHERME
ERTARITETR  HRU—(EFHE
BN —Fm5  ARYEFERTSH
B hETANAFESRE—LER
BRMS28HBEEMERNHE - &
FREENE - ATEREERNE—
e BHIROIRREE - FTARTE
RARBERTARER - SRETAT
HHEENER

AEEEKERRAEE S HER
HESBTANBREREARERLL
B AE—TREMEEAMIELH
Eo fERASRTRBERER  TEX
FFARENS SRR T AR ERE
- BEREK - EEHRRER - REE
AR K AN E A R 2= P 1 H BT B B K7
2 MENBRRKRE - ErEHEG
TGRS A FEELBREZE -
FISEV A FHEN—ERESEIBI M5 A
HARE BELLBIAE RHEE (G5 ERE -
ERZEERG T ae 2 m T AR HE
NBREFERFE - AEERA TS
EMERRE - UEBEEZBTANAF
@& :

() FFEMRERBENRFHEMGBRE
BEEWAFERMA()RSIREER
EREB 2 R REEBEKIRT
B QBIHMBRLEEZY
EEEZRHEE M BEEN
FEEERRFEENBSELE
8 EE)EAEIFR MEREE
ERARERANER, B E
REEE SHITERHE
B WIRZIKETA B P B R4 IR
ARSLIERREE



Notes to the financial statements B 7SR ZX M 5F

41.

FAIR VALUES OF FINANICAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(@)

(b)

Estimation of fair values (continued)

(i)  the fair value of derivatives is estimated either using
broker quotes or by discounting future cash flows. Future
cash flows are estimated based on management’s
best estimate of the amount it would receive or pay to
terminate the contract at the balance sheet date taking
into account current market conditions. The discount
rate used is a market rate for a similar instrument at the
balance sheet date. The fair value of an option contract is
determined by applying an option valuation model such as
the Black-Scholes valuation model. Inputs are based on
market related data at the balance sheet date.

Fair value

Unless otherwise specified, all financial instruments are stated
at fair value or carried at amounts not materially different from
their fair values as at 31 December 2010 and 2009.

Fair values of financial instruments are categorised into three
levels of the fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Level 1: fair values measured using quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical financial
instruments;

° Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices in active
markets for similar financial instruments, or using valuation
techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly based on observable market data; and

° Level 3: fair values measured using valuation techniques
in which any significant input is not based on observable
market data.

41.
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41. FAIR VALUES OF FINANICAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 41, BT BA9ATEE(E)
(b) Fair value (continued) (b) 2DFEEGE)
As at 31 December 2010 R-ZE—ZEF+-A=+—H

Group Company
£@ |
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 3 Total
£-R ] F=& At F=R At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETR BT BETT BETT BT
ASSETS g
Avallable-for-sele securities  fE{tAEES 1,675,011 - 11,858,661 13,533,672 7,900,390 7,900,390
Financial assets designated 155 A BRI
at fair value through REATFEE
profit or loss PREE 161,945 - 745,711 907,656 - -
Trading securities RS 669,915 46,285 - 716,200 - -
2,506,871 46,285 12,604,372 15,157,528 7,900,390 7,900,390
LIABILITIES 8
Financial liability designated ~ #57F A B ER A
at fair value through REATBER
profit or loss PREE - - (38,917) (38,917) - -
Note payable ERRE - - (143,295) (143,295) - -
- - (182,212) (182,212) - -
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41.
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FAIR VALUES OF FINANICAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) M. SRIENQITEEE)
Fair value (continued) AR EEE)
As at 31 December 2009 R_ZZhF+-_A=+—H
Group Company
£ AR
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 3 Total
F— k. F= At E=R Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT Yook BETTT BETT BRI Voot
ASSETS g
Available-for-sale 34>
securities 331,136 - 8,607,481 8,938,617 5,450,600 5,450,600
Financial assets ~ 187E AR BER M
designated at REAFER
farvalue through ~ $FAE
profit or loss 92,662 = 251,868 344,530 = =
Trading securities %X 5% % 487,415 - - 487,415 - -
911,213 - 8,859,349 9,770,562 5,450,600 5,450,600
LIABILITIES 8f
Trading securities %2 5 5% (30) (29,027) - (29,057) - -
Notepayable  FEFTZHE = = (114,115) (114,115) - -
(30) (29,027) (114,115) (143,172) - -
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41.

FAIR VALUES OF FINANICAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Fair value (continued)

41, SRTEMNAFEEE)

(b)

The movement during the year in the balance of Level 3
financial instruments is as follows:

AVFEEGE)

RE=FNESB T EESHT :

Group Company
58 N
Financial assets Financial liability
designated at designated at
fair value fair value
Available- through profit through profit Available-
for-sale or loss or loss for-sale
securites EEABBRRN EERBBAEZEMN Notes | securities
it RBRAFEE RBRAFEE payable itk
HEES MEREE AN ENRE HEERS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 January 2009 R=EZAF-A—H 3994640 150,391 - (75,959) | 2,687,314
Purchases BA 781,071 177,268 - - -
Net unrealised gains or loss recognised N2 E Uz A
in other comprehensive income AERZEFHER 3,889,981 - - - | 2,763,286
Net unrealised gains or loss recognised MR & HERH)
in profit or loss AEHRERFSEE (7,630) (75,791) = (38,156) =
Sales & (681) = = = =
At 31 December 2009 R-ZENE
and 1 January 2010 +=ZA=1t-Ak
“Z-TF-H—-H 8,607,481 251,868 - (114,115) | 5,450,600
Purchases BA 1,140,019 341,568 (38,917) - -
Net unrealised gains or loss recognised 7% 1 ias R FERA K
in other comprehensive income AERFRFSERE 4,846,252 - - - | 2,449,790
Net unrealised gains or loss recognised  MEZ &P HEZH)
in profit or loss KERZRNER (6,801) 163,082 - (29,180) -
Sales HE (193,426) (10,807) - - -
Reclassification B3I (2,534,864) - - - -
At 31 December 2010 R-Z-Zf
+-A=+-H 11,858,661 745,711 (38,017)  (143,295) | 7,900,390
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42, NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 42. Z4B&RERNE
STATEMENT
(@) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to net cash (a) BREAIEFELE TS 2HERMHFBHE
outflow from operating activities: HERR !
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZETNF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
BT T BT T
Profit before taxation [ 5 BT 22 ) 2,298,809 4,842,628
Interest income on bank deposits RITFRF B U A (11,428) (8,452)
Interest income on unlisted debt securities JE ETEREBSFE
WA (22,162) (16,713)
Interest expenses FEXZH 39,421 17,200
Dividend income ESNLON (164,181) (204,336)
Share of profits less losses of jointly A L[R2 ) & B 2 7|
controlled entities JES 1A 3,537 915
Gain on deemed disposal of interests in associates  IEEH H EHEE A Al
R EF - (8,175,642)
Share of profits less losses of associates JFEAG B 2N | B AL
&8 (833,456) (1,349,289)
Depreciation and amortisation expenses TEREIEER 16,132 12,222
Realised gain on financial asset designated B AR B IA R
at fair value through profit or loss ANEEENSHREE
EERER (8,543) -
Unrealised (gain)/loss on financial asset designated — 357E AiBiB 188 A iR
at fair value through profit or loss ANEEENSREE
B EE (245,877) 29,254
Unrealised loss on notes payable ENEEALBARER
EE 29,180 38,156
Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEEHREEESZ
securities F s (1,057,740) (45,486)
Net surplus on revaluation of investment properties % & ¥ % & i) F 181(H (2,820) (9,380)
Reversal of impairment on interests in leasehold land  FH & + ) (& [0] 38 - (83,388)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets HERBEEEEE 120 149
Impairment loss on available-for-sale securities HEHIEER S 2RE
EEPS 15,731 21,186
Impairment on goodwill HERE - 4,941
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42, NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 42, #%4&

STATEMENT (continued)
(a) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to net cash (a) KBREARFELETH2HESARLFEE
outflow from operating activities: (continued) HERE : (B)
2010 2009
—E2-FF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Cash inflow before working capital changes LEESEHFIMSMA 56,723 73,965
Increase in advances to customers B & FIE b (627,660) (1,080,162)
Increase in debtors, deposits and prepayments JEUBR TR « &% MTE
FRIE N (752,966) (226,142)
Increase in amount due from jointly controlled JIE g K [R] 420 1) B RS R OE
entities il - (1,197)
Increase in trading securities T AN (257,842) (782,626)
Increase in creditors, deposits received and accrued  FETERRL - EUIES &
charges TEIRE AE N 578,779 293,099
Increase in amount due from an investee company g # 1% A 7 Iﬁi* jju (145,794) =
Decrease in amount due to ultimate JE A B A 4%
holding company AN (63) -
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEENEH (18,278) (14,240)
Overseas profits tax paid EEINEE (30,495) (30,967)
Interest paid ERFE (38,569) (16,545)
Net cash outflow from operating activities KETREEA 2 RE M
JREE (1,236,165) (1,784,815)

TR EE R A RA R

IE%/}ILE%:ZMTJEI( E)
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43. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages and conducts the majority of its business
activities by business units. In a manner consistent with the way in
which information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has identified the following

reportable segments:

° Brokerage — brokerage services in securities, futures, bullion
and leveraged foreign exchange trading, and margin financing

to margin customers.

° Investment Banking — provision of corporate advisory, placing

and underwriting services.

° Asset Management — management of absolute return funds
with key focus on secondary market trading. Investment return
on the Group’s own capital seeded into those funds is included

herewith.

° Asset Investment — asset class specific long term investment
in projects and equities, also targeting the management of
investment funds focusing on real estate, infrastructure and

resources assets.

o Direct Investment — investment in unlisted equity securities and/
or equity derivatives with an ultimate objective of capital gain
on investee’s equity listing or, in some circumstances, prior
to listing. It also includes specific project financing to external

parties.

° Strategic Investment — the Group’s treasury management
operations, and medium and long term investments which are

carried out under senior management’s directions.

° All other segments — which do not meet the threshold to be
reportable and include the Group’s investment in properties and
certain financial assets and liabilities created from corporate

investments.

Segment results are measured in accordance with HKFRS as profit/
(loss) before taxation less non-controlling interests’ share of profit/

(loss).

Inter-segment transactions are priced by reference to normal
commercial rates and/or cost recovery basis. Revenues of all other
segments mainly include gross rental income, inter-segment service
income and investment gain/(loss) from notes payable and certain

corporate available-for-sale securities.

43.
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43. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(@)

43.

2 ERE R (E)

Business segments (a) E¥K2=E
For the year ended 31 December 2010: HE T TE+_A=t+—HItFE:
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
BEEER SRILEEEE
Asset Asset Direct  Strategic Reportable  All other Investment
Management Investment Investment Investment segmenttotal  segments  Sub-fotal | Brokerage  Bamking  Sub-total Total
EEER EERE EERE  RMRE HPEEER  HeAH 0 BEER  RERG It &
HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKSOD  HKS000  HKS000 | HKS000  HKS000  HKS000 |  HKS000
TR BMTT AETn EMTn BBTr RETn BMTn| ATn AT TR | MR
REVENUE A
Operaingimoomefom ~~~ REE=AEKFES
external custmers s 19,463 31,128 156422 150,908 367,916 14211 812193 295247 104663 359910 | 732,108
Derseqmentreenie  AHEEHA - - 473 - 473% 501 5,36 167 2280 2441 s
Operatingncomefrom —~~~ REE=EEF
extemal customers ERNRRAHE
andinersegmentevense  £4E 19,463 128 161,157 150,008 362,651 14868 3717519 | 295414 106043 362,37 130,876
Other netincome from Rag=#%p
external customers Ehha 94728 4“7 1210236 9021 1,374,402 (25971) 1,348,431 1242 3,269 15,69 | 1,304,127
Totd operating incomeand ~ BEUERE
other net income Bhaeg 114,191 H545 1431303 159,924 1,737,083 (11,108 1725950 | 267,841 110212 378,053 | 2,104,008
RESULTS AND $ERGe
RECONCILIATION OF 7324
SEGMENT RESULTS
Segment resuts before non-  SEEZ R AT
controling interests eSS 81,604 3806 1332968 162,749 1,571,347 (23701) 1547646 | 104452 5,078 160,525 | 1,708,171
Unallocated head ofice ~~ RAREIAH
adcoporteeqenses  ROEER (205,619) (33,668)|  (200,281)
Shere of proft less losses of ~ EEEEATER
associte HER 833,456 - 83345
Shere of profis ess osses of - R4 E R
oty controled entites ~ EEE (3531) - (3537)
Proft before taxation BHER 2,171,952 126857 | 2,298,809
Less: Non-controling RS
iersts GS (M) et T4 peam T80 - -
Segment resulfs e 16,287 3965 1090805 163463 1,324,070 (16,174 104,452 56,073
Interest income FIEWA 2870 8 81,554 60114 150,546 3206 153,752 83,659 21 83870 | 2762
Inerest expenses g 6 - 3288 - 3481 TS 4546 - 4646 394
Depreciaton and amortisation & & &R
(Notg] (3F) - 25 4,138 - 4,353 40 5003 % - % 5,186
Imoeirment loss on avaleble- R HERA A
for-sale securities g 8,930 - 2,045 - 11,875 3,856 15,731 - - - 15,731
Note: Certain depreciation and amortisation expenses are included in i BOREREHERSEERD KRN

unallocated head office and corporate expenses.

RAIMEEEAA -
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43. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 43. pEERE)
(a) Business segments (continued) (a) %#B25E(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2009: HEZTTNF+-A=+—HILFE:
Confinuing operations Discontinued operations
i ek 2RISR
Asset Asset Digct  Stategc  Reportable Al other Investment
Management  Ivestment  Investment  Investment  segmenttofal  segments Sub-tot_al Brokerage Banking  Sub-total Total

BEEE  EXRE  EMRE  RERE f9EEER AeAY O e . It At
HKGO00  HKBO00  HKS00D  HKSOO0  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKSO00D [  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000 |  HKSO000
AT AIm Mtn Akt #ETn BETn BETn| AT #ETn BT | B
Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated ~ Restated Restated Restated

&j &j &j| | | &j & & & &j| &j|

REVENUE WA
Operating income from R

extemnal customers W& 2,97 37,406 84,676 165,004 315,733 2,642 318375 20398 4598 266,321 584,6%
Iner-seqment revenue EPEEHA - - 45% - 45% 1Y 5,281 168 1960 21% 7409
Operating income from ReF=£%r

xtemal customers e

and nterseqment UkEED

Tevenue 2,987 37,406 89,215 165,004 30212 3,384 323,656 20,561 47888 268449 592,105
Other net ncome from KBEZ2EF

extemnal customers Bl 51901 (3844 (23631) (10807) 13619 55,406 69,02 16,385 391 16,776 85,801
Total operating ncome £xhaRih

and other net income Fhate 79,888 33562 65,584 164,857 333,891 58790 392,681 236,946 48219 286,22 677,906
RESULTS AND B e

RECONCILIATION OF AYEE

SEGMENT RESULTS
Segment resuts beforenon-— SHERRRHE

controling inferests £ 51615 941 10780 183017 216,363 53532 269,889 81,471 24789 106,260 376,145
Unalocated head offce FARMA

adconodeepensss  RAEER (46,469 (Mos) 753y
Gainondeemed disposalof ~ FEEHERL

Interests i associates DR 3175602 - 3imeR
Sharsof proftlesslosses of  [EEBSEAFRA

ass00ale HEE 1,349,269 - 1349289
Share of pros lss EliRmES

losses o oty BilnEE

controlled entfies (©15) = 019
Proft beforetaaion HHRARN 447412 %26 | 4842628
Less: Non-oontroling RS

interests 19 (3,189) 552 - 244 1499 - -
Segment results k= 51,806 (2,20 11,332 163017 23910 55,031 81,471 24789
Interest income IELON 16,827 15 66,409 12285 95,536 - 95,53 53087 5211 5628 163,784
Interest expenses LS 146 - 11,728 pAl 118% - 118% 5300 - 5305 17200
Depreciaion and amorsafon  TEREHER

o) (3) - B 138 N IR Y - WY % - 0| 45
Impairment loss on avalble-for- BEEEEHEE

sale secuties B% - 13426 7,760 - 21,186 - 21,186 = = = 21,186
Impaimentloss on BEAE

goodhwl - 4.4 - - 494 - 494 = = = 494
Note: Certain depreciation and amortisation expenses are included in i BOMEREHERAEERS KRR

unallocated head office and corporate expenses. REAIRGEEBRA -
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43. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 43. pEER(E)
(a) Business segments (continued) (a) %EHKomE(E)
Other Information HtEx
As at 31 December 2010 RZE—ZFF+_A=+—H
Continuing operations Discontinued operation
RELERE CRIEEEE
Asset Asset Direct Strategic ~ Reportable All other Investment
Management ~ Investment  Investment  Investment segmentstotal  segments Sub-total | Brokerage Banking Sub-total | Eliminations Total
143 E¥RE ERRE RURE APeREE A2 i a8k RERS aif bkt ] ait
HKS'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
BRI i o BT BRI BRI EHIR EHTR o AT BRI BRI
Segment asses A98E 1,319,842 1,581,763 5086210 11665373 20,553,188 1208987 21,842,125 2,433,235 33,115 2,466,350 (117,169) | 24,191,306
Investment n associates N 9,225,564
Ivestment n ointly HREEES
controlld entiies 84,863
Amount diefomanivestee  ENRAATEE
company 145,794
Unelocate head offce FARBMLFR
and corporate asses PEEE 204113
Total assets o2z 33,941,660
Segment iabites Gl 55,816 14817 1,264,963 3917 1374513 243659 1,618,172 818,720 47706 823,426 (17,169 | 2324429
Provison for axation fRER 574,314
Deferred ta fabities EitfEas 766,460
Unelocate head ofice FARBMAFR
and corporate iablties PEAE 102,086
Totalliabities 8k 3,770,189
Addtions to non-curent segment REEAERERHS
asses during the year J8E - 69 5182 - 5251 166 5417 1% - 135 - 5,55
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43. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 43. pEERE)
(a) Business segments (continued) (a) %#B25E(E)

Other Information (continued) HMEH ()
As at 31 December 2009 R-ZZBZNE+_A=+—H

Continuing operations Discontinued operations

HEAERH CRIHERRR
Asset Asset Diect  Strategc ~ Reporable  Allother Investment
Menagement  Investment  Investment  Invesiment Segmentstolel  segments  Sublotel | Brokerage  Banking  Sub-fofal | Elminations Totd

AREE  ERRR  ERRE  RERE NMmER Aend M| BERE REER M| &it
HKPO0  HKG000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00 |  HKG000  HKSO00  HKS000 |  HKSO0O |  HKSO00
BET AT #%Tn B¥Tm AT EMTn R%Tn | R%Tn AT ARTn | AT | BRTn

Segment assets AaE 1475419 5 410643 6572285 12599928 1264106 13,864,084 | 1,505,735 176712 1523407 (5,380) | 15,382,061
Ivestment i associates  BEQARE 8,737,541
Investment in oty LRESEERE

controlled enties 84,266
Unalocated head officeand ~ ZARMATRAE

comorate assels iE 105,381
Tota assefs gEE 24,309249
Segment labilties A8k 6,028 1307 45215 29057 41617 380,494 852,171 466,870 2,981 469,801 (5,380) | 1316592
Provision for taxation REER 536,999
Defered fa fabiltes EHtiEaE 542,460
Unallocated head officeand  RAERHATRAE

corporate iabiities Bf 54,022
Total labilties T 2,450,078

Addtionstonon-curent  AEEREHIGY
sqmentassetsduing AE
the year - 3B 105 - 143 - 143 - - - - 143
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43. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Geographical segments
The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of (i) the group’s revenue from external customers
and (i) the group’s fixed assets, intangible assets, goodwill,
interests in associates and jointly controlled entities (“specified
non-current assets”). The geographical location of customers
is based on the location at which the services were provided.
The geographical location of the specified non-current assets is
based on the physical location of the asset. For intangible assets,
goodwill, interests in associates and jointly controlled entities,
the geographical location is based on the location of operations.

DEWER ()
(b) HEZIE

For the year ended 31 December 2010
BE-R-RET-A=t-HLEE

TREFEHAEERBIATLZ
WAR(NAEE2BEEE - BZE
B BE. ﬁfﬁﬂ?‘%%@?ﬂ 5 N e H
RS BN ((HEEFRBDEE DA
bR 2 EF o B AR IZRE R
WSS - FEIERBEEMEIE
REEBRAEMHE D - BEEE -
[E S e NI E &J‘&‘fﬁ LR4E
B A s IS P B 2

For the year ended 31 December 2009
HE-TTNEtoASH-BLER

Hong Kong  China Mainland Total Hong Kong ~ China Mainland Total
) HER CHI B hE R CH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AU BRI BRI BRI AR BT
Restated Restated Restated
4] &J E2]]
Segment revenue AHBA
Operating income = G
- Continuing operations ~RERERK 175,172 197,021 372,193 202,177 116,198 318,375
- Discontinued operations —BRIHEERH 359,910 - 359,910 266,321 = 266,321
Other net income EfERA
- Continuing operations ~RERERT 92,132 1256209 1,348,431 60,737 (112 69,025
- Discontinued operations —BRIEERE 15,696 - 15,69 16,776 - 16,776
642,910 1,453,320 2,096,230 565,011 115,486 670,497
As at 31 December 2010 As at 31 December 2009
RZB-BE+-A=+-A RZBENET-A=+-R
Hong Kong  China Mainland Total Hong Kong ~ China Mainland Total
- HER ait Bk hE R At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR AR A¥TR AR AETT BB
Spectfied non-current assets EEFREEE
Continuing operations BEQLEEE 548,234 9,322,248 9,870,482 410,183 8,833,612 9,243,79
Discontinued operations BEIHEESH 14,490 - 14,490
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44,

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of these accounts and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses for the years presented. Changes in assumptions
may have a significant impact on the accounts in the periods where
the assumptions are changed. The application of assumptions and
estimates means that any selection of different assumptions would
cause the Group’s reporting to differ. The Group believes that the
assumptions that have been made are appropriate and that the
accounts therefore present the financial position and results fairly,
in all material respects. Management has discussed with the Audit
Committee the development, selection and disclosure of the Group’s
significant accounting policies and estimates and the application of
these policies and estimates.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

() Advances to customers

Advances to customers are reviewed periodically to assess
whether impairment losses exist. The Group makes judgement
as to whether there is any objective evidence that an advance
is impaired, i.e. whether there is a decrease in estimated
future cash flows. If management has determined, based on
their judgement, that objective evidence for impairment exists,
expected future cash flows are estimated based on historical
loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics.
Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of the current
observable data. Management reviews the methodology and
assumptions used in estimating future cash flows regularly to
reduce any difference between loss estimates and actual loss
experience.

(i) Unlisted investments
The fair value of unlisted available-for-sale securities and
other non-trading securities are significantly affected by
the combination of valuation methodologies employed, the
parameters used and, if required, the underlying sample
chosen. The valuation methodologies and the source of
parameters adopted by the Group are discussed in note 41(a)(i).

(i) Tax provision
The Group’s taxation provision is based on management’s
assessment of the estimated assessable profits for the year
taking into consideration tax legislations in Hong Kong and the
relevant overseas jurisdictions.

44.
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SEHhET R A

EREMBEHRRE EEELAEEETE
RUEEHBEHRROBY  HREEEREE
SRNRARBEERBBEREAERZENMEM
BRE  ARTAELETEHREFEAR
ARXHEEBRBEFENMAMEBE - MEX
BERE - BT pE 8 B B2 B R O B
BHRREEEATE - RAMEREMMEE
BIK - BEATRNKBE  AEBEPHRSEH
EHESEMTR - AEER/EELEE
BE  AtESEEEER - BBEHRKRIEE
RFHRRARF BT BARMES - BEE
EEEXZEERBN AN AREEZ S5
RRAMAETHOHIE - EENEE - URBEK
RRMEETEER ©

fEETPSERRMEMEZFRIAT

O  EFEHX
BEPEREPERE E R AR E
EBELDAM NE - NEEFZZ2HEHA
BEMREREAZABERNEERS
AT - AR ACRSIRE PR ©
BEEEREEAEAERENTERE
BEE  ERRBERERRSIERED
BEZAFBRAER - BIEMETESE
KIRET o AEIBRERRRIAR ATHY A
BRENAERELRE - EBETE
E Bmat AIAS R R SRR &R A9 73 /A

BRE - iR EETHEREEREBAZ
EIH)ZHE

(i) FLETRE
FEMZBEHHERFHEMIERFHE
HFZATHERBENXBITRA 2 GE
A ERZBURE(INEE) AT BAY
BZRZE - BRAKBEMRA2GET
TREREUR B FEMTREA1 (@)() e FTFR ©

i) BEER
A BB R AN TR EHER
BRI E S RER 2 BN ADIfE
sHE -
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45.

46.

47.

BANKING FACILITIES AND PLEDGE OF ASSETS
Aggregate banking facilities of the Group as at 31 December 2010
amounted to approximately HK$1,204 million (2009: approximately
HK$567 million). The Group has utilised approximately HK$734 million
(2009: HK$397 million) of these facilities, which were unsecured at
palance sheet date.

Pursuant to an agreement entered into by a subsidiary with its prime
broker, all assets deposited are secured against liabilities due to the
prime broker. As at 31 December 2010, assets deposited with the
prime broker included HK$30,544,000 (2009: HK$129,375,000)
and HK$45,894,000 (2009: HK$175,653,000) which form part of
the Group’s trading securities and accounts receivable respectively.
The relevant liabilities to the prime broker were HK$20,999,000
(2009: HK$6,729,000). As at 31 December 2010, the fixed deposits
of HK$450,099,000 (2009: 58,771,000) were pledged to secure
banking facilities. The details of which are set of in note 25.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements on page 85 to 184 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2011.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements. The HKICPA has
issued a number of amendments and interpretations and one new
standard which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December
2010 and which have not been adopted in these financial statements.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Revised HKAS24, Related party
disclosures
HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments

1 January 2011
1 January 2013
Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 1 July 2010 or 1 January 2011

Amendments to HKAS 12,
Income taxes

1 January 2012

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results of
operations and financial position.

45.

46.

47.

RITEREEREERM
REBR-_ZE—ZTF+_A=+—HZET
ERBEELHEBE1204BT(ZETHEF :

#BHEB.6718 ) - AEERGEEBFERAER
BEA) ABEET 348 - WERTEER (=
TENE  BES97ETT) °

RIE—MBRAREEEBELR T —MHE
4 ENEBSHUABERBRREZELHE
EfER R-_ZT—FF+_A=+—H"
A £ 24840 1) & B B 1575 130,544,000
TAAEEBMHNRZEF(ZEZNF

75 129,375,0007T. ) K& 7% #5 45,894,000 7T f&
WH(ZEZTNF : B¥175,658,0007T) °
ARAEMER T E B L4 A 120,999,000
T(ZZTNEF : B%6,729,00070) > BN =
T-TE+-"A=+—8  BEE#RZTEH
17 5 A7 ¥ 450,099,000 T ( ZEE A4
58,771,0007T) ° Zrf B R &R HIFE25 -

MR A A
REEMBBRRNESBEISSGEERZ
f*i_ﬂ_+nam§$§m&&#%
Tz -

EAERBE-_ZT -2 +=A
=+ -BUEFEERERZIER - #
HARBEZIRESE
EIHERAEZMAYA - BESFMRER
i 7 ZIRERT - FRENFRE  BtEE
R IRERHRERBE T —ZF+—
A=t —BLFERRER - B IFHRE
R ERRIA

f=pll
HUBRBER
RIETEB G LR —F—4F—A—H
BREALERE
BB HREAERINE - —=%—Hf—H
CHTA
—ZT-TFEEHM —T-TFLH—Hx%
BB TR 2R —T——%—H—H
RS EP ST £ —T——&F—F—H
FiIE
AEE FEF A FER]  FEEMFRE
FEEEREEENTE ESHEERA
FRNZEER] ~ FZEMF R EYAREE D

EELHBRRARBEATE -
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RESULTS B
For the years ended
BETIBEHZEE
31.12.2006 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2010
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT BT BT T
Restated
El
Turnover o 2,796,909 4,584,025 4,143,448 3,556,973 2,214,071
Revenue (restated) Wzs(E51) 390,739 730,844 343,354 318,875 372,193
Operating profit after finance cost 4% 4 & K| & 81 75 & 472,098 1,632,419 703,379 223,396 1,342,033
Gain on deemed disposal of FEEHE
interest in an associate kN A AR - 924,503 - 3,175,642 -
Share of profits less losses of FE1GEEE A R
associates B E e 538,194 2,906,226 480,185 1,349,289 833,456
Share of profits less losses of e FE R
jointly controlled entities ERABNRERE = = = 919) (3,537)
Profit before taxation FrRIERT A 1,010,292 5,463,148 1,183,564 4,747,412 2,171,952
Income tax Fi1E (88,338)  (197,724)  (208,967) (68,189)  (112,805)
Profit after taxation from FREICE TS
continuing operations FRi1& 2| 921,954 5,265,424 974,597 4,679,223 2,059,147
Discontinued operations ERIEREER 79,362 107,810
Profit for the year NG E A F 4,758,585 2,166,957
Attributable to: BB
Equity shareholders of the PIN/NET
Company 878,976 5,005,592 1,014,832 4,757,641 1,927,207
Non-controlling interests JEIEA e RS 42,978 259,832 (40,235) 944 239,750
921,954 5,265,424 974,597 4,758,585 2,166,957
Earning per share (HK$) BRABF(ET) 0.56 3.17 0.64 2.99 1.19
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at
W5 B H
31.12.2006 31.12.2007 31.12.2008 31.12.2009 31.12.2010
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT BT BT BT T
Total assets BEE 8,367,377 20,286,199 15,055,876 24,309,249 33,941,660
Total liabilities BAafR (1,737,210) (2,788,615) (1,565,988) (2,450,073) (3,770,189)
Non-controling interests ElEeie £ (254,847) (1,138,612) (300,795) (873,999)  (2,030,848)
Shareholders’ fund PR 6,375,320 16,358,972 13,199,093 20,985,177 28,140,623
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Particulars of Major Properties FEYEER

Location Site area/Gross floor area Tenure Use
B 1 BEEER FH R
Hong Kong
BB
46th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, Gross floor area of 10,800 sq. ft. Government lease for Commercial
16 Harcourt Road 75 years from 23rd July 1980,

renewable for another 75 years
EREB165 M ETTE10,800F 7R BABEA++ThE /& [EE
RREEH 04612 —hWN\EFELAZ+=B# "

AR thE
40th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, Gross floor area of 10,800 sq. ft. Government lease for Commercial
16 Harcourt Road 75 years from 23rd July 1980,

renewable for another 75 years
ERE16% M ETTE10,800F 7R BAEA++T0%E /& [EE
BREmP 0402 —AWN\EFELAZ+=R"

AR+ thE
Flat A, 27/F, 1 Star Street, Wanchai Gross floor area of 655 sq. ft. Government lease for Residential

75 years from 22nd August 1928
extended for another 75 years

BFEE—527A BEEHEIR655T AR BAEA++T0%E /& FE
—NZN\ENAZ+ZHE -
AR+ thE
Flat H, 6th Floor, Gross floor area of 1,096 sq. ft. Government lease from Residential
Tower 10 South Horizons, Ap Lei Chau 28th January 1988 to
31st March 2040
BRI BESEERT,006 T AR BRI — N \N\F-AZ+\BE £
Blats “ENEE=A=1—H
FTE6IEHE
Flat G, 40th Floor and the Roof Terrace, Gross floor area of 2,195 sq. ft. Government lease Residential
Tower 17, South Horizons, 28th January 1988 to
Ap Lei Chau 31st March 2040
BRI BESEMER2, 195 T AR B4 FE
HRES —NAN\E—A=Z+/\BZE
FTERIECEERE —ENTFE=A=1+—H
Flat H, 22nd Floor, Gross floor area of 1,107 sq. ft. Government lease from Residential
Tower 21 South Horizons, 28th January 1988 to
Ap Lei Chau 31st March 2040
BRI BREEEET 107 AR B4 FE
Bats —AWN\E-AZ+/\BE

BT —E2EHE —ENEF=A=+—H
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Location Site area/Gross floor area Tenure Use
2 1 BEEER FH Rz
Car Parking Space Nos. 230 and Not applicable Government lease from 28th January ~ Carpark
241 on Podium Level 1, Phase I, 1988 to 31st March 2040

Car Parking Space No. 9 on

Podium Level 2, Phase I,

South Horizons,

Ap Lei Chau

BERM B 1A S TiEA B HAY S (X Liva
FoMTEE —NWAN\E—A=Z+/\BZ

230K 2415 F BN “EMTE=RA=1—H
RESHTEE2 B HEOREEN

China Mainland

B KR

8th Floor, Industrial Bank Building Gross floor area of 1,240.95 sq.m. Land use right for 50 years from Commercial
4013 Shennan Road Futian District, 27th December 2000

Shenzhen

AYmiEEE 1RFEEEMIE,240.95F 5K THERERTE (G
REIAB40135% H-EETF+ A +tHE
HIRITRE8E

Unit 1300, Floor 13, Gross floor area of 1,474.42 sq.m. Land use right for 50 years from Commercial
EverBright World Center, 7th March 2004

28 Ping’anli West Street

Xicheng District, Beijing

It RERE IREEMIE 474.42F K THERERTE [EE
TR EFAALE28R H-ZETMF=AtHE

K AREIBEH013/E1300%

Level 25, Gross floor area of 1,976.23 sg.m. Land use right for 50 years from Commercial
21 Century Center, 24th February 1997

No. 210 Century Road,

Pudong New District,

Shanghai

EEmERNE BrREEETA1,976.23F oK TifE AR+ [EES
42 KB2105% H—ANEFEZA=FTMBA

-t aE 25
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